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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10–K
(Mark One)
⌧
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007
OR
�

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

to
1-8399

Commission File Number

WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Ohio

31-1189815

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

200 Old Wilson Bridge Road, Columbus, Ohio

43085

(Address of principal executive offices)

(Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

(614) 438-3210

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class
Common Shares, Without Par Value
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Name of each exchange on which registered
New York Stock Exchange
None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
⌧ YES � NO
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
� YES ⌧ NO
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for
the past 90 days.
⌧ YES � NO
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of
Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form
10-K.
⌧
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of “accelerated filer and
large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
Large accelerated filer ⌧

Accelerated filer �

Non-accelerated filer �

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
� YES

⌧ NO

Aggregate market value of the Common Shares (the only common equity) of the Registrant held by non-affiliates of the Registrant, based on the closing price on
the New York Stock Exchange on November 30, 2006 was approximately $1,277,903,780.00.
At July 20, 2007, the number of Registrant’s Common Shares issued and outstanding was 85,144,426.
DOCUMENT INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Selected portions of the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement to be furnished to shareholders of the Registrant in connection with the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on September 26, 2007, are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the extent provided herein.
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT
Selected statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including, without limitation, in “PART I – Item 1. – Business” and “PART II –
Item 7. – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation,” constitute “forward-looking statements” as that term is
used in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Act”). These forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements relating to:
•

future or expected performance, sales, operating results and earnings per share;

•

projected capacity and working capital needs;

•

pricing trends for raw materials and finished goods;

•

anticipated capital expenditures and asset sales;

•

projected timing, results, costs, charges and expenditures related to acquisitions or to facility dispositions, shutdowns and consolidations;

•

targeted savings through head count reductions, facility closures and other expense reductions;

•

new products and markets;

•

expectations for company and customer inventories, jobs and orders;

•

expectations for the economy and markets;

•

expected benefits from new initiatives;

•

effects of judicial rulings; and

•
other non-historical matters.
Because they are based on beliefs, estimates and assumptions, forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. Any number of factors could affect actual results, including, without limitation:
•

product demand and pricing;

•

changes in product mix, product substitution and market acceptance of our products;

•

fluctuations in pricing, quality or availability of raw materials (particularly steel), supplies, transportation, utilities and other items required by
operations;

•

effects of facility closures and the consolidation of operations;

•

the effect of consolidation and other changes within the steel, automotive, construction and related industries;

•

failure to maintain appropriate levels of inventories;

•

the ability to realize targeted expense reductions such as head count reductions, facility closures and other expense reductions;

•

the ability to realize other cost savings and operational efficiencies on a timely basis;

•

the overall success of, and ability to integrate, newly-acquired businesses and achieve synergies therefrom;

•

capacity levels and efficiencies within facilities and within the industry as a whole;

•

financial difficulties (including bankruptcy filings) of customers, suppliers, joint venture partners and others with whom we do business;

•

the effect of national, regional and worldwide economic conditions generally and within major product markets, including a prolonged or
substantial economic downturn;

•

the effect of disruptions in the business of suppliers, customers, facilities and shipping operations due to adverse weather, casualty events,
equipment breakdowns, acts of war or terrorist activities or other causes;

•

changes in customer inventories, spending patterns, product choices, and supplier choices;

•

risks associated with doing business internationally, including economic, political and social instability, and foreign currency exposures;

•

the ability to improve and maintain processes and business practices to keep pace with the economic, competitive and technological environment;

•

adverse or favorable claims experience with respect to worker’s compensation, product recalls or liability, casualty events or other matters;

•

deviation of actual results from estimates and/or assumptions we use in the application of significant accounting policies;

•

levels of imports and import prices in our markets;
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•

the impact of judicial rulings and governmental regulations, both in the United States and abroad; and

other risks described from time to time in filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, including those described in “PART I
– Item 1A. — Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Any forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are based on current information as of the date of this Form 10-K, and we assume no
obligation to correct or update any such statements in the future, except as required by applicable law.
•

ii
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PART I
Item 1. — Business
General Overview
Worthington Industries, Inc. is a corporation formed under the laws of the State of Ohio (individually, the “Registrant” or “Worthington Industries” or,
together with its subsidiaries, “Worthington” or “Company”). Founded in 1955, Worthington is primarily a diversified metal processing company, focused on
value-added steel processing and manufactured metal products, such as metal framing, pressure cylinders, automotive past-model service stampings and, through
joint ventures, metal ceiling grid systems and laser-welded blanks.
Worthington is headquartered at 200 Old Wilson Bridge Road, Columbus, Ohio 43085, telephone (614) 438-3210. The common shares of Worthington
Industries are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol WOR.
Worthington Industries maintains an Internet web site at www.worthingtonindustries.com. This uniform resource locator, or URL, is an inactive textual
reference only and is not intended to incorporate Worthington Industries’ web site into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports, filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are available free of charge, on or through the Worthington Industries web site, as soon as
reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
Business Segments
For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 (“fiscal 2007”), the Company had 48 manufacturing facilities worldwide and held equity positions in seven joint
ventures, which operated an additional 16 manufacturing facilities worldwide.
The Company has three principal reportable operating segments: Steel Processing, Metal Framing and Pressure Cylinders. The Steel Processing segment
consists of the Worthington Steel business unit (“Worthington Steel”). The Metal Framing segment consists of the Dietrich Metal Framing business unit
(“Dietrich”). The Pressure Cylinders segment consists of the Worthington Cylinder business unit (“Worthington Cylinders”). All other business units not
included in these three reportable operating segments are combined and disclosed in the Other category, which also includes income and expense items not
allocable to the reportable segments. The Other category includes the Automotive Body Panels, Construction Services and Steel Packaging operating segments.
Worthington holds equity positions in seven joint ventures, which are further discussed below under the subheading “Joint Ventures.” Only one of the
seven joint ventures is consolidated and its operating results are reported in the Steel Processing reportable operating segment.
During fiscal 2007, the Steel Processing, Metal Framing and Pressure Cylinders segments served approximately 1,100, 3,800 and 2,200 customers,
respectively, located primarily in the United States. Foreign sales accounted for approximately 8% of consolidated net sales and were comprised primarily of
sales to customers in Canada and Europe. No single customer accounted for over 5% of consolidated net sales. Further reportable operating segment data is
provided in “Item 8. – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note H – Segment Data” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
Recent Developments
On May 23, 2007, the Company’s joint venture, TWB Company, LLC began operations at a fifth manufacturing facility producing laser-welded blanks in
Prattville, Alabama.
1
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®
On February 28, 2007, the Company announced Dietrich had obtained three key code endorsements for its UltraSTEEL framing product, confirming it as
a compliant building product for construction use.
On November 28, 2006, the Company announced the formation of Worthington Integrated Building Systems, LLC combining its mid-rise, military and
single-family residential construction businesses into one company. Providing design, engineering and installation through a panelized system approach, this
integrated method seeks to leverage the Company’s manufacturing capabilities. The framing system’s installation speed and the improved coordination of the
mechanical and electrical trades provided by the integrated method significantly reduce the construction cycle time for buildings up to nine stories. This entity is
included in our Construction Services segment.
On August 16, 2006, the Company purchased 100% of the capital stock of Precision Specialty Metals, Inc. (“PSM”) for approximately $31.7 million, net
of acquired cash. The purchase price is subject to change due to certain targeted earn-outs through August 2009. PSM is a specialty stainless steel processor
located in Los Angeles, California and is included in our Steel Processing segment.
On July 20, 2006, the Company entered the energy-efficient building systems market by partnering with NOVA Chemicals Corporation (“NOVA”) to
form a 50:50 joint venture to develop and manufacture durable, energy-saving composite construction products and systems. This joint venture, Accelerated
Building Technologies, LLC (formerly known as Dietrich/NOVA, LLC), combines Dietrich’s expertise in light-gauge steel framing with NOVA’s expandable
polystyrene (EPS) technology to produce strong, efficient building systems for residential and light commercial use. The joint venture’s focus is on developing
and manufacturing cost-effective insulated metal framing panels intended to facilitate the use of steel framing products for exterior walls in geographic regions
where interior/exterior temperature variations may cause condensation.
Steel Processing
The Steel Processing reportable segment consists of the Worthington Steel business unit, which includes PSM. For fiscal 2007, the fiscal year ended
May 31, 2006 (“fiscal 2006”), and the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 (“fiscal 2005”), the percentage of consolidated net sales generated by the Steel Processing
segment was 49%, 51%, and 56%, respectively.
Worthington Steel is one of America’s largest independent intermediate processors of flat-rolled steel. It occupies a niche in the steel industry by focusing
on products requiring exact specifications. These products cannot typically be supplied as efficiently by steel mills or end-users of these products.
The Steel Processing segment, including Spartan Steel Coating, LLC (“Spartan”), our consolidated joint venture, owns and operates nine manufacturing
facilities — one each located in California, Indiana, Kentucky and Maryland, two in Michigan, and three in Ohio — and leases one manufacturing facility in
Alabama.
Worthington Steel serves approximately 1,100 customers from these facilities, principally in the automotive, construction, lawn and garden, hardware,
furniture, office equipment, electrical control, tubing, leisure and recreation, appliance, agricultural, HVAC, container, and aerospace markets; with the
automotive-related industry equating to approximately half. No single customer represented greater than 8% of net sales for the Steel Processing segment during
fiscal 2007.
Worthington Steel buys coils of steel from integrated steel mills and mini-mills and processes them to the precise type, thickness, length, width, shape,
temper and surface quality required by customer specifications. Computer-aided processing capabilities include, among others:

•

pickling, a chemical process using an acidic solution to remove surface oxide which develops on hot-rolled steel;
2
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•

slitting, which cuts steel to specific widths;

•

cold reducing, which achieves close tolerances of thickness and temper by rolling;

•

hot-dipped galvanizing, which coats steel with zinc and zinc alloys through a hot-dipped process;

•

hydrogen annealing, a thermal process that changes the hardness and certain metallurgical characteristics of steel;

•

cutting-to-length, which cuts flattened steel to exact lengths;

•

tension leveling, a method of applying pressure to achieve precise flatness tolerances for steel;

•

edging, which conditions the edges of the steel by imparting round, smooth or knurled edges;

•

non-metallic coating including dry lubrication, acrylic and paint; and

•

configured blanking, which stamps steel into specific shapes.

Worthington Steel also toll processes steel for steel mills, large end-users, service centers, and other processors. Toll processing is different from typical
steel processing because the mill, end-user, or other party retains title to the steel and has the responsibility for selling the end product. Toll processing enhances
Worthington Steel’s participation in the market for wide sheet steel and large standard orders, which is a market generally served by steel mills rather than by
intermediate steel processors. Net sales from tolling represented approximately 3% of consolidated net sales in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005.
The steel processing industry is fragmented and highly competitive. There are many competitors, including other independent intermediate processors.
Competition is primarily on the basis of price, product quality, and the ability to meet delivery requirements. Technical service and support for material testing
and customer-specific applications enhance the quality of products (See “Item 1. – Business – Technical Services”). However, the extent to which technical
service capability has improved Worthington Steel’s competitive position has not been quantified. Worthington Steel’s ability to meet tight delivery schedules is,
in part, based on the proximity of facilities to customers, suppliers, and one another. The extent to which plant location has impacted Worthington Steel’s
competitive position has not been quantified. Processed steel products are priced competitively, primarily based on market factors, including, among other things,
competitive pricing, the cost and availability of raw materials, transportation and shipping costs, and overall economic conditions in the United States and
abroad.
Metal Framing
The Metal Framing reportable segment, consisting of the Dietrich Metal Framing business unit, designs and produces metal framing components and
systems and related accessories for the commercial and residential construction markets within the United States and Canada. For fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006, and
fiscal 2005, the percentage of consolidated net sales generated by the Metal Framing segment was 26%, 28%, and 27%, respectively.
Metal Framing products include steel studs and track, floor and wall system components, roof trusses and other building product accessories, such as metal
corner bead, lath, lath accessories, clips, fasteners and vinyl beads and trim.
®

®

In November 2005, Dietrich launched its “UltraSTEEL” drywall metal framing product line in Florida. The “UltraSTEEL
” product line has been
recognized by architects, engineers and material specifiers for its performance capabilities and
by
contractors
for
its
ease
of
use.
Dietrich had completed the
®
process of converting the drywall lines at all 26 of its manufacturing locations to “UltraSTEEL” by May 31, 2007. In February 2006, Dietrich entered
into an
®
exclusive sublicensing agreement with CLARKWESTERN Building Systems, making CLARKWESTERN the only other producer of “UltraSTEEL
” metal
framing products for the North American market.
3
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The Metal Framing segment has 23 operating facilities located throughout the United States: one each in Colorado, Georgia, Hawaii, Illinois, Kansas,
Maryland, Massachusetts, New Jersey, South Carolina and Washington; two each in Arizona, California, Indiana, Ohio and Texas; and three in Florida. This
segment also has three operating facilities in Canada: one each in British Columbia, Ontario and Quebec.
Dietrich is the largest metal framing manufacturer in the United States, supplying approximately 35% of the metal framing products sold in the United
States. Dietrich is the second largest metal framing manufacturer in Canada with a market share of between 15% and 20%. Dietrich serves approximately 3,800
customers, primarily consisting of wholesale distributors, commercial and residential building contractors, and mass merchandisers. During fiscal 2007,
Dietrich’s two largest customers represented approximately 15% and 12%, respectively, of the net sales for the segment, while no other customer represented
more than 5% of net sales for the segment.
The light-gauge metal framing industry is very competitive. Dietrich competes with seven large regional or national competitors and numerous small,
more localized competitors, primarily on the basis of price, service and quality. As is the case in the Steel Processing segment, the proximity of facilities to
customers and their project sites provides a service advantage and impacts freight and shipping costs. Dietrich’s products are transported by both common and
dedicated carriers. The extent to which facility location has impacted Dietrich’s competitive position has not been quantified.
®

Dietrich uses numerous trademarks and patents in its business.
Dietrich licenses from Hadley Industries the “UltraSTEEL
” registered trademark and the
®
®
United States and Canadian patents to manufacture “UltraSTEEL ” metal framing and accessory products. The “Spazzer ” trademark is used in connection with
wall component products that are the subject of four United
States patents, two foreign patents, one pending United States patent application, and several pending
®
foreign patent applications. The trademark “TradeReady ” is used in connection with floor-system products that are the subject of four®United States patents,
numerous foreign patents, one pending United States patent application, and several pending foreign patent applications. The “Clinch-On
” trademark is used
®
east of the Rockies in connection®with corner bead and metal trim products for gypsum wallboard. Dietrich licenses the “SLP-TRK
” trademark as well as the
patent to manufacture “SLP-TRK ®” slotted track in the United States from Brady Construction Innovations, Inc. Aegis Metal Framing, LLC, an unconsolidated
joint venture, uses the “Ultra-Span ” registered trademark in connection with certain patents for proprietary roof trusses. Dietrich intends to continue to use and
renew its registered trademarks. Dietrich also has a number of other patents, trademarks and trade names relating to specialized products.
Pressure Cylinders
The Pressure Cylinders reportable segment consists of the Worthington Cylinders business unit. For fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006, and fiscal 2005, the
percentage of consolidated net sales generated by Worthington Cylinders was 18%, 16%, and 13%, respectively.
Worthington Cylinders operates eight manufacturing facilities with three in Ohio, one in Wisconsin, and one each in Austria, Canada, the Czech Republic,
and Portugal.
The Pressure Cylinders segment produces a diversified line of pressure cylinders, including low-pressure liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”) and refrigerant
gas cylinders and high-pressure and industrial/specialty gas cylinders. LPG cylinders are sold to manufacturers, distributors and mass merchandisers and are used
to hold fuel for gas barbecue grills, recreational vehicle equipment, residential heating systems, industrial forklifts, propane-fueled camping equipment, hand held
torches, and commercial/residential cooking (the latter, generally outside North America). Refrigerant gas cylinders are sold primarily to major refrigerant gas
producers and distributors and are used to hold refrigerant gases for commercial, residential, and automotive air conditioning and refrigeration systems.
High-pressure and industrial/specialty gas cylinders are sold primarily to gas producers and distributors as containers for gases used in: cutting and welding
metals; breathing (medical, diving and
4
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firefighting); semiconductor production; beverage delivery; and compressed natural gas systems. Worthington
Cylinders also produces recovery tanks for
®
refrigerant gases, air reservoirs for truck and trailer original equipment manufacturers, and “Balloon Time” helium kits which include non-refillable cylinders.
While a large percentage of cylinder sales is made to major accounts, Worthington Cylinders has approximately 2,200 customers. During fiscal 2007, no single
customer represented more than 6% of net sales for the segment.
Worthington Cylinders produces low-pressure steel cylinders with refrigerant capacities of 15 to 1,000 lbs. and steel and aluminum cylinders with LPG
capacities of 14.1 oz. to 420 lbs. Low-pressure cylinders are produced by precision stamping, drawing, welding and/or brazing component parts to customer
specifications. They are then tested, painted and packaged, as required. High-pressure steel cylinders are manufactured by several processes, including deep
drawing, tube spinning and billet piercing. In the United States and Canada, high-pressure and low-pressure cylinders are primarily manufactured in accordance
with U.S. Department of Transportation and Transport Canada specifications. Outside the United States and Canada, cylinders are manufactured according to
European norm specifications, as well as various other international standards.
In the United States and Canada, Worthington Cylinders has one principal domestic competitor in the low-pressure non-refillable refrigerant market, one
principal domestic competitor in the low-pressure LPG cylinder market, and two principal domestic competitors in the high-pressure cylinder market. There are
also several foreign competitors in these markets. Worthington Cylinders believes that it has the largest domestic market share in both low-pressure cylinder
markets. In the European high-pressure cylinder market, there are several competitors. Worthington Cylinders believes that it is a leading producer in both the
high-pressure cylinder and low-pressure non-refillable cylinder markets in Europe. As with Worthington’s other segments, competition is based upon price,
service and quality.
®

The Pressure Cylinders segment uses the trade name “Worthington Cylinders” to conduct business and the registered trademark “Balloon Time
” to
market low-pressure helium balloon kits and intends to continue to use and renew this registered trademark. This intellectual property is important to the Pressure
Cylinders segment but is not considered material.
Other
The “Other” category consists of operating segments that do not meet the materiality tests for purposes of separate disclosure and other corporate related
entities. These operating segments are Automotive Body Panels, Construction Services and Steel Packaging.
The Automotive Body Panels operating segment, consisting of the Gerstenslager business unit, provides stamping, blanking, assembly, painting,
packaging, die management, warehousing, distribution management and other services to customers, primarily in the automotive industry. Gerstenslager is a
major supplier to the automotive past-model market and manages more than 3,300 finished good part numbers and more than 12,000 stamping dies/fixture sets
for the past- and current-model year automotive and truck manufacturers, both domestic and transplant.
The Construction Services operating segment, consisting of Worthington Integrated Building Systems, LLC, includes Worthington Mid-Rise Construction,
Inc. (formerly known as Dietrich Building Systems, Inc.), which designs and builds mid-rise light-gauge steel framed commercial structures and multi-family
housing units; Worthington Military Construction, LLC (formerly known as Dietrich Residential Construction), which is involved in the supply and construction
of metal framing products for, and in the framing of, single family housing, with a focus on military; and a mid-rise light-gauge steel framed construction project
in China entered into primarily for research and development purposes.
The Steel Packaging operating segment consists of Worthington Steelpac Systems, LLC (“Steelpac”), which is an ISO-9001: 2000 certified manufacturer
of engineered, recyclable steel shipping solutions. Steelpac designs
5
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and manufactures reusable custom platforms, racks, and pallets made of steel for supporting, protecting and handling products throughout the shipping process
for industries such as automotive, lawn and garden and recreational vehicles.
Segment Financial Data
Financial information for the reportable segments is provided in “Item 8. – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements – Note H – Segment Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. That financial information is incorporated herein by reference.
Financial Information About Geographic Areas
Foreign operations represented 8%, 6%, and 5% of consolidated net sales for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006, and fiscal 2005, respectively. Summary information
about our foreign operations is set forth in “Item 8. – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note A –
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Risks and Uncertainties” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. That summary information is incorporated herein
by reference. For fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, Worthington had operations in North America and Europe. Net sales by geographic region are provided in “Item 8.
– Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note H – Segment Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
That information is incorporated herein by reference.
Suppliers
In fiscal 2007, Worthington purchased approximately three million tons of steel (55% hot rolled, 31% galvanized, and 14% cold rolled) on a consolidated
basis. Steel is purchased in large quantities at regular intervals from major primary producers, both domestic and foreign. In the Steel Processing segment, steel is
primarily purchased and processed based on specific customer orders. The Metal Framing and Pressure Cylinders segments purchase steel to meet production
schedules. Raw materials are generally purchased in the open market on a negotiated spot-market basis at prevailing market prices. Supply contracts are also
entered into, some of which have fixed pricing. During fiscal 2007, major suppliers of steel were, in alphabetical order: AK Steel Corporation, Gallatin Steel
Company; Mittal Steel Company N.V.; North Star BlueScope Steel LLC; Nucor Corporation; Severstal North America, Inc.; United States Steel Corporation;
and WCI Steel, Inc. Alcoa, Inc. was the primary aluminum supplier for the Pressure Cylinders segment in fiscal 2007. Zinc supply contracts are based on the
LME average price for the contractual month of delivery. During fiscal 2007, LME base metal zinc prices reached record levels. The supply of zinc is primarily
used in the steel processing segment which purchased approximately 33 million pounds of zinc. Worthington believes its supplier relationships are good.
Technical Services
Worthington employs a staff of engineers and other technical personnel and maintains fully-equipped modern laboratories to support operations. These
facilities enable verification, analysis and documentation of the physical, chemical, metallurgical, and mechanical properties of raw materials and products.
Technical service personnel also work in conjunction with the sales force to determine the types of flat-rolled steel required for customer needs. Additionally,
technical service personnel design and engineer metal framing structures and provide sealed shop drawings to the building construction markets. To provide
these services, Worthington maintains a continuing program of developmental engineering with respect to product characteristics and performance under varying
conditions. Laboratory facilities also perform metallurgical and chemical testing as dictated by the regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation,
Transport Canada, and other associated agencies, along with International Organization for Standardization (ISO) and customer requirements. All design work
complies with applicable current local and national building code requirements. An IAS (International Accreditations Service, Incorporated) accredited
product-testing laboratory supports these design efforts.
6
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Seasonality
Our financial results are generally lower in the third quarter of our fiscal year, primarily due to reduced activity in the building and construction industry as
a result of the weather, as well as customer plant shutdowns in the automotive industry due to holidays.
Employees
As of May 31, 2007, Worthington employed approximately 6,900 employees in its operations, excluding the unconsolidated joint ventures. Approximately
13% of these employees were covered by collective bargaining agreements. Worthington believes it has good relationships with its employees in general,
including those covered by collective bargaining agreements.
Joint Ventures
As part of our strategy to selectively develop new products, markets, and technological capabilities and to expand our international presence, while
mitigating the risks and costs associated with those activities, we participate in one consolidated and six unconsolidated joint ventures.
Consolidated
•

Spartan Steel Coating, LLC (“Spartan”) is a 52%-owned consolidated joint venture with SeverStal North America, Inc., located in Monroe, Michigan. It
operates a cold-rolled, hot-dipped galvanizing line for toll processing steel coils into galvanized and galvannealed products intended primarily for the
automotive industry. In October 2006, the joint venture invested $17 million to increase the line capacity by 20% to 600,000 tons per year and enable
Spartan to produce the new automotive advanced high strength steels. Spartan’s financial results are fully consolidated into the Steel Processing reporting
segment with the equity owned by the other joint venture member shown as minority interest on the consolidated balance sheets, and its portion of net
earnings (loss) is included in miscellaneous income or expense.

Unconsolidated
•

Accelerated Building Technologies, LLC, formerly Dietrich/NOVA, LLC, (“Accelerated Building Technologies”), a 50%-owned joint venture with
NOVA, evaluates, develops, tests, manufactures, sells and otherwise commercializes construction products which are used in combination with
light-gauge steel
framing. Accelerated Building Technologies has developed a wall panel system which combines high strength, technically enhanced
®
UltraSTEEL framing with a fire, termite and mold- resistant modified EPS insulation to provide a cost-effective, energy-efficient and structurally
superior panelized building alternative to conventional stick and batt framing.

•

Aegis Metal Framing, LLC (“Aegis”), a 60%-owned joint venture with MiTek Industries Inc., headquartered in Chesterfield, Missouri. Aegis supplies an
integrated package of sophisticated design software, professional engineering services, and cold-formed metal
framing products to the®pre-fabricated
®
building components industry. Aegis’ comprehensive range of metal framing elements, including the Ultra-Span truss system, TradeReady joist system,
and structural wall framing is sold to companies that design and assemble pre-fabricated trusses, wall panels and floor systems. These pre-assembled
elements are used to speed construction cycle times and reduce overall costs in the commercial, institutional, and multi-family construction markets.

•

TWB Company, LLC (“TWB”), a 50%-owned joint venture with ThyssenKrupp Steel North America, Inc., is a leading North American supplier of tailor
welded blanks, manufacturing 13 million per year. TWB produces laser-welded blanks for use in the automotive industry for products such as inner-door
panels, bodysides, rails and pillars. TWB operates facilities in Prattville, Alabama; Monroe, Michigan; Columbus, Indiana; and Ramos Arizpe (Saltillo)
and Hermosillo, Mexico.
7
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•

Viking & Worthington Steel Enterprise, LLC (“Viking & Worthington Steel”), a 49%-owned joint venture with Bainbridge Steel, LLC, an affiliate of
Viking Industries, LLC, operates a steel processing facility in Valley City, Ohio. Viking & Worthington Steel is a qualified minority business enterprise
that performs basic steel processing services, such as pickling and slitting, on hot rolled steel coils that it purchases or on a toll processing basis.

•

Worthington Armstrong Venture (“WAVE”), a 50%-owned joint venture with Armstrong World Industries, Inc., is one of three global manufacturers of
suspension grid systems for concealed and lay-in panel ceilings in commercial and residential ceiling markets. WAVE operates seven facilities in five
countries: Aberdeen, Maryland; Benton Harbor, Michigan; and North Las Vegas, Nevada, within the United States; Shanghai, the Peoples Republic of
China; Team Valley, United Kingdom; Valenciennes, France; and Madrid, Spain.

•

Worthington Specialty Processing (“WSP”), a 50%-owned joint venture with United States Steel Corporation (“U.S. Steel”), operates a steel processing
facility in Jackson, Michigan. The facility is managed by Worthington Steel and serves primarily as a toll processor for U.S. Steel. WSP processes master
steel coils into both slit coils and sheared first operation blanks including rectangles, trapezoids, parallelograms and chevrons, designed to meet
specifications for the automotive, appliance, furniture and metal door industries.

See “Item 8. – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note J – Investments in Unconsolidated
Affiliates” for further information about Worthington’s participation in unconsolidated joint ventures.
Environmental Regulation
Worthington’s manufacturing facilities, generally in common with those of similar industries making similar products, are subject to many federal, state
and local requirements relating to the protection of the environment. Worthington continually examines ways to reduce emissions and waste and to decrease costs
related to environmental compliance. The cost of compliance or capital expenditures for environmental control facilities required to meet environmental
requirements are not anticipated to be material when compared with overall costs and capital expenditures and, accordingly, are not anticipated to have a material
effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows, or the competitive position of the Company.
Item 1A. — Risk Factors
Future results and the market price for Worthington Industries’ common shares are subject to numerous risks, many of which are driven by factors that
cannot be controlled or predicted. The following discussion, as well as other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Item 7. – Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation,” describe certain business risks. Consideration should be given to the risk factors
described below as well as those in the Safe Harbor Statement at the beginning of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in conjunction with reviewing the
forward-looking statements and other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Raw Material Prices
Our future operating results may be affected by fluctuations in raw material prices. Our principal raw material is flat-rolled steel, which we purchase
from multiple primary steel producers. The steel industry as a whole has been cyclical, and at times availability and pricing can be volatile due to a number of
factors beyond our control. These factors include general economic conditions, domestic and worldwide demand, curtailed production at major mills due to
factors such as equipment breakdowns, repairs or catastrophic events, labor costs or problems, competition, import duties, tariffs, energy costs, availability and
cost of steel inputs (e.g. ore, scrap, coke, energy, etc.), currency exchange rates and those other factors described below under “Raw Material
8
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Availability.” This volatility can significantly affect our steel costs. In an environment of increasing prices for steel and other raw materials, competitive
conditions may impact how much of the price increases we can pass on to our customers and to the extent we are unable to pass on future price increases in our
raw materials to our customers, our financial results could be adversely affected. Also, if steel prices, in general, decrease, competitive conditions may impact
how quickly we must reduce our prices to our customers and we could be forced to use higher-priced raw materials to complete orders for which the sales prices
have decreased.
Raw Material Availability
The costs of manufacturing our products and the ability to supply our customers could be negatively impacted if we experience interruptions in deliveries
of needed raw materials or supplies. If, for any reason, our supply of flat-rolled steel or other key raw materials, such as aluminum, zinc, and nickel is curtailed
or we are otherwise unable to obtain the quantities we need at competitive prices, our business could suffer and our financial results could be adversely affected.
Such interruptions might result from a number of factors including events such as a shortage of capacity in the supplier base or of the raw materials, energy or the
inputs needed to make steel or other supplies, financial difficulties of suppliers, significant events affecting their facilities, significant weather events, those
factors listed above under “Raw Material Prices” or other factors beyond our control. Further, the number of suppliers has decreased in recent years due to
industry consolidation and the financial difficulties of certain suppliers, and consolidation may continue. Accordingly, if delivery from a major supplier is
disrupted, it may be more difficult to obtain an alternative supply than in the past.
Inventories
Our business could be harmed if we fail to maintain proper inventory levels.We are required to maintain sufficient inventories to accommodate the
needs of our customers including, in many cases, short lead times and just-in-time delivery requirements. Although we typically have customer orders in hand
prior to placement of our raw material orders for Steel Processing, we anticipate and forecast customer demand for all business segments. We purchase raw
materials on a regular basis in an effort to maintain our inventory at levels that we believe are sufficient to satisfy the anticipated needs of our customers based
upon orders, customer volume expectations, historic buying practices and market conditions. Inventory levels in excess of customer demand may result in the use
of higher-priced inventory to fill orders reflecting lower sales prices, if steel prices have significantly decreased. These events could adversely affect our financial
results. Conversely, if we underestimate demand for our products or if our suppliers fail to supply quality products in a timely manner, we may experience
inventory shortages. Inventory shortages might result in unfilled orders, negatively impact customer relationships, and result in lost revenues, any of which could
harm our business and adversely affect our financial results.
Economic or Industry Downturns
Downturns or weakness in the economy in general or in key industries, such as commercial construction or automotive, may adversely affect our
customers, which may cause the demand for our products and services to decline and adversely affect our financial results.
Many of our customers are in
industries and businesses that are cyclical in nature and affected by changes in general economic conditions or conditions specific to their respective markets,
such as the commercial construction and automotive industries. Product demand in our customer’s end markets is based on numerous factors such as interest
rates, general economic conditions, consumer confidence, and other factors beyond our control. Downturns in demand from the commercial construction
industry, the automotive industry or any of the other industries we serve, or a decrease in the margins that we can realize from sales of our products to customers
in any of these industries, could adversely affect our financial results.
Reduced commercial construction activity, especially office building, could negatively impact our financial results. The commercial construction market
is a key end market with approximately 39% of our net sales
9
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going to that market in fiscal 2007. If commercial construction activity in the United States, in general, or by one or more of our major customers, in particular,
were to be reduced significantly, it could negatively affect our sales and financial results.
Reduced automotive/truck production and the financial difficulties of customers in this market could negatively impact our financial results.
The
automotive and truck market remains a key customer group with approximately 30% of our net sales derived from that market in fiscal 2007. Total domestic
automotive production in fiscal 2007 was at a relatively high level on an historical basis. If domestic automotive production, in general, or by one or more of our
major domestic customers, in particular, were to be reduced significantly, it could negatively affect our sales and financial results.
The financial difficulties and internal strategies of customers could adversely affect us.A portion of our business is highly dependent on automotive
manufacturers, many of which have publicly announced plans to reduce production levels and eliminate excess manufacturing capacity including plans to
eliminate jobs and reduce costs. The financial difficulties of certain customers and the efforts under way by our customers to improve their overall financial
condition could result in numerous changes that are beyond our control, including additional unannounced customer plant closings, decreased production,
changes in product mix or distribution patterns, volume reductions, labor disruptions, collectibility of our accounts receivable, mandatory reductions or other
unfavorable changes in our pricing, terms or service conditions or market share losses, as well as other changes we may not accurately anticipate. These events
could adversely impact our financial results.
The loss of significant volume from key customers could adversely affect us. In fiscal 2007, our largest customer accounted for approximately 5% of our
gross sales, and our ten largest customers accounted for approximately 25% of our gross sales. A significant loss of, or decrease in business from, customers
could have an adverse effect on our sales and financial results if we cannot obtain replacement business. Also, due to consolidation in the industries we serve,
including the commercial construction, automotive and retail industries, our gross sales may be increasingly sensitive to deterioration in the financial condition
of, or other adverse developments with respect to, one or more of our top customers. In fiscal 2007, one of our largest customers announced a change in
ownership. Although we expect that our opportunities with this customer may be positively impacted by this change, it is possible that we will be negatively
impacted.
Competition
Our business is highly competitive, and increased competition could negatively impact our financial results. Generally, the markets in which we conduct
business are highly competitive. Competition for most of our products is primarily on the basis of price, product quality, and our ability to meet delivery
requirements. Increased competition could cause us to lose market share, increase expenditures, lower our margins or offer additional services at a higher cost to
us, which could adversely impact our financial results.
Material Substitution
In certain applications, steel competes with other materials, such as aluminum (particularly in the automobile industry), cement and wood (particularly in
the construction industry), composites, glass and plastic. Prices of all of these materials fluctuate widely and differences between them and steel prices may
adversely affect demand for our products and/or encourage substitution, which could adversely affect prices and demand for steel products.
Freight and Energy
The availability and cost of freight and energy, such as electricity, natural gas, and diesel fuel, is important in the manufacture and transport of our
products. Our operating costs increase when energy costs rise. During periods of increasing freight and energy costs, we might not be able to fully recover our
operating cost increases
10
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through price increases without reducing demand for our products. Our financial results could be adversely affected if we are unable to pass all of the increases
on to our customers or if we are unable to obtain the necessary freight and energy.
Information Systems
We are subject to information system security risks and systems integration issues that could disrupt our internal operations.We are dependent upon
information technology for the distribution of information internally and also to our customers and suppliers. This information technology is subject to damage or
interruption from a variety of sources, including but not limited to computer viruses, security breaches and defects in design. There also could be system or
network disruptions if new or upgraded business management systems are defective or are not installed properly. We are currently in the process of
implementing a new software-based enterprise resource planning system (“ERP”). Various measures have been implemented to manage our risks related to
information system and network disruptions, but a system failure or failure to implement new systems properly could negatively impact our operations and
financial results.
Business Disruptions
Disruptions to our business or the business of our customers or suppliers, could adversely impact our operations and financial results.
Business
disruptions, including increased costs for or interruptions in the supply of energy or raw materials, resulting from severe weather events such as hurricanes,
floods, blizzards, from casualty events, such as fires or material equipment breakdown, from acts of terrorism, from pandemic disease, from labor disruptions, or
from other events such as required maintenance shutdowns, could cause interruptions to our businesses as well as the operations of our customers and suppliers.
Such interruptions could have an adverse effect on our operations and financial results.
Foreign
Economic, political and other risks associated with foreign operations could adversely affect our international financial results. Although the substantial
majority of our business activity takes place in the United States, we derive a portion of our revenues and earnings from operations in foreign countries, and are
subject to risks associated with doing business internationally. We have wholly-owned facilities in Austria, Canada, the Czech Republic and Portugal and joint
venture facilities in China, France, Mexico, Spain and the United Kingdom. The risks of doing business in foreign countries include the potential for adverse
changes in the local political climate, in diplomatic relations between foreign countries and the United States or in government policies, laws or regulations,
terrorist activity that may cause social disruption, logistical and communications challenges, costs of complying with a variety of laws and regulations, difficulty
in staffing and managing geographically diverse operations, deterioration of foreign economic conditions, currency rate fluctuations, foreign exchange
restrictions, differing local business practices and cultural considerations, restrictions on imports and exports or sources of supply and changes in duties or taxes.
We believe that our business activities outside of the United States involve a higher degree of risk than our domestic activities.
Joint Ventures
A change in the relationship between the members of our joint ventures may have an adverse effect on that joint. venture
Worthington has been
successful in the development and operation of various joint ventures, and equity in net income from our joint ventures, particularly WAVE, has been important
to our financial results. We believe an important element in the success of any joint venture is a solid relationship between the members of that joint venture. If
there is a change in ownership, a change of control, a change in management or other event with respect to a member that adversely impacts the relationship
between the members, it may adversely impact the joint venture.
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Acquisitions
We may not be able to manage and integrate future acquisitions successfully. Some of our growth has been through acquisitions. We continue to seek
additional businesses to acquire in the future. There are no assurances, however, that any acquisition opportunities will arise or, if they do, that they will be
consummated, or that any needed additional financing will be available on satisfactory terms when required. In addition, acquisitions involve risks that the
businesses acquired will not perform in accordance with expectations, that business judgments concerning the value, strengths and weaknesses of businesses
acquired will prove incorrect, that the acquired businesses may not be integrated successfully and that the acquisitions may strain our management resources.
Accounting & Tax Estimates
We are required to make accounting and tax-related estimates and judgments in preparing our consolidated financial statements.
In preparing our
consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, we make certain estimates and assumptions
that affect the accounting for and recognition of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These estimates and assumptions must be made because certain
information that is used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements is dependent on future events, or cannot be calculated with a high degree of
precision from data available. In some cases, these estimates are particularly difficult to determine and we must exercise significant judgment. The estimates and
the assumptions having the greatest amount of uncertainty, subjectivity and complexity are related to our accounting for bad debts, returns and allowances,
self-insurance, derivatives, deferred income taxes, and asset impairments. Actual results could differ materially from the estimates and assumptions that we use,
which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Claims and Insurance
Adverse claims experience, to the extent not covered by insurance, may have an adverse effect on our financial results.
We self-insure a significant
portion of our potential liability for workers’ compensation costs, product liability claims and recall exposure, general liability claims, employee medical claims
and casualty risks. In order to reduce risk and better manage our overall loss exposure, we purchase stop-loss or other insurance from licensed insurance carriers
that covers most claims in excess of the deductible or retained amounts. We maintain an accrual for the estimated cost to resolve open claims as well as an
estimate of the cost of claims that have been incurred but not reported. The occurrence of significant claims, losses on recalls, our failure to adequately reserve
for such claims, a significant cost increase to maintain our insurance, or the failure of our insurance provider to perform, could have an adverse impact on our
financial results.
Principal Shareholder
Our principal shareholder may have the ability to exert significant influence in matters requiring a shareholder vote and could delay, deter or prevent a
change in control of Worthington Industries. Pursuant to our charter documents, certain matters such as those in which a person would attempt to acquire or
take control of the Company, must be approved by the vote of 75% of Worthington Industries’ outstanding voting power. Approximately 16.6% of our
outstanding common shares may be voted by John H. McConnell, our Founder. As a result of his voting power, John H. McConnell may have the ability to exert
significant influence in these matters and other proposals which our shareholders vote upon.
12
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Item 1B. — Unresolved Staff Comments
Worthington Industries has no unresolved SEC staff comments.
Item 2. — Properties
General
The principal corporate offices of Worthington Industries, as well as the corporate offices for Worthington Cylinders and Worthington Steel, are located in
a leased office building in Columbus, Ohio. As of May 31, 2007, Worthington owned or leased a total of approximately 9,640,000 square feet of space for
operations, of which approximately 8,940,000 square feet is devoted to manufacturing, product distribution and sales offices. Major leases contain renewal
options for periods of up to ten years. For information concerning rental obligations, see the discussion of contractual obligations under “Item 7. – Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation – Contractual Cash Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments” as well as “Item
8. – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note L – Operating Leases” of this Annual Report on Form
10-K. Distribution and office facilities provide adequate space for operations and are well maintained and suitable.
Excluding joint ventures, Worthington operates 48 manufacturing facilities and two warehouses. The facilities are generally well maintained and in good
operating condition, and are believed to be sufficient to meet current needs.
Steel Processing
The Steel Processing reportable segment operates nine wholly-occupied manufacturing facilities, eight of which are owned and one of which is leased.
These facilities are located in Alabama, California, Indiana, Kentucky, Maryland, Michigan and Ohio (3). This segment also maintains an owned warehouse in
Columbus, Ohio. In addition, the Steel Processing segment includes Spartan, a consolidated joint venture, which owns and operates a manufacturing facility in
Michigan.
Metal Framing
The Metal Framing segment operates 26 manufacturing facilities: 23 in the United States and three in Canada. In the United States, these facilities are
located in Arizona (2), California (2), Colorado, Florida (3), Georgia, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana (2), Kansas, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Jersey, Ohio (2),
South Carolina, Texas (2), and Washington. The facilities in Canada are located in British Columbia, Ontario and Quebec. Of these facilities, 12 are leased and
14 are owned. This segment also leases approximately 37,000 square feet for administrative offices in Pittsburgh and Blairsville, Pennsylvania.
Pressure Cylinders
The Pressure Cylinders segment operates eight manufacturing facilities. The manufacturing facilities located in Ohio (3), Wisconsin, Austria, Canada, and
the Czech Republic are all owned. The manufacturing facility located in Portugal is leased, but production will be relocated to an owned facility in August 2007.
Other
Steelpac operates one leased manufacturing facility located in Pennsylvania. Gerstenslager owns and operates two manufacturing facilities, both located in
Ohio. Construction Services operates manufacturing facilities in Ohio and Washington and leases approximately 5,900 sq. ft. for administrative offices in
Hawaii, Tennessee and China.
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Joint Ventures
The Spartan consolidated joint venture owns and operates one manufacturing facility in Michigan which is included in the Steel Processing segment. The
unconsolidated joint ventures operate 16 manufacturing facilities, located in Alabama, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan (4), Missouri, Nevada and Ohio,
domestically, and in China, France, Mexico (2), Spain, and the United Kingdom, internationally.
Item 3. — Legal Proceedings
Various legal actions, which generally have arisen in the ordinary course of business, are pending against Worthington. None of this pending litigation,
individually or collectively, is expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operation or cash flows.
Item 4. — Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
No Response Required.
Supplemental Item — Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table lists the names, positions held and ages of the Registrant’s executive officers as of July 27, 2007:

Name
John P. McConnell
John S. Christie
George P. Stoe

Age
53
57
61

Dale T. Brinkman
Harry A. Goussetis
Lester V. Hess
Ralph V. Roberts

54
53
52
60

Mark A. Russell
Richard G. Welch
Virgil L. Winland

44
49
59

Position(s) with the Registrant
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
President and Chief Financial Officer
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer; Interim President, Dietrich
Industries, Inc.
Vice President-Administration, General Counsel and Secretary
President, Worthington Cylinder Corporation
Treasurer
Senior Vice President-Marketing; President, Worthington Integrated Building Systems,
LLC
President, The Worthington Steel Company
Controller
Senior Vice President-Manufacturing

Present Office
Held Since
1996
2004
2007
2000
2005
2006
2006
2007
2000
2001

John P. McConnell has served as Worthington Industries’ Chief Executive Officer since June 1993, as a director of Worthington Industries continuously
since 1990, and as Chairman of the Board of Worthington Industries since September 1996. Mr. McConnell serves as the Chairman of the Executive Committee
of Worthington Industries’ Board of Directors. He has served in various positions with Worthington Industries since 1975.
John S. Christie has served as President and as a director of Worthington Industries continuously since June 1999. He became interim Chief Financial
Officer of Worthington Industries in September 2003 and Chief Financial Officer in January 2004. He also served as Chief Operating Officer of Worthington
Industries from June 1999 until September 2003.
George P. Stoe has served as Interim President, Dietrich Industries, Inc. since June 2007, and has been Executive Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer of Worthington Industries since December 2005. He also served as President of Worthington Cylinder Corporation from January 2003 to December
2005. Mr. Stoe served
14
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as President of Zinc Corporation of America, located in Monaca, Pennsylvania, the nation’s largest zinc producer, from November 2000 until May 2002.
Dale T. Brinkman has served as Worthington Industries’ Vice President-Administration since December 1998 and General Counsel since September 1982.
He has been Secretary of Worthington Industries since 2000 and served as Assistant Secretary of Worthington Industries from 1982 to 2000.
Harry A. Goussetis has served as President of Worthington Cylinder Corporation since December 2005. From January 2001 to December 2005,
Mr. Goussetis served as Vice President-Human Resources for Worthington Industries, and held various other positions with Worthington Industries from
November 1983 to January 2001.
Lester V. Hess has served Worthington Industries as Treasurer since February 2006. Prior thereto, he served Worthington Industries as Assistant Treasurer
from November 2003 to February 2006; and as Director of Treasury from August 2002 to November 2003. Prior to August 2002, Mr. Hess served in various
accounting and finance positions with MeadWestvaco Corporation (formerly, The Mead Corporation), a $6 billion global packaging company, for more than five
years.
Ralph V. Roberts has served as President of Worthington Integrated Building Systems, LLC since November 2006; and has been Senior Vice
President-Marketing of Worthington Industries since January 2001. From June 1998 through January 2001, he served as President of The Worthington Steel
Company, and he has held various other positions with Worthington Industries since 1973, including Vice President-Corporate Development and President of the
WAVE joint venture.
Mark A. Russell has served as President of The Worthington Steel Company since February 2007. From August 2004 through February 2007, Mr. Russell
was a Partner in Russell & Associates, an acquisition group formed to acquire aluminum products companies. Prior to that time, Mr. Russell served as Chief
Executive Officer of Indalex Inc., a producer of extruded aluminum products, from January 2002 to March 2004.
Richard G. Welch has served as Controller of Worthington Industries since March 2000. He served as Assistant Controller of Worthington Industries from
September 1999 to March 2000.
Virgil L. Winland has served as Senior Vice President-Manufacturing of Worthington Industries since January 2001. He has served in various positions
with Worthington Industries since 1971, including President of Worthington Cylinder Corporation from June 1996 through January 2001.
Executive officers serve at the pleasure of the directors of the Registrant. There are no family relationships among any of the Registrant’s executive
officers or directors. No arrangements or understandings exist pursuant to which any individual has been, or is to be, selected as an executive officer of the
Registrant.
15

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

Table of Contents
PART II
Item 5. – Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Common Shares Information
The common shares of Worthington Industries, Inc. (“Worthington Industries”) trade on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol
“WOR” and are listed in most newspapers as “WorthgtnInd.” As of July 20, 2007, Worthington Industries had 7,909 registered shareholders. The following table
sets forth (i) the low and high closing prices and the closing price for Worthington Industries’ common shares for each quarter of fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, and
(ii) the cash dividends per share declared on Worthington Industries’ common shares during each quarter of fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006.

Low

Market Price
High

Cash
Dividends
Declared

Closing

Fiscal 2007
Quarter Ended
August 31, 2006
November 30, 2006
February 28, 2007
May 31, 2007

$16.36
$16.64
$16.84
$18.28

$
$
$
$

21.74
19.58
20.42
23.25

$
$
$
$

19.11
18.50
19.91
21.11

$
$
$
$

0.17
0.17
0.17
0.17

Fiscal 2006
Quarter Ended
August 31, 2005
November 30, 2005
February 28, 2006
May 31, 2006

$15.56
$18.29
$18.96
$16.85

$
$
$
$

18.11
21.08
20.89
21.19

$
$
$
$

18.10
20.29
19.60
17.03

$
$
$
$

0.17
0.17
0.17
0.17

Dividends are declared at the discretion of the Worthington Industries Board of Directors. Worthington Industries declared quarterly dividends of $0.17
per share in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006. The Board of Directors reviews the dividend quarterly and establishes the dividend rate based upon Worthington
Industries’ financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, current and projected cash flows, business prospects, and other factors which the
directors may deem relevant. While Worthington Industries has paid a dividend every quarter since becoming a public company in 1968, there is no guarantee
that this will continue in the future.
Shareholder Return Performance
The following information in this Item 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities
and Exchange Commission or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and will not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent
we specifically incorporate such information into such a filing.
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The following graph compares the five-year cumulative return on Worthington Industries’ common shares, the S&P Midcap 400 Index, the S&P Steel
Index and the S&P 1500 Steel Supercomposite Index. The graph assumes that $100.00 was invested at May 31, 2002, in Worthington Industries’ common shares
and each index.

Worthington Industries, Inc.
S&P Midcap 400
S&P Steel
S&P 1500 Steel Composite

5/02

5/03

5/04

5/05

5/06

5/07

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

101.98
90.86
72.96
72.40

136.10
115.15
112.37
118.34

123.04
131.25
162.57
170.22

129.66
151.69
334.72
322.56

166.93
183.82
515.80
496.30

Worthington Industries became a part of the S&P Midcap 400 Index on December 17, 2004 and, accordingly, has included the S&P Midcap 400 Index in
lieu of the S&P 500 Index for comparison purposes. In addition, the S&P Steel Index, of which Worthington Industries was once a member, now includes only
three members (United States Steel Corporation, Nucor Corporation and Allegheny Technologies Incorporated) and in the future will not be used by Worthington
Industries for comparison purposes. The S&P 1500 Steel Supercomposite Index, of which Worthington Industries is a component, is the most specific index
relative to the largest line of business of Worthington Industries and its subsidiaries. At May 31, 2007, the index included 15 steel related companies from the
S&P 500, S&P Midcap 400 and S&P 600 indices: Allegheny Technologies Incorporated; Carpenter Technology Corporation; A.M. Castle & Co.; Chaparral
Steel Company; Cleveland-Cliffs Inc.; Commercial Metals Company; Gibraltar Industries, Inc.; Nucor Corporation; Quanex Corporation; Reliance Steel &
Aluminum Co.; Ryerson, Inc.; Steel Dynamics, Inc.; Steel Technologies Inc.; United States Steel Corporation; and Worthington Industries.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table provides information about purchases made by, or on behalf of, Worthington Industries or any “affiliated purchaser” (as defined in
Rule 10b – 18(a) (3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of common shares of Worthington Industries during each month of the fiscal
quarter ended May 31, 2007:

Period
March 1-31, 2007
April 1-30, 2007
May 1-31, 2007
Total

Total Number
of Common
Shares
Purchased
6,228 (2)
6,228

Average
Price Paid
per Common
Share
$23.06
$23.06

Total Number
of Common
Shares
Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced
Plans or
Programs
-

Maximum Number
of Common Shares
that May Yet Be
Purchased Under
the Plans or
Programs
(1)
5,551,000
5,551,000
5,551,000
5,551,000

(1) At its meeting on September 27, 2006, the Board of Directors of Worthington Industries reconfirmed its authorization to repurchase up to 10,000,000
of Worthington Industries’ outstanding common shares, which authorization had initially been announced on June 13, 2005. The common shares may be
purchased from time to time, with consideration given to the market price of the common shares, the nature of other investment opportunities, cash flows from
operations and general economic conditions. Repurchases may be made on the open market or through privately negotiated transactions. During fiscal 2007,
Worthington Industries repurchased 4,449,000 of its common shares.
(2) Reflects common shares owned and tendered by an employee to pay the exercise price for an option exercise. These shares are not part of the
10,000,000 share repurchase authorization mention above.
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Item 6. – Selected Financial Data

In thousands, except per share

Fiscal Years Ended May 31,
2006
2005
2004

2007

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Impairment charges and other
Operating income
Miscellaneous income (expense)
Nonrecurring losses
Gain on sale of Acerex
Interest expense
Equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Earnings from continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of taxes
Extraordinary item, net of taxes
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes
Net earnings
Earnings per share-diluted:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of taxes
Extraordinary item, net of taxes
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes
Net earnings per share
Continuing operations:
Depreciation and amortization
Capital expenditures (including acquistions and investments)*
Cash dividends declared
Per share
Average shares outstanding - diluted

$ 2,971,808
2,610,176
361,632
232,487
129,145
(4,446)
(21,895)
63,213
166,017
52,112
113,905
$ 113,905

$ 2,897,179
2,525,545
371,634
214,030
157,604
(1,524)
26,609
(26,279)
56,339
212,749
66,759
145,990
$ 145,990

$ 3,078,884
2,580,011
498,873
225,915
5,608
267,350
(7,991)
(24,761)
53,871
288,469
109,057
179,412
$ 179,412

$ 2,379,104
2,003,734
375,370
195,785
69,398
110,187
(1,589)
(22,198)
41,064
127,464
40,712
86,752
$ 86,752

$ 2,219,891
1,916,990
302,901
182,692
(5,622)
125,831
(7,240)
(5,400)
(24,766)
29,973
118,398
43,215
75,183
$ 75,183

$

1.31
1.31

$

1.64
1.64

$

2.03
2.03

$

1.00
1.00

$

61,469
90,418
58,380
0.68
87,002

$

59,116
66,904
60,110
0.68
88,976

$

57,874
112,937
57,942
$
0.66
88,503

$

67,302
30,089
55,312
0.64
86,950

$

$ 938,333
545,443
$ 392,890
$ 552,956
1,830,005
388,432
820,836
$
9.33
87,933

$ 833,110
475,060
$ 358,050
$ 555,394
1,643,139
289,768
680,374
$
7.83
86,856

$
$
$

FINANCIAL POSITION
Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Net fixed assets
Total assets
Total debt**
Shareholders’ equity
Per share
Shares outstanding

2003

$ 969,383
420,494
$ 548,889
$ 564,265
1,814,182
276,650
936,001
$
11.02
84,908

$

$

$ 996,241
490,786
$ 505,455
$ 546,904
1,900,397
252,684
945,306
$
10.66
88,691

$

$

$

$

0.87
0.87

69,419
139,673
54,938
$
0.64
86,537

$ 506,246
318,171
$ 188,075
$ 743,044
1,478,069
292,028
636,294
$
7.40
85,949

The acquisition of Precision Specialty Metals capital stock has been included since August 2006. The acquisition of the Western Cylinder Assets has been
included since September 2004. The disposition of certain Decatur assets has been reflected since August 2004. The acquisition of Unimast Incorporated has
been included since July 2002. All financial data includes the results of The Gerstenslager Company, which was acquired in February 1997 through a pooling of
interests.
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In thousands, except per share
FINANCIAL RESULTS
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Impairment charges and other
Operating income
Miscellaneous income (expense)
Nonrecurring losses
Gain on sale of Acerex
Interest expense
Equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Earnings from continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of taxes
Extraordinary item, net of taxes
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes
Net earnings
Earnings per share - diluted:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of taxes
Extraordinary item, net of taxes
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes
Net earnings per share
Continuing operations:
Depreciation and amortization
Capital expenditures (including acquistions and
investments)*
Cash dividends declared
Per share
Average shares outstanding - diluted
FINANCIAL POSITION
Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Net fixed assets
Total assets
Total debt**
Shareholders’ equity
Per share
Shares outstanding
*
**

Fiscal Years Ended May 31,
2000
1999

2002

2001

$ 1,744,961
1,480,184
264,777
165,885
64,575
34,317
(3,224)
(21,223)
(22,740)
23,110
10,240
3,738
6,502
$
6,502

$ 1,826,100
1,581,178
244,922
173,264
6,474
65,184
(928)
(33,449)
25,201
56,008
20,443
35,565
$ 35,565

$ 1,962,606
1,629,455
333,151
163,662
169,489
2,653
(8,553)
(39,779)
26,832
150,642
56,491
94,151
$ 94,151

$

$

$

0.42
0.42

$

$

0.08
0.08

$

68,887

$

70,582

$

60,100
54,667
0.64
85,929

$ 490,340
339,351
$ 150,989
$ 766,596
1,457,314
295,613
606,256
$
7.09
85,512

$

64,943
54,762
0.64
85,623

$ 449,719
306,619
$ 143,100
$ 836,749
1,475,862
324,750
649,665
$
7.61
85,375

1998

1997

$ 1,763,072
1,468,886
294,186
147,990
146,196
5,210
(43,126)
24,471
132,751
49,118
83,633
(20,885)
(7,836)
$ 54,912

$ 1,624,449
1,371,841
252,608
117,101
135,507
1,396
(25,577)
19,316
130,642
48,338
82,304
17,337
18,771
$ 118,412

$ 1,428,346
1,221,078
207,268
96,252
111,016
906
(18,427)
13,959
107,454
40,844
66,610
26,708
$ 93,318

$

$

$

0.85
0.18
0.19
1.22

$

$

1.06
1.06

$

0.69
0.27
0.96

$

70,997

$

$

41,602

$

34,150

72,649
53,391
0.61
88,598

132,458
52,343
$
0.57
93,106

297,516
51,271
$
0.53
96,949

287,658
45,965
$
0.49
96,841

$ 624,229
433,270
$ 190,959
$ 862,512
1,673,873
525,072
673,354
$
7.85
85,755

$ 624,255
427,725
$ 196,530
$ 871,347
1,686,951
493,313
689,649
$
7.67
89,949

$ 642,995
410,031
$ 232,964
$ 933,158
1,842,342
501,950
780,273
$
8.07
96,657

$ 594,128
246,794
$ 347,334
$ 691,027
1,561,186
417,883
715,518
$
7.40
96,711

$

$

0.90
(0.23)
(0.08)
0.59
64,087

Includes $113,000 of Worthington Industries, Inc. common shares exchanged for shares of The Gerstenslager Company during the fiscal year ended May 31, 1997.
Excludes Debt Exchangeable for Common Stock of Rouge Industries, Inc. of $52,497, $75,745 and $88,494 at May 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

20

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

Table of Contents
Item 7. – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation
Selected statements contained in this “Item 7. – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” constitute
“forward-looking statements” as that term is used in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements are based, in whole
or in part, on management’s beliefs, estimates, assumptions and currently available information. For a more detailed discussion of what constitutes a
forward-looking statement and of some of the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from such forward-looking statements, please refer to the
“Safe Harbor Statement” in the beginning of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and “Part I - Item 1A. - Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
Worthington Industries, Inc., together with its subsidiaries (collectively, “we,” “our,” “Worthington,” or the “Company”), is primarily a diversified metal
processing company, focused on value-added steel processing and manufactured metal products, such as metal framing, pressure cylinders, automotive
past-model service stampings and, through joint ventures, metal ceiling grid systems and laser-welded blanks. Our number one goal is to increase shareholder
value, which we seek to accomplish by optimizing existing operations, developing and commercializing new products and applications, and pursuing strategic
acquisitions and joint ventures.
As of May 31, 2007 (“fiscal 2007”), excluding our joint ventures, we operated 48 manufacturing facilities worldwide, principally in three reportable
business segments: Steel Processing, Metal Framing and Pressure Cylinders. We also held equity positions in 7 joint ventures, which operated 16 manufacturing
facilities worldwide as of May 31, 2007. Each of these business segments and key joint ventures holds a leadership position in its respective market
. We have
capacity in each of our business segments to handle additional sales growth without significantly increasing our capital investment. For more information on our
business segments, please refer to “Item 1. – Business” of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The two largest markets we serve are construction and automotive, representing 39% and 30%, respectively, of our consolidated net sales. Our results are
primarily driven by two factors, product demand and the spread between the average selling price of our products and the cost of raw materials, mainly steel. The
spread can be significantly affected by our first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) inventory costing method. In a rising steel-price environment, our reported income is often
favorably impacted as lower-priced inventory acquired during the previous months flows through cost of goods sold while our selling prices increase to meet the
rising replacement cost of steel. In a decreasing steel-price environment, the inverse often occurs as higher-priced inventory on hand flows through cost of goods
sold as our selling prices decrease. The results from these market dynamics are referred to as inventory holding gains or losses. We strive to limit the inventory
holding impact by controlling inventory levels.
A majority of our full-time employees receive a significant portion of their compensation through profit sharing and bonuses, which are tied to
performance. Generally, when earnings are up, profit sharing and bonus expenses increase; when earnings are down, profit sharing and bonus expenses decrease.
Because of this relationship, profit sharing and bonus expense may lessen the volatility of our earnings.
Market Analysis and Outlook
Because 39% of our consolidated net sales come from the construction industry, our results are significantly impacted by commercial and residential
construction projects. Residential and commercial construction were down 27% and 6%, respectively, as measured by square footage, on a fiscal year
comparison basis. The resulting decrease in demand was coupled with significantly higher material costs, primarily due to record zinc prices and an unfavorable
mix of prime and secondary steel inventory.
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Because 30% of our consolidated net sales come from the automotive industry, our results are also significantly impacted by the number of vehicles
produced in North America, especially by the Big Three (collectively, DaimlerChrysler AG, Ford Motor Co. and General Motors Corp.). While overall vehicle
production was down 6% compared to fiscal 2006, Big Three production was down 9%. This reduced vehicle production resulted in decreased demand from the
Big Three, and from their suppliers, many of whom are our customers. Big Three production is projected to decrease 3% in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007.
The market price of steel peaked in the first quarter of fiscal 2007 and then began to decline steadily in the second and third quarters due to lower overall
demand and high inventories in the supply chain. However, during the fourth quarter, the market price of steel began to rise. As discussed above, the changes in
steel pricing can result in inventory holding gains and losses.
In fiscal 2008, we anticipate that the Pressure Cylinder segment and our Worthington Armstrong Ventures (“WAVE”) joint venture will continue to
perform well, but it may be difficult to attain the record levels experienced in fiscal 2007. Projected slowness in the construction and automotive markets will
continue to create a challenging environment for the Steel Processing and Metal Framing segments. We do, however, expect the Metal Framing segment to return
to profitability. In addition, we have targeted $35.0 million to $40.0 million of reductions to our cost structure through a combination of facility closures,
productivity improvements and headcount reductions. Expenses related to the attainment of this target have not been quantified at this point.
Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements included in
“Item 8. – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our Steel Processing segment accounted for 49% of consolidated net sales in fiscal 2007 and 43% of consolidated operating income. Approximately 55%
of net sales for fiscal 2007 from this segment were automotive-related. As a result, volumes in our Steel Processing segment were down 9.1% from fiscal 2006.
The reduction in demand extends beyond the automotive market as we also experienced reduced shipments to other markets including construction and
appliance.
Our Metal Framing segment accounted for 26% of consolidated net sales in fiscal 2007, but reported an operating loss of $9.2 million for the year. Metal
Framing’s results declined in fiscal 2007, compared to fiscal 2006, primarily due to: reduced residential and commercial construction activity, especially in the
Florida market; higher galvanized steel material costs driven by record zinc prices; the deferral of commercial job starts due to high material costs; an
unfavorable mix of prime and secondary steel inventory in the third quarter; the substitution of alternate framing materials, such as wood,
in certain market
®
segments due to the relatively high cost of steel; increased competition; and challenges in the introduction of our new product, UltraSTEEL
. Although Metal
Framing had a small operating loss in the fourth quarter, its results in that quarter represented a significant turnaround from the third quarter of fiscal 2007.
Our Pressure Cylinders segment accounted for 18% of consolidated net sales in fiscal 2007 and 66% of consolidated operating income. Sales and operating
income increased due to both higher volumes and higher average selling prices. Strong performance in Europe and North America was the result of several
multi-year initiatives to reduce costs, cut unprofitable product lines, introduce new product lines, consolidate facilities and grow profitable product lines through
capacity and geographic expansion. While we expect this segment to continue to perform well above previous levels, record fiscal 2007 results may be difficult
to match.
Our operating income does not include equity income from our unconsolidated joint ventures, the most significant of which is WAVE. While WAVE
continued to perform at record levels, our automotive joint
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ventures experienced weaker market conditions. During fiscal 2007, we received total joint venture dividends of $131.7 million, $121.5 million of which came
from WAVE.
During fiscal 2007, we took the following actions:

•

In May 2007, our TWB Company, LLC (“TWB”) laser-welded blanking joint venture began operations at a new 50,000 square foot manufacturing
facility in Prattville, Alabama.

•

On February 28, 2007, we announced that Dietrich Metal Framing had obtained three key code endorsements for its UltraSTEEL framing product,
confirming it as a code-compliant building product for construction use.

•

On August 16, 2006, we purchased 100% of the capital stock of Precision Specialty Metals, Inc. (“PSM”) for $31.7 million, net of cash acquired.
PSM is a processor of stainless steel located in Los Angeles, California. It also provides a location on the west coast from which to offer our other
Steel Processing products and services.

•

On July 20, 2006, we announced the formation of a joint venture with NOVA Chemicals Corporation to develop and manufacture durable,
energy-saving composite construction products and systems. The joint venture’s focus is on developing cost-effective insulated metal framing
panels intended to facilitate the use of steel framing products for exterior walls in geographic regions where interior and exterior temperature
variations may cause condensation.

®

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006
Consolidated Operations
The following table presents consolidated operating results:

Dollars in millions
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating income
Interest and miscellaneous expense, net
Gain on sale of Acerex
Equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates
Income tax expense
Net earnings

2007
$2,971.8
2,610.2
361.6
232.5
129.1
(26.3)
63.2
(52.1)
$ 113.9

Fiscal Year Ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2006
100.0%
$2,897.2
87.8%
2,525.6
12.2%
371.6
7.8%
214.0
4.3%
157.6
-0.9%
(27.8)
26.6
2.1%
56.3
-1.8%
(66.7)
3.8%
$ 146.0

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
87.2%
12.8%
7.4%
5.4%
-1.0%
0.9%
1.9%
-2.3%
5.0%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$
74.6
84.6
(10.0)
18.5
(28.5)
(1.5)
(26.6)
6.9
(14.6)
$
(32.1)

Our fiscal 2007 net earnings decreased $32.1 million or 22% below the prior year. Prior year earnings included the $12.5 million after-tax gain on the sale
of our Acerex, S.A. de C.V.(“Acerex”) joint venture.
•

Net sales increased by $74.6 million to $2,971.8 million. The fiscal 2007 acquisition of PSM contributed $46.2 million of the increase. In addition,
average selling prices throughout our business segments improved over the prior year, contributing $240.5 million to net sales. However, lower
volumes related to soft market conditions in our Steel Processing and Metal Framing business segments negatively impacted net sales by $163.4
million, partially offset by volume increases of $43.7 million in our Pressure Cylinders business segment and Other category.

•

Gross margin decreased $10.0 million from the prior year and decreased as a percent of net sales from 12.8% to 12.2%, primarily due to lower
volumes related to soft market conditions in our Steel
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Processing and Metal Framing business segments as well as a lower spread between average selling prices and material costs in Metal Framing.
•

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense increased $18.5 million over last year primarily from increases in benefits ($9.9 million),
wages ($8.8 million), stock-based compensation ($3.5 million) and bad debt expense ($3.6 million). These increases were partially offset by lower
professional fees ($5.9 million) and insurance and taxes ($2.2 million).

•

Interest and miscellaneous expense, net decreased $1.5 million compared to fiscal 2006. Interest expense decreased $4.5 million primarily due to
lower average debt levels compared to last year, while miscellaneous expense increased $3.0 million primarily from lower interest income.

•

Equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates increased $6.9 million, primarily due to the negative impact in the prior year of a $6.0 million
income tax accrual adjustment at Acerex, and increased equity income from WAVE. The unconsolidated joint ventures generated $652.2 million in
sales and $124.5 million in net income during fiscal 2007. Joint venture income has been a consistent and significant contributor to our profitability
over the last several years. Dividends from our joint ventures were $131.7 million for fiscal 2007.

•

Income tax expense decreased $14.6 million due to lower earnings and the tax impact from the gain on our sale of Acerex in the prior year. The
effective tax rate was 31.4% for both years.

Segment Operations
Steel Processing
The following table presents a summary of operating results for the Steel Processing segment for the periods indicated:

Dollars in millions
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating income
Material cost
Tons shipped (in thousands)

2007
$1,460.7
1,313.2
147.5
92.1
$ 55.4
$1,106.5
3,282

Fiscal Year ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2006
100.0%
$1,486.2
89.9%
1,347.6
10.1%
138.6
6.3%
76.8
3.8%
$ 61.8
75.8%
$1,139.1
3,611

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
90.7%
9.3%
5.2%
4.2%
76.6%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$
(25.5)
(34.4)
8.9
15.3
$
(6.4)
$
(32.6)
(329)

Net sales and operating income highlights are as follows:

•

Net sales decreased $25.5 million from the prior year to $1,460.7 million. Volumes were down 9% from the prior year resulting in a
$184.3 million reduction to net sales, as virtually all end markets served by this segment, especially automotive and construction, were
weak compared to the prior year. Volume declines were partially offset by $112.6 million in higher average selling prices and additional
net sales of $46.2 million generated by PSM.

•

Operating income decreased $6.4 million primarily due to lower volumes as well as higher selling, general and administrative expenses. SG&A
expense increased due to the acquisition of PSM and higher bad debt expense, due to a favorable bad debt recovery recorded in the prior year.
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Metal Framing
The following table presents a summary of operating results for the Metal Framing segment for the periods indicated:

Dollars in millions

2007
$771.4
711.7
59.7
68.9
$ (9.2)
$547.6
644

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating income (loss)
Material cost
Tons shipped (in thousands)

Fiscal Year ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2006
100.0%
$796.3
92.3%
673.3
7.7%
123.0
8.9%
76.3
-1.2%
$ 46.7
71.0%
$508.6
704

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
84.6%
15.4%
9.6%
5.9%
63.9%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$
(24.9)
38.4
(63.3)
(7.4)
$
(55.9)
$
39.0
(60)

Net sales and operating income (loss) highlights are as follows:

•

Net sales decreased $24.9 million from the prior year to $771.4 million primarily due to the effect of a 9% decline in volume ($71.5 million),
partially offset by an increase in average selling prices ($46.6 million). Lower volume was the result of weak demand due to: reduced residential and
commercial construction activity, especially in the significant Florida market; product substitution as steel remained higher priced than alternative
building materials, such as wood; increased competition; and delays in commercial construction projects as developers anticipated lower material
prices. Average selling prices rose from the year ago period in an attempt to offset increasing galvanized material costs from higher zinc prices.

•

The segment reported an operating loss of $9.2 million compared to operating income of $46.7 million in the prior year, primarily due to a $32.7
million decrease in the spread between selling prices and material costs. While selling prices increased over the prior year, it was not enough to
offset significantly higher material costs. Material costs climbed significantly due to higher galvanized steel costs from zinc prices and an
unfavorable mix of prime and secondary steel inventory for a portion of the year. SG&A expenses decreased $7.4 million, primarily due to lower
professional fees and a favorable bad debt recovery recorded in the current year. In addition, we incurred a $1.7 million asset write-down for a
closed facility in LaPorte, Indiana, in fiscal 2007.

Pressure Cylinders
The following table presents a summary of operating results for the Pressure Cylinders segment for the periods indicated:

Dollars in millions
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating income
Material cost
Units shipped (in thousands)

2007
$ 544.8
411.1
133.7
49.1
$ 84.6
$ 251.1
44,891
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Fiscal Year Ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2006
100.0%
$ 461.9
75.5%
367.2
24.5%
94.7
9.0%
45.4
15.5%
$ 49.3
46.1%
$ 221.8
48,621

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
79.5%
20.5%
9.8%
10.7%
48.0%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$
82.9
43.9
39.0
3.7
$
35.3
$
29.3
(3,730)
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Net sales and operating income highlights are as follows:

•

Net sales grew $82.9 million from the prior year to $544.8 million primarily due to higher average selling prices ($75.2 million). Changes in the
overall product mix and price increases in certain product lines to cover increased material costs were the primary reasons for the higher average
selling prices. Volume increases, especially in the higher priced cylinders, contributed $7.7 million to net sales. Net sales in North America
increased $28.8 million as most product lines showed increases over the prior year. European revenues increased $54.1 million as a result of the
continued strong market conditions for our steel high-pressure cylinders and the growth of air tank units for truck braking applications.

•

Operating income increased over the prior year as a result of the strong performances in North America and Europe. We have implemented a
strategy over several years to cut costs, exit unprofitable product lines, introduce new product lines, consolidate facilities and grow profitable lines
through capacity and geographic expansion. These actions, combined with a strong overall sales effort, led to a 71% increase in operating income
over the prior year.

Other
The “Other” category includes the Automotive Body Panels, Construction Services and Steel Packaging operating segments, which are immaterial for
purposes of separate disclosure, and also includes income and expense items not allocated to the operating segments.
The following table presents a summary of operating results for the periods indicated:

Dollars in millions

2007
$194.9
174.2
20.7
22.4
$ (1.7)

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating loss

Fiscal Year Ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2006
100.0%
$152.9
89.4%
137.4
10.6%
15.5
11.5%
15.7
-0.9%
$ (0.2)

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
89.9%
10.1%
10.3%
-0.1%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$
42.0
36.8
5.2
6.7
$
(1.5)

Net sales and operating loss highlights are as follows:

•

Net sales increased $42.0 million over the prior year primarily as a result of increased sales in the Construction Services and Automotive Body
Panels operating segments. The Steel Packaging operating segment also realized a small increase in net sales over the same period in the prior year.

•

This category reported an increase in operating loss of $1.5 million compared to fiscal 2006. The Construction Services operating segment expenses
were higher due to $1.6 million expense of a development project in China combined with the higher expenses from increased domestic activity.
The Automotive Body Panels operating segment improved its operating income over last year.
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Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005
Consolidated Operations
The following table presents consolidated operating results:

Dollars in millions
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Impairment charges and other
Operating income
Interest and miscellaneous expense, net
Gain on sale of Acerex
Equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates
Income tax expense
Net earnings

2006
$2,897.2
2,525.6
371.6
214.0
157.6
(27.8)
26.6
56.3
(66.7)
$ 146.0

Fiscal Year Ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2005
100.0%
$3,078.9
87.2%
2,580.0
12.8%
498.9
7.4%
225.9
5.6
5.4%
267.4
-1.0%
(32.8)
0.9%
1.9%
53.9
-2.3%
(109.1)
5.0%
$ 179.4

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
83.8%
16.2%
7.3%
0.2%
8.7%
-1.1%
1.8%
-3.5%
5.8%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$ (181.7)
(54.4)
(127.3)
(11.9)
(5.6)
(109.8)
(5.0)
26.6
2.4
(42.4)
$
(33.4)

Our net earnings for fiscal 2006 decreased $33.4 million or 19% below the prior year.

•

Net sales decreased by $181.7 million from the prior year to $2,897.2 million. The decrease was due to lower sales prices, reflecting the lower steel
prices that prevailed during fiscal 2006 versus fiscal 2005, which reduced net sales by $228.9 million. Higher overall volumes slightly offset the
negative impact of the decline in selling prices. The volume increase was primarily due to increased volumes in the Metal Framing and Pressure
Cylinders segments and in Construction Services, which is included in the Other category, but the impact of these volume increases was somewhat
offset by slightly lower volumes in the Steel Processing segment, due largely to the sale of the cold mill in Decatur, Alabama, in the first quarter of
fiscal 2005.

•

Gross margin decreased $127.3 million due to a $138.2 million decrease in pricing spread and a $7.2 million increase in direct labor and
manufacturing expenses, partially offset by an increase in overall volume of $18.1 million. The increase in direct labor and manufacturing expenses
was mainly due to increases in freight and energy expenses.

•

SG&A expense decreased $11.9 million primarily due to a $19.6 million decrease in profit sharing and bonus expense resulting from lower earnings
and a $9.7 million reduction in bad debt expense, offset by increases in professional fees of $7.4 million, wages of $7.3 million and insurance and
taxes of $1.9 million. The reduction in bad debt expense reflects the favorable settlement of our claim in a large bankruptcy case in fiscal 2006.

•

Net interest and miscellaneous expense decreased primarily due to an increase in, and higher returns on, cash and short-term investments. In
addition, the reduced minority interest elimination for our consolidated joint venture due to its lower earnings and was partially offset by higher
interest expense from higher average borrowings.

•

Equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates increased $2.4 million, primarily due to increased earnings of the WAVE joint venture, partially
offset by a $6.0 million adjustment for the under-accrual of income taxes over the prior five years at our Acerex joint venture. The unconsolidated
joint ventures generated $810.3 million in sales and $108.7 million in net income during fiscal 2006.
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•

Income tax expense decreased $42.4 million, mainly due to lower earnings. However, the effective tax rate also decreased to 31.4% for fiscal 2006
from 37.8% for fiscal 2005. The rate decrease was due to higher foreign earnings that were taxed at a lower rate, modifications to the corporate tax
laws for the state of Ohio that reduced tax expense, deferred tax adjustments for foreign earnings, offset by special taxes on foreign earnings
repatriations and the sale of Acerex. The rate was further reduced by the elimination of the reserves established for the disallowance of investment
tax credits in the State of Ohio when the program was ruled unconstitutional by the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals in fiscal 2005. This reserve
became unnecessary due to the recent ruling by the U.S. Supreme Court, which vacated the Sixth Circuit’s ruling.

Segment Operations
Steel Processing
Our Steel Processing segment represented 51% of consolidated net sales and 39% of consolidated operating income in fiscal 2006. The steel-pricing
environment and the automotive industry, which accounted for approximately 60% of this segment’s net sales, significantly impacted the results of this segment.
After having risen steadily for the first four months of fiscal 2005 to an all time high in September 2004, steel prices declined significantly for the next twelve
months. As a result, average steel prices were significantly lower in fiscal 2006 than in fiscal 2005, which led to a reduced spread between our average selling
price and material cost. In addition, sales to the automotive market in fiscal 2006 were 8% lower than in fiscal 2005.
Effective August 1, 2004, we sold our Decatur, Alabama, steel-processing facility and its cold-rolling assets (“Decatur”) to Nucor Corporation (“Nucor”).
The assets sold at Decatur included the land and buildings, the four-stand tandem cold mill, the temper mill, the pickle line and the annealing furnaces. The sale
excluded the slitting and cut-to-length assets and net working capital. The retained assets provide basic steel-processing services to our customers at the Decatur
site, a portion of which is leased from Nucor. An additional pre-tax charge of $5.6 million, mainly related to contract termination costs, was recognized during
the first quarter of fiscal 2005.
The following table presents a summary of operating results for the Steel Processing segment for the periods indicated:

Dollars in millions
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Impairment charges and other
Operating income
1
Material cost
Tons shipped (in thousands)

2006
$1,486.2
1,347.6
138.6
76.8
$ 61.8
$1,139.1
3,611

1

Fiscal Year ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2005
100.0%
$1,719.3
90.7%
1,492.2
9.3%
227.1
5.2%
94.4
5.6
4.2%
$ 127.1
76.6%
$1,290.7
3,663

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
86.8%
13.2%
5.5%
0.3%
7.4%
75.1%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$ (233.1)
(144.6)
(88.5)
(17.6)
(5.6)
$
(65.3)
$ (151.6)
(52)

At the end of fiscal 2006, we reclassified: (i) zinc from manufacturing expense to material cost, and (ii) outside processing costs from material cost to
manufacturing expense. Material cost for fiscal 2005 has been adjusted to be comparable to the current year presentation.
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Net sales and operating income highlights are as follows:

•

Net sales decreased by $233.1 million from the prior year to $1,486.2 million. Decreased average selling prices unfavorably impacted net sales by
$144.5 million. Lower volumes of $88.6 million, of which $79.6 million was due to the sale of certain Decatur assets, also contributed to the
decline.

•

Operating income decreased $65.3 million over the prior year primarily from a narrower spread between our selling prices and material cost and a
decrease in volume. Operating income was favorably impacted by a $13.7 million decrease in profit sharing and bonus expense due to lower
earnings and a $3.8 million reduction in manufacturing expenses at our Decatur facility, partially offset by increases for freight and natural gas
expense. SG&A expense decreased $17.6 million largely due to a decrease of $13.1 million in profit sharing and bonus expense, resulting from
lower earnings, and a $9.4 million decrease in bad debt expense compared to the prior year. The reduction in bad debt expense reflects the favorable
settlement of our claim in a large bankruptcy case in fiscal 2006.

Metal Framing
Our Metal Framing segment represented 28% of consolidated net sales and 30% of consolidated operating income in fiscal 2006. Volumes for fiscal 2006
increased 7% compared to fiscal 2005. We believe the improved demand resulted from a combination of factors including a general increase in commercial
construction, rebuilding in Florida after the hurricanes of fiscal 2005, and an expansion into Canada.
The following table presents a summary of operating results for the Metal Framing segment for the periods indicated:

Dollars in millions

2006
$796.3
673.3
123.0
76.3
$ 46.7
$508.6
704

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating income
Material cost
Tons shipped (in thousands)

Fiscal Year ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2005
100.0%
$843.9
84.6%
648.4
15.4%
195.5
9.6%
81.7
5.9%
$113.8
63.9%
$498.0
657

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
76.8%
23.2%
9.7%
13.5%
59.0%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$
(47.6)
24.9
(72.5)
(5.4)
$
(67.1)
$
10.6
47

Net sales and operating income highlights are as follows:

•

Net sales decreased $47.6 million from the prior year to $796.3 million. The impact of lower average selling prices of $117.0 million was the main
driver, partially offset by the impact of an increase in volume of $69.4 million.

•

Operating income decreased $67.1 million from the prior year primarily from the narrower spread between average selling price and material cost of
$84.9 million, partially offset by an increase in volume of $20.5 million. SG&A expense decreased because of a reduction in profit sharing and
bonus expense of $10.6 million resulting from lower earnings.
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Pressure Cylinders
Our Pressure Cylinders segment represented 16% of consolidated net sales and 31% of consolidated operating income in fiscal 2006. The following table
presents a summary of operating results for the Pressure Cylinders segment for the periods indicated:

Dollars in millions
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating income
Material cost
Units shipped (in thousands)

2006
$ 461.9
367.2
94.7
45.4
$ 49.3
$ 221.8
48,621

Fiscal Year Ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2005
100.0%
$ 408.3
79.5%
334.1
20.5%
74.2
9.8%
40.6
10.7%
$ 33.6
48.0%
$ 197.5
36,704

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
81.8%
18.2%
10.0%
8.2%
48.4%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$
53.6
33.1
20.5
4.8
$
15.7
$
24.3
11,917

Net sales and operating income highlights are as follows:

•

Net sales increased $53.6 million from the prior year to $461.9 million. The full-year impact of the September 2004 acquisition of the net assets of
the propane and specialty gas cylinder business of Western Industries, Inc. (“Western Cylinder Assets”) contributed $23.0 million to this increase,
other North American net sales contributed $12.6 million and improved European sales contributed $18.0 million. Volumes were flat excluding the
impact from the Western Cylinder Assets.

•

Operating income increased $15.7 million over the prior year primarily due to the full-year contribution of the Western Cylinder Assets and
improved operating results of our European operations. The Austrian facility experienced increased volumes and expanded operating margins
compared to fiscal 2005. The Portugal facility ceased production of its unprofitable liquefied petroleum gas cylinders in the first quarter of fiscal
2005, resulting in significantly improved gross margin in fiscal 2006. The Czech Republic facility expanded its air tank production in fiscal 2005,
but incurred high labor and manufacturing expense during the expansion start-up in fiscal 2005. SG&A expense increased $4.8 million in fiscal
2006 from the prior year due to the settlement of two product liability claims totaling $2.4 million and a $2.1 million increase in costs related to the
full-year operation of the acquired Western Cylinder Assets.

Other
The “Other” category includes the Automotive Body Panels, Construction Services and Steel Packaging operating segments, which are immaterial for
purposes of separate disclosure, and also includes income and expense items not allocated to the operating segments.
The following table presents a summary of operating results for the periods indicated:

Dollars in millions

2006
$152.9
137.4
15.5
15.7
$ (0.2)

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating loss
30

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

Fiscal Year Ended May 31,
% of
Net Sales
2005
100.0%
$107.4
89.9%
105.3
10.1%
2.1
10.3%
9.2
-0.1%
$ (7.1)

% of
Net Sales
100.0%
98.0%
2.0%
8.6%
-6.6%

Increase/
(Decrease)
$
45.5
32.1
13.4
6.5
$
6.9
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Net sales and operating loss highlights are as follows:

•

Net sales increased $45.5 million over the prior year primarily due to increased sales in the Construction Services operating segment.

•

Operating loss decreased by $6.9 million to $0.2 million in fiscal 2006 from an operating loss of $7.1 million in fiscal 2005 primarily due to an
improvement in results for Automotive Body Panels, which offset losses in Construction Services. SG&A expense increased $6.5 million from the
prior year due to sales growth and development in the Construction Services operating segment.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash and cash equivalents for fiscal 2007 decreased $17.9 million compared to the end of the same period last year. The following table summarizes
consolidated cash flows.

Fiscal Years Ended
May 31,
Cash Flow Summary (in millions)

2007
$ 180.4
(95.5)
(102.8)
(17.9)
56.2
$ 38.3

Cash provided by operating activities
Cash used by investing activities
Cash used by financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

2006
227.1
(37.7)
(190.4)
(1.0)
57.2
$
56.2

$

We believe we have access to adequate resources to meet our needs for normal operating costs, capital expenditures, debt redemptions, dividend payments
and working capital for our existing businesses. These resources include cash, short-term investments, cash provided by operating activities, access to capital
markets and unused lines of credit.
Operating activities
Our business is cyclical and cash flows from operating activities may fluctuate during the year and from year-to-year due to economic conditions. We rely
on cash and short-term financing to meet cyclical increases in working capital needs. Cash requirements generally rise during increased economic activity due to
higher inventory and accounts receivable. During economic slowdowns, positive cash flow generally results from the reduction of inventories and accounts
receivable. This cash is typically used to reduce, or eliminate, short-term debt.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $180.4 million and $227.1 million in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006. The decrease in operating cash flow was
due primarily to the impact of lower volumes and steel prices on inventories and the timing of payments of accounts payable. This decrease was partially offset
by $68.5 million of equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates net of distributions.
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Investing activities
Net cash used by investing activities was $95.6 million and $37.7 million in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006.
Capital expenditures by reportable business segment represent cash used for investment in property, plant and equipment and are presented below:

Fiscal Year Ended
May 31,
(in millions)

2007
14.0
15.7
14.1
13.9
$ 57.7

Steel Processing
Metal Framing
Pressure Cylinders
Other

$

2006
14.3
19.7
7.9
18.2
$
60.1

$

The Steel Processing segment capital expenditures for 2007 included a furnace upgrade at our Spartan facility.
The Metal Framing segment ®capital expenditures decreased in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 due to reduced spending for the conversion of drywall
metal framing lines to UltraSTEEL .
The Pressure Cylinders segment capital expenditures for fiscal 2007 increased $6.2 million over fiscal 2006 due primarily to expenditures for a new
domestic air brake line and investments to increase capacity in Austria.
Capital expenditures for Other decreased $4.3 million from fiscal 2006 due primarily to reduced expenditures for our Project One information technology
system.
Total capital expenditures for fiscal 2008 are expected to slightly exceed depreciation.
In addition to capital expenditures, other significant investing activities in 2007 included the $31.7 million acquisition of PSM, $25.6 million purchase of
short-term investments, and $16.4 million was received from the sale and subsequent leaseback of a corporate aircraft. In fiscal 2006, $44.6 million in net
proceeds was realized on the sale of our investment in Acerex and $16.4 million was spent on the purchase of a corporate aircraft.
We assess acquisition opportunities as they arise, which may require additional financing. There can be no assurance, however, that any such opportunities
will arise, that any such acquisitions will be consummated, or that any needed additional financing will be available on satisfactory terms when required.
Financing activities
Long-term debt - Our senior unsecured long-term debt is rated “investment grade” by both Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. (Baa2) and Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Group (BBB). We typically use the net proceeds from long-term debt for acquisitions, refinancing outstanding debt, capital expenditures and general
corporate purposes. As of May 31, 2007, we were in compliance with our long-term debt covenants and expect to remain compliant in the future. Our long-term
debt agreements do not include ratings triggers or material adverse change provisions.
1

In May 2006, we used short-term investments and cash to repay our/8%
7 Senior Notes in full. Our Austrian subsidiary obtained a $7.7 million,
three-year senior unsecured term loan, which was used along with cash available from foreign subsidiaries, to fund the repatriation of $42.2 million of its
cumulative undistributed foreign earnings under the provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. The term loan had a floating
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interest rate equal to LIBOR plus 0.50 percent per annum. For the purpose of obtaining a lower borrowing rate, the term loan was guaranteed by Worthington
Industries, Inc. The loan was repaid in full as of May 31, 2007.
Short-term debt - We maintain a $435.0 million five-year revolver, which expires September 2010. Borrowings under this revolver have maturities of less
than one year. We also have a $100.0 million revolving trade accounts receivable securitization facility as well as $40.0 million of uncommitted credit lines
available at the discretion of several banks and a $4.7 million committed foreign credit facility. These facilities were established with major domestic and foreign
banks. We had $21.7 million and $0 million of committed borrowings and $10.0 million and $0 million of uncommitted borrowings outstanding at May 31, 2007
and 2006. We also provided $10.7 million in letters of credit for third parties as of May 31, 2007.
We are in compliance with our short-term debt covenants at May 31, 2007. Our short-term debt agreements do not include ratings triggers or material
adverse change provisions.
Common shares - We maintained our quarterly dividend during 2007 at $0.17 per common share. We paid dividends on our common shares of $59.0
million and $60.0 million in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006. We currently have no material contractual or regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends.
At its meeting on September 27, 2006, the Board of Directors of Worthington Industries, Inc. reconfirmed its authorization to repurchase up to 10,000,000
of Worthington Industries’ outstanding common shares, which authorization had initially been announced on June 13, 2005. In fiscal 2007, we purchased
4,449,000 common shares for $76.6 million under this authorization, leaving 5,551,000 common shares authorized for purchase. Future purchases may occur
from time to time on the open market or in private transactions, with consideration given to the market price of the common shares, the nature of other
investment opportunities, cash flow from operations and general economic conditions.
Dividend Policy
Dividends are declared at the discretion of our Board of Directors. The Board reviews the dividend quarterly and establishes the dividend rate based upon
our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, current and projected cash flows, business prospects and other relevant factors. While we have
paid a dividend every quarter since becoming a public company in 1968, there is no guarantee that this will continue in the future.
Contractual Cash Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments
The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of May 31, 2007. Certain of these contractual obligations are reflected on our
consolidated balance sheet, while others are disclosed as future obligations under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Payments Due by Period
In millions

Total
$ 31.7
245.0
71.8
69.6
28.4
$446.5

Notes payable
Long-term debt
Interest expense on long-term debt
Operating leases
Unconditional purchase obligations
Total contractual cash obligations
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Less Than
1 Year
$
31.7
15.0
11.8
2.4
$
60.9

1-3
Years
$
145.0
30.1
21.4
4.7
$201.2

4-5
Years
$
10.7
16.5
4.7
$ 31.9

After
5
Years
$
100.0
16.0
19.9
16.6
$152.5
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The interest expense on long-term debt is computed by using the fixed rates of the debt including the interest rate swap hedge. The unconditional purchase
obligations are to secure access to a facility used to regenerate acid used in our Steel Processing facilities through fiscal 2019.
The following table summarizes our other commercial commitments as of May 31, 2007. These commercial commitments are not reflected on our
consolidated balance sheet.

In millions

Total
$ 27.2
10.7
$ 37.9

Guarantees
Standby letters of credit
Total commercial commitments

Commitment Expiration per Period
Less Than
1-3
4-5
1 Year
Years
Years
$
27.2
$
$
10.7
$
37.9
$
$
-

After
5 Years
$
$
-

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We had no material off balance sheet arrangements at May 31, 2007.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”). The interpretation requires us to establish a reserve for uncertain tax positions if it is not more than likely
that we will prevail on the merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective as of June 1, 2007, with the cumulative effect of the change in
accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. Upon adoption, management does not expect a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements and estimates that a cumulative effect adjustment of approximately $1.0 million may result in order to decrease reserves for
uncertain tax positions, which is subject to revision as management completes its analysis.
In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities, that prohibits the use
of the accrue-in-advance method of accounting for planned major maintenance costs. It is effective for our fiscal 2008 and is not expected to materially impact
our financial position or results of operations.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159,The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Including an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 115, intended to improve financial reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by
measuring related assets and liabilities differently through the use of fair value measurements. It is effective as of the beginning of our fiscal year ending May 31,
2009, and is not expected to materially impact our financial position or results of operations.
Environmental
We believe environmental issues will not have a material effect on capital expenditures, future results of operations or financial position.
Inflation
The effects of inflation on our operations were not significant during the periods presented in the consolidated financial statements.
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Critical Accounting Policies
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. We continually evaluate our estimates,
including those related to our valuation of receivables, intangible assets, accrued liabilities, income and other tax accruals, and contingencies and litigation. We
base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. These results form the basis
for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Critical accounting policies are defined
as those that reflect our significant judgments and uncertainties that could potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and
conditions. Although actual results historically have not deviated significantly from those determined using our estimates, as discussed below, our financial
position or results of operations could be materially different if we were to report under different conditions or to use different assumptions in the application of
such policies. We believe the following accounting policies are the most critical to us since these are the primary areas where financial information is subject to
our estimates, assumptions and judgment in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition: We recognize revenue upon transfer of title and risk of loss provided evidence of an arrangement exists, pricing is fixed and
determinable, and the ability to collect is probable. In circumstances where the collection of payment is highly questionable at the time of shipment, we defer
recognition of revenue until payment is collected. We provide an allowance for returns based on experience and current customer activities. Within our
Construction Services operating segment, which represented less than 3.0% of consolidated net sales for the last three fiscal years, revenue is recognized on a
percentage-of-completion method.
Receivables: We review our receivables on an ongoing basis to ensure that they are properly valued and collectible. This is accomplished through two
contra-receivable accounts: returns and allowances and allowance for doubtful accounts. Returns and allowances are used to record estimates of returns or other
allowances resulting from quality, delivery, discounts or other issues affecting the value of receivables. This account is estimated based on historical trends and
current market conditions, with the offset to net sales.
The allowance for doubtful accounts is used to record the estimated risk of loss related to the customers’ inability to pay. This allowance is maintained at a
level that we consider appropriate based on factors that affect collectibility, such as the financial health of the customer, historical trends of charge-offs and
recoveries, and current economic and market conditions. As we monitor our receivables, we identify customers that may have payment problems, and we adjust
the allowance accordingly, with the offset to SG&A expense.
While we believe these allowances are adequate, changes in economic conditions, the financial health of customers, and bankruptcy settlements could
impact our future earnings.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: We review the carrying value of our long-lived assets, including intangible assets, whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset or a group of assets may not be recoverable. Accounting standards require an impairment charge to be
recognized in the financial statements if the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets exceeds the undiscounted cash flows generated by that asset or group
of assets. The loss recognized would be the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets.
Annually, during our fiscal fourth quarter, we review goodwill for impairment using the present value technique to determine the estimated fair value of
goodwill associated with each reporting entity. There are three significant sets of values used to determine the fair value: estimated future discounted cash flows,
capitalization
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rates and tax rates. The estimated future discounted cash flows used in the model are based on planned growth with an assumed perpetual growth rate. The
capitalization rate is based on our current cost of debt and equity capital. Tax rates are maintained at current levels.
Accounting for Derivatives and Other Contracts at Fair Value:We use derivatives in the normal course of business to manage our exposure to
fluctuations in commodity prices, foreign currency and interest rates. These derivatives are based on quoted market values. These estimates are based upon
valuation methodologies deemed appropriate in the circumstances; however, the use of different assumptions could affect the estimated fair values.
Stock-Based Compensation: Effective June 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”). SFAS 123(R)
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recorded as expense in the statement of earnings based on their
fair values. For the periods prior to June 1, 2006, we account for employee and non-employee stock option plans under the recognition and measurement
principles of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,and the related interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation costs for
the prior fiscal periods are reflected in net earnings, as all options granted under our plans had an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying
common shares on the grant date. Had we accounted for stock-based compensation plans using this fair value method, we estimate that diluted earnings per share
would have been reduced by $0.03 per share in fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005.
Income Taxes: In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 109,Accounting for Income Taxes, we account for income taxes using the asset and
liability method. The asset and liability method requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for expected future tax consequences of temporary
differences that currently exist between the tax basis and financial reporting basis of our assets and liabilities. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets,
we consider whether it is more likely than not that some, or a portion, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We provide a valuation allowance for
deferred income tax assets when, in our judgment, based upon currently available information and other factors, it is more likely than not that a portion of such
deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The determination of the need for a valuation allowance is based on an on-going evaluation of current information
including, among other things, estimates of future earnings in different tax jurisdictions and the expected timing of deferred income tax asset reversals. We
believe that the determination to record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred income tax assets is a critical accounting estimate because it is based on an
estimate of future taxable income in the various tax jurisdictions in which we do business, which is susceptible to change and may or may not occur, and because
the impact of adjusting a valuation allowance may be material.
We have a reserve for taxes and associated interest and penalties that may become payable in future years as a result of audits by taxing authorities. While
we believe the positions taken on previously filed tax returns are appropriate, we have established the tax and interest reserves in recognition that various taxing
authorities may challenge our positions. The tax reserves are analyzed periodically and adjustments are made, as events occur to warrant adjustment to the
reserve, such as lapsing of applicable statutes of limitations, conclusion of tax audits, additional exposure based on current calculations, identification of new
issues, release of administrative guidance or court decisions affecting a particular tax issue.
Self-Insurance Reserves: We are largely self-insured with respect to workers’ compensation, general and auto liability, property damage, employee
medical claims and other potential losses. In order to reduce risk and better manage overall loss exposure, we purchase stop-loss insurance that covers individual
claims in excess of the deductible amounts. We maintain reserves for the estimated cost to settle open claims as well as an estimate of the cost of claims that have
been incurred but not reported. These estimates are based on third-party actuarial valuations that take into consideration the historical average claim volume, the
average cost for settled claims, current trends in claim costs, changes in our business and workforce, general economic factors and other assumptions believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimated reserves for these liabilities could be affected if future occurrences and claims differ from assumptions
used and historical trends. Facility
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consolidations, focus on investment in safety initiatives, an emphasis on property loss prevention and product quality, have resulted in an improvement in our
loss history and the related assumptions used to analyze the property and casualty insurance reserves. This improvement resulted in a $3.6 million reduction to
these reserves during fiscal 2007. We will continue to review these reserves on a quarterly basis, or more frequently if factors dictate a more frequent review is
warranted.
The critical accounting policies discussed herein are not intended to be a comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies. In many cases, the
accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, with no need for our
judgment in their application. There are also areas in which our judgment in selecting an available alternative would not produce a materially different result.
Item 7A. – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
In the normal course of business, we are exposed to various market risks. We continually monitor these risks and regularly develop appropriate strategies
to manage them. Accordingly, from time to time, we may enter into certain derivative financial and commodity instruments. These instruments are used solely to
mitigate market exposure and are not used for trading or speculative purposes.
Interest Rate Risk
We entered into an interest rate swap in October 2004, which was amended December 17, 2004. The swap had a notional amount of $100 million to hedge
changes in cash flows attributable to changes in the LIBOR rate associated with the December 17, 2004, issuance of the unsecured Floating Rate Senior Notes
due December 2014. See “Item 8 – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note C – Debt.” The critical
terms of the derivative correspond with the critical terms of the underlying exposure. The interest rate swap was executed with a highly rated financial institution.
We pay a fixed rate of 4.46% and receive a variable rate based on six-month LIBOR. A sensitivity analysis of changes in the interest rate yield curve associated
with our interest rate swap indicates that a 10% parallel decline in the yield curve would reduce the fair value of our interest rate swap by $3.3 million.
Foreign Currency Risk
The translation of foreign currencies into United States. dollars subjects the Company to exposure related to fluctuating exchange rates. Derivative
instruments are not used to manage this risk. However, the Company does make use of forward contracts to manage exposure to certain inter-company loans with
our foreign affiliates. Such contracts limit exposure to both favorable and unfavorable currency fluctuations. At May 31, 2007, the difference between the
contract and book value was not material to the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. A 10% change in the exchange rate to the U.S.
dollar forward rate is not expected to materially impact the financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. A sensitivity analysis of changes in the U.S.
dollar on these foreign currency-denominated contracts indicates that if the U.S. dollar uniformly weakened by 10% against all of these currency exposures, the
fair value of these instruments would decrease by $5.2 million. Any resulting changes in fair value would be offset by changes in the underlying hedged balance
sheet position. The sensitivity analysis assumes a uniform shift in all foreign currency exchange rates. The assumption that exchange rates change in uniformity
may overstate the impact of changing exchange rates on assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency.
Commodity Price Risk
We are exposed to market risk for price fluctuations on purchases of steel, natural gas, zinc (see additional information below regarding natural gas and
zinc) and other raw materials and utility requirements. The Company attempts to negotiate the best prices for commodities and to competitively price products
and services to reflect the fluctuations in market prices.
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Derivative financial instruments are used to manage exposure to fluctuations in the cost of zinc and natural gas. These contracts cover periods
commensurate with known or expected exposures through 2008. No derivatives are held for trading purposes. No credit loss is anticipated, as the counterparties
to these agreements are major financial institutions that are highly rated. The zinc and natural gas derivatives are cash flow hedges. The effective portion of the
change in the fair value of the zinc derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income and is reclassified to cost of goods sold in the period in which earnings
are impacted by the hedged items or in the period that the transaction no longer qualifies as a cash flow hedge. The change in fair value of the natural gas
derivative is recorded in cost of goods.
A sensitivity analysis of changes in the price of hedged commodities indicates that a 10% decline in zinc prices would reduce the fair value of our hedge
position by $1.9 million. A similar 10% decline in natural gas prices would reduce the fair value of the natural gas hedge position by $0.2 million. Any resulting
changes in fair value of the zinc hedge would be recorded as adjustments to other comprehensive income. Fair values for the outstanding derivative positions as
of May 31, 2007, and 2006, are summarized below. Fair values of the derivatives do not consider the offsetting underlying hedged item.

May 31,
In millions
Zinc
Natural gas
Interest rate

2007

2006

$18.9
2.2
5.8
$26.9

$28.3
3.3
7.6
$39.2

Change
In
Fair Value
$
(9.4)
(1.1)
(1.8)
$
(12.3)

Safe Harbor
Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk include forward-looking statements with respect to management’s opinion about risks associated
with the use of derivative instruments. These statements are based on certain assumptions with respect to market prices and industry supply of, and demand for,
steel products and certain raw materials. To the extent these assumptions prove to be inaccurate, future outcomes with respect to hedging programs may differ
materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements.
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Item 8. – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Worthington Industries, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of May 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related
consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended May 31, 2007. In connection with
our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the financial statement schedule of valuation and qualifying accounts. These
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Worthington Industries, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of May 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended May 31,
2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in
relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
As discussed in Note A to the consolidated financial statements, effective June 1, 2006, Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries adopted the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Worthington
Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated July 30, 2007, expressed an
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/s/

KPMG LLP

Columbus, Ohio
July 30, 2007
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WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)

May 31,
2007
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivables, less allowances of $3,641 and $4,964 at May 31, 2007 and 2006
Inventories:
Raw materials
Work in process
Finished products
Total inventories
Assets held for sale
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
Goodwill
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment:
Land
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Construction in progress
Total property, plant and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
Total property, plant and equipment, net
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Notes payable
Accrued compensation, contributions to employee benefit plans and related taxes
Dividends payable
Other accrued items
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Other liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred income taxes
Total liabilities
Contingent liabilities and commitments - Note G
Minority interest
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred shares, without par value; authorized - 1,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding - none
Common shares, without par value; authorized - 150,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding, 2007 - 84,908,476 shares, 2006 88,691,204 shares
Additional paid-in capital
Cumulative other comprehensive income, net of taxes of $(6,168) and $(10,287) at May 31, 2007 and 2006
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

2006

38,277
25,562
400,916

$

56,216
2,173
404,553

261,849
97,633
88,382
447,864
4,600
13,067
39,097
969,383
57,540
179,441
43,553

266,818
104,244
88,295
459,357
23,535
15,854
34,553
996,241
123,748
177,771
55,733

33,228
241,729
875,737
8,268
1,158,962
594,697
564,265
$1,814,182

19,595
234,091
815,638
27,904
1,097,228
550,324
546,904
$1,900,397

$ 263,665
31,650
46,237
14,440
45,519
18,983
420,494
57,383
245,000
105,983
828,860
49,321

$ 362,883
7,684
49,784
15,078
36,483
18,874
490,786
55,249
245,000
114,610
905,645
49,446

-

-

166,908
23,181
745,912
936,001
$1,814,182

159,328
27,116
758,862
945,306
$1,900,397
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WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(In thousands, except per share)

Fiscal Years Ended May 31,
2007
2006
2005
$ 2,971,808
$ 2,897,179
$ 3,078,884
2,610,176
2,525,545
2,580,011
361,632
371,634
498,873
232,487
214,030
225,915
5,608
129,145
157,604
267,350

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expense
Impairment charges and other
Operating income
Other income (expense):
Miscellaneous expense
Gain on sale of Acerex
Interest expense
Equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates
Earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net earnings
Average common shares outstanding - basic
Earnings per share - basic
Average common shares outstanding - diluted
Earnings per share - diluted

(4,446)
(21,895)
63,213
166,017
52,112
$ 113,905
86,351
$
1.32
87,002
$
1.31
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(1,524)
26,609
(26,279)
56,339
212,749
66,759
$ 145,990
88,288
$
1.65
88,976
$
1.64

(7,991)
(24,761)
53,871
288,469
109,057
$ 179,412
87,646
$
2.05
88,503
$
2.03
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WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Dollars in thousands, except per share)

-

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$ 131,255

Cumulative
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss),
Net of Tax
$
(2,393)

Retained
Earnings
$ 551,512

-

-

-

164
698
(332)
550

179,412
-

1,077,560
87,933,202

-

-

-

758,002
88,691,204
-

Common Shares
Shares
Amount
Balance at June 1, 2004
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Unrealized gain on investment
Foreign currency translation
Minimum pension liability
Cash flow hedges
Total comprehensive income
Common shares issued
Cash dividends declared ($0.66 per share)
Other
Balance at May 31, 2005
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Unrealized gain on investment
Foreign currency translation
Minimum pension liability
Cash flow hedges
Total comprehensive income
Common shares issued
Cash dividends declared ($0.68 per share)
Balance at May 31, 2006
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Unrealized loss on investment
Foreign currency translation
Minimum pension liability
Cash flow hedges
Total comprehensive income
Adjustment to initially apply
FASB 158
Common shares issued
Stock based compensation
Purchases and retirement of common shares
Cash dividends declared ($0.68 per share)
Balance at May 31, 2007

86,855,642

666,272
(4,449,000)
84,908,476

$

$

(57,942)
672,982

-

139
8,711
2,473
17,106

145,990
-

-

10,161
159,328

27,116

(60,110)
758,862

-

-

(296)
4,507
34
(7,586)

113,905
-

113,905
(296)
4,507
34
(7,586)
110,564

(594)
23,181

(68,475)
(58,380)
$ 745,912

(594)
12,242
3,480
(76,617)
(58,380)
$936,001

12,242
3,480
(8,142)
$ 166,908

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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179,412
164
698
(332)
550
180,492
17,917
(57,942)
(5)
820,836

(1,313)

-

17,917
(5)
149,167

Total
$680,374

$

145,990
139
8,711
2,473
17,106
174,419
10,161
(60,110)
945,306
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WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in thousands)

Fiscal Years Ended May 31,
2007
2006
2005
Operating activities:
Net earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment charges and other
Provision for deferred income taxes
Equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates, net of distributions
Minority interest in net income of consolidated subsidiaries
Net loss on sale of assets
Gain on sale of Acerex
Stock-based compensation
Excess tax benefits - stock-based compensation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Investment in property, plant and equipment, net
Investment in aircraft
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Investment in unconsolidated affiliate
Proceeds from sale of assets
Proceeds from sale of Acerex
Purchases of short-term investments
Sales of short-term investments
Net cash used by investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from short-term borrowings
Proceeds from long-term debt, net
Principal payments on long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of common shares
Excess tax benefits - stock-based compensation
Payments to minority interest
Repurchase of common shares
Dividends paid
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ 113,905

$ 145,990

$179,412

61,469
(3,068)
68,510
5,409
826
3,480
(2,370)

59,116
(12,645)
702
6,088
6,079
(26,609)
-

57,874
5,608
(1,496)
(25,351)
8,963
2,641
-

8,312
19,588
(2,078)
4,898
(99,283)
833
180,431

11,616
(33,788)
(9,186)
(563)
79,114
1,152
227,066

(50,661)
(59,236)
(10,195)
(831)
(72,933)
(1,524)
32,271

(57,691)
(31,727)
(1,000)
18,237
(25,562)
2,173
(95,570)

(60,128)
(16,435)
(6,776)
3,225
44,604
(493,860)
491,687
(37,683)

(46,318)
(65,119)
(1,500)
89,488
(72,875)
72,875
(23,449)

31,650
(7,691)
9,866
2,370
(3,360)
(76,617)
(59,018)
(102,800)
(17,939)
56,216
$ 38,277

7,684
(143,416)
9,138
(3,840)
(59,982)
(190,416)
(1,033)
57,249
$ 56,216

99,409
(2,381)
14,673
(8,360)
(56,891)
46,450
55,272
1,977
$ 57,249
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WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiscal Years Ended May 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Note A – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Worthington Industries, Inc. and consolidated subsidiaries (collectively,
“we,” “our,” “Worthington,” or the “Company”). Spartan Steel Coating, LLC (owned 52%) is fully consolidated with the equity owned by the other joint venture
member shown as minority interest on the consolidated balance sheets, and its portion of net earnings (loss) included in miscellaneous expense. Investments in
unconsolidated affiliates are accounted for using the equity method. Significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated.
Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents: We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Short-term Investments: At May, 31, 2007, we held $25,562,000 in short-term investments consisting of money market mutual funds which were
classified as available-for-sale securities. Unrealized holding gains (losses) were immaterial.
Inventories:

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method for all inventories.

Derivative Financial Instruments: We do not engage in currency or commodity speculation and generally enter into derivatives only to hedge specific
interest, foreign currency or commodity transactions. All derivatives are accounted for using mark-to-market accounting. Gains or losses from these transactions
offset gains or losses of the assets, liabilities or transactions being hedged. Current assets and other assets include derivative fair values at May 31, 2007, of
$14,508,000 and $12,337,000. Ineffectiveness of the hedges during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 (“fiscal 2007”), the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006
(“fiscal 2006”) and the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 (“fiscal 2005”) was immaterial and was reported in other income (expense).
For hedging relationships to qualify under Statement of Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133 (“SFAS 133”), we formally document the hedging
relationship and its risk management objective and the hedge strategy, the hedging instrument, the hedge item, the nature of the risk being hedged, how the hedge
instrument effectiveness against offsetting the hedged risk will be assessed prospectively and retrospectively, and a description of the method of measuring
ineffectiveness.
We discontinue hedge accounting when it is determined that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting cash flows of the hedged item, the derivative
expires or is sold, terminated, is dedesignated as a hedging instrument, because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur, or we determine that
designation of the hedging instrument is no longer appropriate. In all situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued and the derivative is retained, we
continue to carry the derivative at its fair value on the balance sheet and recognize any subsequent changes in its fair value in net earnings. When it is probable
that a forecasted transaction will not occur, we discontinue hedge accounting and recognize immediately in earnings gains and losses that were accumulated in
other comprehensive income.
44

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

Table of Contents
Interest Rate Risk
We entered into an interest rate swap in October 2004, which was amended December 17, 2004. The swap had a notional amount of $100 million to hedge
changes in cash flows attributable to changes in the LIBOR rate associated with the December 17, 2004, issuance of the unsecured Floating Rate Senior Notes
due December 2014. See “Note C – Debt.” The interest rate swap was executed with a highly rated financial institution. We pay a fixed rate of 4.46% and receive
a variable rate based on six-month LIBOR.
The interest rate derivative is classified as a cash flow hedge per SFAS 133. The effective portion of the change in the fair value of the derivative is
recorded in other comprehensive income and is reclassified to interest expense in the period in which earnings are impacted by the hedged items or in the period
that the transaction no longer qualifies as a cash flow hedge.
A sensitivity analysis of changes in the interest rate yield curve associated with our interest rate swap indicates that a 10% parallel decline in the yield
curve would reduce the fair value of our interest rate swap by $3.3 million.
Foreign Currency Risk
The translation of foreign currencies into United States dollars subjects the Company to exposure related to fluctuating exchange rates. Derivative
instruments are not used to manage this risk. However, the Company does make use of forward contracts to manage exposure to certain inter-company loans with
our foreign affiliates. Such contracts limit exposure to both favorable and unfavorable currency fluctuations. At May 31, 2007, the difference between the
contract and book value was not material to the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
The foreign currency derivatives are classified as fair value hedges per SFAS 133. The change in the fair value of the derivatives are recorded either in the
balance sheet under foreign currency translation or in net earnings in the same period in which foreign currency translation or net earnings are impacted by the
hedged items.
A 10% change in the exchange rate to the U.S. dollar forward rate is not expected to materially impact the financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows. A sensitivity analysis of changes in the U.S. dollar on these foreign currency-denominated contracts indicates that if the U.S. dollar uniformly weakened
by 10% against all of these currency exposures, the fair value of these instruments would decrease by $5.2 million. Any resulting changes in fair value would be
offset by changes in the underlying hedged balance sheet position. The sensitivity analysis assumes a uniform shift in all foreign currency exchange rates. The
assumption that exchange rates change in uniformity may overstate the impact of changing exchange rates on assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign
currency.
Commodity Price Risk
We are exposed to market risk for price fluctuations on purchases of steel, natural gas, zinc (see additional information below regarding natural gas and
zinc) and other raw materials and utility requirements. The Company attempts to negotiate the best prices for commodities and to competitively price products
and services to reflect the fluctuations in market prices.
Derivative financial instruments are used to manage exposure to fluctuations in the cost of natural gas and zinc. These contracts cover periods
commensurate with known or expected exposures through 2008. No derivatives are held for trading purposes. No credit loss is anticipated, as the counterparties
to these agreements are major financial institutions that are highly rated.
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The zinc derivative is classified as a cash flow hedge per SFAS 133. The effective portion of the change in the fair value of the zinc derivative is recorded
in other comprehensive income and is reclassified to cost of goods sold in the period in which earnings are impacted by the hedged items or in the period that the
transaction no longer qualifies as a cash flow hedge. The natural gas hedge change in fair value is recorded in cost of goods sold.
A sensitivity analysis of changes in the price of hedged commodities indicates that a 10% decline in zinc prices would reduce the fair value of our hedge
position by $1.9 million. A similar 10% decline in natural gas prices would reduce the fair value of the natural gas hedge position by $0.2 million. Any resulting
changes in fair value of the zinc hedge would be recorded as adjustments to other comprehensive income.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The non-derivative financial instruments included in the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments, accounts and notes receivable, other assets and accounts and notes payable, approximate fair values. The fair value of long-term debt, including
current maturities, based upon quoted market prices was $249,524,000 and $250,206,000 at May 31, 2007 and 2006.
Risks and Uncertainties: As of May 31, 2007, the Company, including unconsolidated affiliates, operated 64 production facilities in 24 states and 10
countries. Our largest markets are the construction and the automotive and automotive supply markets, which comprised 39% and 30%, of our consolidated net
sales in fiscal 2007. Our foreign operations represented 8% of consolidated net sales, 36% of consolidated pre-tax earnings and 11% of consolidated net assets.
Approximately 13% of the Company’s consolidated labor force is represented by collective bargaining agents. This includes 353 employees whose labor
contracts expire or will otherwise require renegotiation within the next fiscal year. The concentration of credit risks from financial instruments related to the
markets served by the Company is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, cash flows or future results
of operations.
Property and Depreciation: Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method. Buildings and
improvements are depreciated over 10 to 40 years and machinery and equipment over 3 to 20 years. Depreciation expense was $59,478,000 for fiscal 2007,
$56,769,000 for fiscal 2006, and $55,409,000 for fiscal 2005. Accelerated depreciation methods are used for income tax purposes.
Planned Maintenance Activities: We use the deferral method to account for costs of planned maintenance shutdowns. Under this method, the costs of a
qualifying shutdown are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis, into maintenance expense, until the next anticipated shutdown. In no case will the
amortization period exceed twelve months.
Leases: Certain lease agreements contain fluctuating or escalating payments and rent holiday periods. The related rent expense is recorded on a
straight-line basis over the length of the lease term. Leasehold improvements made by the lessee, whether funded by the lessee or by landlord allowances or
incentives are recorded as leasehold improvement assets and will be amortized over the shorter of the economic life or the lease term. These incentives are also
recorded as deferred rent and amortized as reductions in rent expense over the lease term.
Capitalized Interest: We capitalize interest in connection with the construction of qualified assets. Under this policy, we capitalized interest of
$1,757,000 in fiscal 2007, $638,000 in fiscal 2006 and $158,000 in fiscal 2005.
Stock-Based Compensation: At May 31, 2007, we had stock-based compensation plans for employees and non-employee directors which are described
more fully in “Note F – Stock-Based Compensation.” Effective June 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123
(revised 2004), Share- Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”). SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments, including grants of stock options, to be recorded as
expense in the statement of earnings based on their fair values. For the periods prior to
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June 1, 2006, we accounted for employee and non-employee director stock options under the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,and the related interpretations. No stock-based compensation costs for the prior fiscal periods are reflected in net
earnings, as all options granted under our plans had an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying common shares on the grant date.
The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings and earnings per share as if the Company had accounted for the stock option plans under the fair
value method of accounting, as required by SFAS 123, for the years ended May 31:

In thousands, except per share
Net earnings, as reported
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method, net of tax
Pro forma net earnings
Earnings per share:
Basic, as reported
Basic, pro forma
Diluted, as reported
Diluted, pro forma

2006
$ 145,990
2,381
$ 143,609

2005
$ 179,412
1,977
$ 177,435

$

$

1.65
1.63
1.64
1.61

2.05
2.02
2.03
2.00

Revenue Recognition: We recognize revenue upon transfer of title and risk of loss provided evidence of an arrangement exists, pricing is fixed and
determinable, and collectibility is probable. In circumstances where the collection of payment is highly questionable at the time of shipment, we defer recognition
of revenue until payment is collected. We provide an allowance for expected returns based on experience and current customer activities. Within the
Construction Services operating segment, which represented less than 3% of consolidated net sales for the last three fiscal years, revenue is recognized on a
percentage-of-completion method. Taxes collected from customers on revenues are reported on a net basis (excluded from revenues).
Advertising Expense: We expense advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense was $4,117,000, $3,571,000 and $3,924,000 for fiscal 2007, fiscal
2006 and fiscal 2005.
Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs: Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are included in net sales, and shipping and handling costs
incurred are included in cost of goods sold.
Environmental Costs: Environmental costs are capitalized if the costs extend the life of the property, increase its capacity, and/or mitigate or prevent
contamination from future operations. Costs related to environmental contamination treatment and clean up are charged to expense.
Statements of Cash Flows:

Supplemental cash flow information for the years ended May 31 is as follows:

In thousands

2007
$ 21,884
49,600

Interest paid, net of amount capitalized
Income taxes paid, net of refunds

2006
$ 27,734
67,163

2005
$ 24,881
155,901

We use the “look-through” approach for determining cash flow presentation of distributions from our unconsolidated joint ventures. Distributions paid out
of the cumulative operating cash flows of our joint ventures are included in our statements of cash flows in operating activities.
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Income Taxes: In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 109”), we account for income taxes using the
asset and liability method. The asset and liability method requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for expected future tax consequences of
temporary differences that currently exist between the tax basis and financial reporting basis of our assets and liabilities. In assessing the realizability of deferred
tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some, or a portion, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We provide a valuation allowance
for deferred income tax assets when it is more likely than not that a portion of such deferred income tax assets will not be realized.
We have a reserve included in long-term liabilities for taxes that may become payable as a result of audits in future periods with respect to previously filed
tax returns. It is our policy to establish reserves for taxes that may become payable in future years as a result of an examination by taxing authorities. We
established the reserves based upon management’s assessment of exposure associated with permanent tax differences, tax credits, interest expense, and penalties
applied to temporary difference adjustments. The tax reserves are analyzed periodically and adjustments are made, as events occur to warrant adjustment to the
reserves.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
: In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109(“FIN 48”). The interpretation will require us to establish a reserve
for uncertain tax positions if it is not more than likely that we will prevail on the merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective as of June 1, 2007,
with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle to be recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. Upon adoption, management does
not expect a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements and estimates that a cumulative effect adjustment of approximately $1.0 million may
result in order to decrease reserves for uncertain tax positions, which is subject to revision as management completes its analysis.
In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities, that prohibits the use
of the accrue-in-advance method of accounting for planned major maintenance costs. It is effective for our fiscal year ending May 31, 2008 (“fiscal 2008”) and is
not expected to materially impact our financial position or results of operations.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159,The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Including an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 115, intending to improve financial reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by
measuring related assets and liabilities differently through the use of fair value measurements. It is effective as of the beginning of our fiscal year ending May 31,
2009, and is not expected to materially impact our financial position or results of operations.
Note B – Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred Shares: The Worthington Industries, Inc. Amended Articles of Incorporation authorize two classes of preferred shares and their relative voting
rights. The Board of Directors of Worthington Industries, Inc. is empowered to determine the issue prices, dividend rates, amounts payable upon liquidation, and
other terms of the preferred shares when issued. No preferred shares are issued or outstanding.
Common Shares: At its meeting on September 27, 2006 the Board of Directors of Worthington Industries, Inc. reconfirmed its authorization to
repurchase up to 10,000,000 of Worthington Industries’ outstanding common shares, which authorization had initially been announced on June 13, 2005. Under
this authorization, we purchased 4,449,000 common shares for $76.6 million in fiscal 2007, leaving 5,551,000 common shares authorized for purchase. Future
purchases may occur from time to time on the open market or in private transactions, with consideration given to the market price of the shares, the nature of
other investment opportunities, cash flow from operations and general economic conditions.
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Comprehensive Income: The components of other comprehensive income (loss) and related tax effects for the years ended May 31, were as follows:

In thousands
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment
Foreign currency translation, net of tax of $212, $677 and $(756) in 2007, 2006 and 2005
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $(139), $28 and $203 in 2007, 2006 and 2005
Cash flow hedges, net of tax of $4,300, $(8,364) and $(661) in 2007, 2006 and 2005
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

2007
$ (296)
4,507
34
(7,586)
$(3,341)

2006

2005

139
8,711
2,473
17,106
$28,429

$ 164
698
(332)
550
$1,080

2007
$
(5)
10,967
(836)
13,055
$23,181

2006
291
6,460
(276)
20,641
$27,116

$

The components of cumulative other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, at May 31 were as follows:

In thousands
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment
Foreign currency translation
Defined benefit pension liability
Cash flow hedges
Cumulative other comprehensive income, net of tax

$

Reclassification adjustments for cash flow hedges in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 were $9,046,000 (net of tax of $4,617,000), $4,382,000 (net
of tax of $2,686,000) and $1,402,000 (net of tax of $859,000).
The estimated net amount of the existing gains or losses in other comprehensive income at May 31, 2007, expected to be reclassified into net earnings
within the twelve months was $8,287,000 (net of tax of $4,815,000). This amount was computed using the fair value of the cash flow hedges at May 31, 2007,
and will change before actual reclassification from other comprehensive income to net earnings during fiscal 2008.
Note C – Debt
Debt at May 31 is summarized as follows:

In thousands
Notes payable
6.7% senior notes due December 1, 2009
Floating rate senior notes due December 17, 2014
Total debt
Less current maturities and notes payable
Total long-term debt

2007
$ 31,650
145,000
100,000
276,650
31,650
$ 245,000

2006
7,684
145,000
100,000
252,684
7,684
$ 245,000
$

At May 31, 2007, notes payable consisted of $21,650,000 of borrowings under our revolving credit facility, described below, and $10,000,000 of
borrowings on uncommitted credit lines. The average variable rate was 5.81% and is based on our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings assigned by
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group and Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. At May 31, 2006, our notes payable represented debt of foreign operations and consisted of
a term loan bearing interest at a variable rate of 3.4%. This rate was determined by our senior
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unsecured long-term debt ratings as assigned by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group and Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. The covenants reflect those of the
$435,000,000 revolving credit facility described above.
We maintain a $435,000,000 five-year revolving credit facility, which expires in September 2010. Borrowings under this facility have maturities of less
than one year. We pay facility fees on the unused credit amount. Interest rates on borrowings and related facility fees are based on our senior unsecured
long-term debt ratings as assigned by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group and Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. The covenants in the revolving credit facility
include, among others, maintenance of a debt-to-total-capitalization ratio of not more than 55% and maintenance of an interest coverage ratio of not less than
3.25 times through maturity. We were in compliance with all covenants under the facility at May 31, 2007.
The floating rate notes are due on December 17, 2014 (“2014 Notes”) and bear interest at a variable rate equal to six-month LIBOR plus 80 basis points.
This rate was 6.17% as of May 31, 2007. However, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement whereby we receive interest on the $100,000,000 notional
amount at the six-month LIBOR rate and we pay interest on the same notional amount at a fixed rate of 4.46%, effectively fixing the interest rate at 5.26%. The
2014 Notes are callable at our option, at 101% of par until December 17, 2007, and at par thereafter. The covenants in the 2014 Notes, as amended December 19,
2006, include among others, maintenance of a debt-to-total-capitalization ratio of not more than 55% and maintenance of an interest coverage ratio of not less
than 3.0 times through maturity. We were in compliance with all covenants under the 2014 Notes at May 31, 2007.
Principal payments due on long-term debt in the next five fiscal years and the remaining years thereafter are as follows:

In thousands
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter
Total

$

$

145,000
100,000
245,000

Note D – Income Taxes
Earnings before income taxes for the years ended May 31 include the following components:

In thousands
Pre-tax earnings:
United States based operations
Non - United States based operations
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2006

2005

$ 106,246
59,771
$ 166,017

$ 194,427
18,322
$ 212,749

$ 271,831
16,638
$ 288,469
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Significant components of income tax expense for the years ended May 31 were as follows:

In thousands
Current:
Federal
State and local
Foreign
Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign

2007

2006

2005

$38,644
1,617
14,919
55,180

$ 56,911
8,343
14,150
79,404

$ 94,295
13,387
2,871
110,553

(2,402)
(334)
(332)
(3,068)
$52,112

(6,051)
(1,950)
(4,644)
(12,645)
$ 66,759

(4,434)
3,634
(696)
(1,496)
$109,057

Tax benefits related to the exercise of stock options that were credited to additional paid-in capital were $2,370,000, $1,279,000 and $3,542,000 for fiscal
2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005. Tax benefits (expenses) related to foreign currency translation adjustments that were credited to (deducted from) other
comprehensive income were $212,000, $677,000, and $(756,000) for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005. Tax benefits (expenses) related to defined benefit
pension liability that were credited to (deducted from) other comprehensive income were $(393,000), $28,000, and $203,000 for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and
fiscal 2005. Tax benefits (expenses) related to cash flow hedges that were credited to (deducted from) other comprehensive income were $4,300,000,
$(8,364,000), and $(661,000) for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005.
The reconciliation of the differences between the effective income tax rate and the statutory federal income tax rate for the years ended May 31 is as
follows:

Federal statutory rate
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit
Change in income tax accruals for resolution of tax audits and change in estimate of deferred tax
Non-U.S. income taxes at other than 35%
Ohio income tax law change
Special foreign earnings repatriations and sale of non-U.S. company
Deferred tax adjustment for foreign earnings
Other
Effective tax rate

2007
35.0%
1.5
1.1
(3.6)
(2.6)
31.4%

2006
35.0%
3.6
(1.4)
(4.1)
(2.3)
2.5
(2.2)
0.3
31.4%

2005
35.0%
3.0
(0.2)
(1.3)
1.3
37.8%

We establish reserves based upon management’s assessment of exposure associated with permanent tax differences, tax credits, interest expense, and
penalties applied to temporary difference adjustments and tax return positions. As the assessment of exposure changes, the reserves are adjusted through income
tax expense. As a result of the resolution of certain tax audits and other exposure changes we recorded adjustments to the tax reserves and increased/(decreased)
income tax expense by $1,255,000, $(2,261,000) and $(2,112,000) for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, respectively.
We also adjusted our deferred taxes in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, resulting in an increase/(decrease) of $917,000 and $(5,599,000) in income tax expense.
The fiscal 2007 adjustment was for changes to estimated tax
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liabilities. Fiscal 2006 included a $4,623,000 adjustment for an over-accrual of deferred tax liabilities related to the foreign earnings of the WAVE joint venture
and a $4,346,000 deferred tax liability adjustment for the Ohio tax law change, discussed below, offset by a $3,370,000 adjustment for changes in estimated tax
liabilities.
On June 30, 2005, the state of Ohio enacted various changes to its tax laws. One change was the phase-out of the Ohio franchise tax, which is generally
based on federal taxable income. This phase-out is scheduled to occur at the rate of 20% per year for 2006 through 2010. Our accrual for income taxes for fiscal
2005 included 100% of the expected Ohio franchise tax liability. As a result of the law change, only 80% of that liability was due. As such, in fiscal 2006 we
made an adjustment to reduce our accrued income taxes. In addition, as a result of various changes to Ohio’s tax laws, in fiscal 2006 we adjusted our deferred
taxes by $4,346,000.
American Jobs Creation Act
The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs Act”) provides a deduction for income from qualified domestic production activities, which is phased
in from 2006 through 2011. The effect of the phase-in of this new deduction resulted in a decrease in the effective tax rate for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 of less
than 1 percentage-point. Under the guidance in FASB Staff Position SFAS 109-1,Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the
Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, the deduction will be treated as a “special deduction” as
described in SFAS 109. As such, the special deduction has no effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities existing as of the enactment date. Rather, the impact of
this deduction will be reported in the period in which the deduction is claimed on our tax return.
The Jobs Act also created a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate accumulated income earned abroad by providing an 85 percent
dividends-received deduction for certain dividends from controlled foreign corporations. During fiscal 2006, we approved a plan for reinvestment and repatriated
a cash dividend amount of $42,157,000, of which $41,395,000 qualified for the 85 percent dividends-received deduction. Pursuant to the plan for reinvestment,
during 2006, we made expenditures for capital additions and improvements and other qualifying amounts at our domestic facilities in excess of the $42,157,000
cash dividend amount. As a result, we recorded a related tax expense of $1,702,000 for the cash dividend repatriation.
Taxes on Foreign Income
Pre-tax income attributable to foreign sources for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 is as noted above. Without regard to the one-time repatriation
discussed above, as of May 31, 2007, and based on the tax laws in effect at that time, it remains our intention to continue to indefinitely reinvest our undistributed
foreign earnings, except for the foreign earnings of our TWB Company, LLC joint venture. Accordingly, where this election has been made, no deferred tax
liability has been recorded for those foreign earnings. Undistributed earnings of our consolidated foreign subsidiaries at May 31, 2007, amounted to
$150,657,000. If such earnings were not permanently reinvested, a deferred tax liability of $16,191,000 would have been required.
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The components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities as of May 31 were as follows:

In thousands
Deferred tax assets:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Accrued expenses
Net operating loss carryforwards
Tax credit carryforwards
Income taxes
Stock options
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Derivative contracts
Undistributed earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Income taxes
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liability

2007
$

3,044
4,024
14,900
17,048
1,012
1,173
1,082
42,283
(12,930)
29,353

94,462
8,013
14,552
463
249
117,739
$ 88,386

2006
$

3,204
3,535
16,209
17,841
2,841
1,025
44,655
(15,931)
28,724

98,505
11,413
13,557
38
123,513
$ 94,789

The above amounts are classified in the consolidated balance sheets as of May 31 as follows:

In thousands
Current assets:
Deferred income taxes
Other assets:
Deferred income taxes
Noncurrent liabilities:
Deferred income taxes
Net deferred tax liabilities

2007

2006

$ 13,067

$ 15,854

4,530

3,967

105,983
$ 88,386

114,610
$ 94,789

At May 31, 2007, we had tax benefits for federal net operating loss carryforwards of $158,000 that expire from fiscal 2008 to fiscal 2019. These net
operating loss carryforwards are subject to utilization limitations. At May 31, 2007, we had tax benefits for state net operating loss carryforwards of $11,129,000
that expire from fiscal 2008 to fiscal 2027 and state credit carryforwards of $346,000 that expire from fiscal 2008 to fiscal 2023. At May 31, 2007, we had tax
benefits for foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $5,762,000 for income tax purposes that expire from fiscal 2008 to fiscal 2010. At May 31, 2007, we had
tax benefits for foreign tax credit carryforwards of $1,003,000 that expire in fiscal 2016.
A valuation allowance of $12,930,000 has been recognized to offset the deferred tax assets related to the net operating loss carryforwards and foreign tax
credit carryforwards. The valuation allowance includes $1,161,000 for federal, $10,224,000 for state and $1,545,000 for foreign. The majority of the federal
valuation allowance relates to the foreign tax credit with the remainder relating to the net operating loss carryforward. The majority of the state valuation
allowance relates to owning the Decatur, Alabama, facility while the foreign valuation allowance relates to operations in Portugal and China. We have
determined that it is more likely than not that there will not be sufficient taxable income in future years to utilize all of the net operating loss carryforwards.
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Note E – Employee Pension Plans
We provide retirement benefits to employees mainly through contributory, deferred profit sharing plans. Contributions to the deferred profit sharing plans
are determined as a percentage of our pre-tax income before profit sharing, with contributions guaranteed to represent at least 3% of the participants’
compensation. We match employee contributions at 50% up to defined maximums. We also have one defined benefit plan, The Gerstenslager Company
Bargaining Unit Employees’ Pension Plan (the “Gerstenslager Plan”). The Gerstenslager Plan is a non-contributory pension plan, which covers certain
employees based on age and length of service. Our contributions comply with ERISA’s minimum funding requirements.
Effective May 31, 2007, we adopted SFAS No. 158,
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans – an
Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)”. It did not materially impact our financial position or results of operations. Also, as required by
SFAS No. 158, for our fiscal year ending May 31, 2009, and thereafter, we will measure the assets and benefit obligations of the Gerstenslager Plan at May 31,
rather than the current March 31 measurement date. We do not expect the change in measurement date to materially affect our financial position or results of
operations.
The following table summarizes the components of net periodic pension cost, for the Gerstenslager Plan (i.e. the defined benefit plan) and the defined
contribution plans for the years ended May 31:

In thousands

2007

Defined benefit plan:
Service cost
Interest cost
Actual return on plan assets
Net amortization and deferral
Net pension cost on defined benefit plan
Defined contribution plans
Total pension cost

$

610
818
(1,257)
396
567
9,694
$10,261

2006
$

700
719
(1,621)
1,149
947
9,663
$10,610

2005
$

696
646
(622)
323
1,043
10,776
$11,819

The following actuarial assumptions were used for our defined benefit plan:

To determine benefit obligation:
Discount rate
To determine net periodic pension cost:
Discount rate
Expected long-term rate of return
Rate of compensation increase

2007

2006

2005

6.14%

6.03%

5.61%

6.03%
8.00%
n/a

5.61%
8.00%
n/a

5.75%
7.00%
n/a

The expected long-term rate of return on the defined benefit plan in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 was based on the actual historical returns
adjusted for a change in the frequency of lump sum settlements upon retirement.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets and the funded status for the
defined benefit plan during fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 as of the March 31, measurement date:

In thousands
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial gain
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation, end of year
Change in plan assets
Fair value, beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value, end of year
Funded Status
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position consist of:
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Cumulative other comprehensive income
Amounts recognized in cumulative other comprehensive income consist of:
Minimum pension liability
Net loss
Prior service cost
Total

2007

2006

$13,696
610
818
(327)
(171)
$14,626

$13,356
700
719
(935)
(144)
$13,696

$13,373
1,257
1,677
(172)
$16,135
$ 1,509

$ 9,237
1,621
2,659
(144)
$13,373
$ (324)

$ 1,509
909

$

699
(324)
932

$

$

932
932

$

450
459
909

$

The following table shows other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income during May 31:

In thousands
Adjustment to minimum liability
Net actuarial gain
Amortization of net loss
Amortization of prior service cost
Elimination of minimum liability
Total recognized in other comprehensive income
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive income

2007
$ 483
(483)
(240)
(483)
$(723)
$(156)

2006
$(2,083)
$(2,083)
$(1,136)

The estimated prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plan that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net
periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is $240,000.
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Plan assets for the defined benefit plan consist principally of the following as of the March 31 measurement date:

2007
Asset category
Equity securities
Debt securities
Total

70%
30%
100%

2006
70%
30%
100%

Equity securities include no employer stock. The investment policy and strategy for the defined benefit plan is: (i) long-term in nature with liquidity
requirements that are anticipated to be minimal due to the projected normal retirement date of the average employee and the current average age of participants;
(ii) to earn nominal returns, net of investment fees, equal to or in excess of the actuarial assumption of the plan; and (iii) to include a strategic asset allocation of
60-80% equities, including international, and 20-40% fixed income investments. No contributions to the defined benefit plan are expected during fiscal 2008.
The following estimated future benefits, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

In thousands
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013-2017

$ 182
243
268
327
392
3,464

Austrian commercial law requires us to pay severance and service benefits to employees. Severance benefits must be paid to all employees hired before
December 31, 2002. Employees hired after that date are covered under a governmental plan that requires us to pay benefits as a percentage of compensation
(included in payroll tax withholdings). Service benefits are based on a percentage of compensation and years of service. The accrued liability for these plans was
$5,768,000 and $5,361,000 at May 31, 2007 and 2006, and was included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Net periodic pension cost for
these plans was $588,000, $580,000, and $570,000 for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005. The assumed salary rate increase was 3.5 % for fiscal 2007, fiscal
2006 and fiscal 2005. The discount rate at May 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was 4.80%, 4.70% and 5.61%.
Note F – Stock-Based Compensation
Under our employee and non-employee directors stock-based compensation plans, we may grant incentive or non-qualified stock options and performance
shares to employees, and non-qualified stock options and restricted stock to non-employee directors. The stock options may be granted to purchase common
shares at not less than 100% of fair market value on the date of the grant. All outstanding options are non-qualified stock options. The exercise price of all
options granted has been set at 100% of the fair market value of the underlying common shares on the date of grant. Generally, the options granted to employees
vest and become exercisable at the rate of 20% per year beginning one year from the date of grant and expire ten years after the date of grant. The non-qualified
stock options granted to non-employee directors vest and become exercisable on the first to occur of (a) the first anniversary of the date of grant and (b) as to any
option granted as of the date of an annual meeting of shareholders of Worthington Industries, Inc., the date on which the next annual meeting of shareholders is
held following the date of grant. In addition to the stock options previously discussed, we have awarded performance shares that are contingent (i.e., vest) upon
achieving corporate targets for economic value added, earnings per share and operating income targets for the three-year period ending May 31, 2009. These
performance share awards will be paid, to the extent earned, in common shares of Worthington Industries, Inc. in
56

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

Table of Contents
the fiscal quarter following the end of the three-year performance period ending May 31, 2009. The restricted shares granted to non-employee directors are
valued at the closing market price of common shares of Worthington Industries, Inc. on the date of the grant. The restricted shares vest under the same
parameters used for non-employee director stock options discussed above.
Effective June 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123(R). SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments, including grants of stock options, to be recorded as
expense in the statement of earnings based on their fair values. In adopting SFAS 123(R), we selected the modified prospective transition method. This method
requires that compensation expense be recorded prospectively over the remaining vesting period of the stock options on a straight-line basis using the fair value
of the stock options on the date of grant. It does not require restatement of financial results for the prior period expense related to stock option awards that were
outstanding prior to adoption. We calculate the fair value of the stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and certain assumptions. The
assumptions used to value grants are disclosed below.
Shareholders approved the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors on September 27, 2006, under which, on
that date, each non-employee director was awarded a stock option to purchase 5,000 common shares and a restricted stock award covering 1,300 common shares.
The stock options were valued with the same assumptions as our June 1, 2006, awards as disclosed below. The restricted stock was valued at $17.23, the price of
our common shares at market close on September 27, 2006.
The computation of fair values for all stock options use the following assumptions: the expected volatility, which is based on the historical volatility of the
common shares of Worthington Industries, Inc.; and the risk-free interest rate, which is based on the United States Treasury strip rate for the expected term of the
stock option. The expected term was developed using the simplified approach allowed by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 107.
The weighted average fair value of stock options granted in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 was $4.08, $3.62, and $3.14, based on the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Assumptions used:
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life (years)

2007

2006

2005

3.60%
38.10%
5.00%
6.5

3.58%
25.00%
4.38%
6.6

3.33%
25.00%
3.88%
6.6

The calculated pre-tax stock-based compensation expense for fiscal 2007 was recorded in selling, general and administrative expense and totaled
$3,519,000. The after-tax impact was $2,215,000.
In fiscal 2006, as allowed by SFAS 123, stock options were accounted for using the intrinsic-value method (i.e., the difference between the market price at
exercise and the price paid by the employee to exercise the stock option). Under that method, no compensation expense was recognized on the grant date, since
on that date the stock option exercise price equaled the market price of the underlying common shares. However, we complied with the disclosure-only
provisions of SFAS 123. “Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” summarizes this information as disclosed in the prior year on a pro forma basis
as if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123.
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The following tables summarize our activities in stock option plans for the years ended May 31:

2007
In thousands, except per share
Outstanding, beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Forfeited
Outstanding, end of year
Exercisable at end of year

Stock
Options
5,588
799
(673)
(174)
(299)
5,241
2,680

2006
Weighted
Average
Price
$ 16.09
18.15
14.87
20.09
17.85
16.33
14.81

2005
Weighted
Average
Price
$ 15.48
17.18
12.12
19.76
17.32
16.09
14.33

Stock
Options
5,803
762
(773)
(71)
(133)
5,588
2,702

Stock
Options
5,395
2,035
(1,040)
(358)
(229)
5,803
2,581

Number
of
Stock Options
(in thousands)

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(in years)

May 31, 2007
Outstanding
Exercisable

5,241
2,680

6.02
4.52

May 31, 2006
Outstanding
Exercisable

5,588
2,702

6.32
4.63

10,146
8,891

May 31, 2005
Outstanding
Exercisable

5,803
2,581

6.67
4.63

13,239
9,648

Weighted
Average
Price
$ 13.86
19.23
13.12
19.19
15.62
15.48
13.41

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)
$

25,078
16,907

During fiscal 2007, the total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $4,529,000. The total amount of cash received from employees exercising stock
options was $9,866,000 during fiscal 2007, and the related net tax benefit realized from the exercise of these stock options was $2,370,000 during the same
period. In addition, the excess tax benefits of $2,370,000, included in additional paid-in-capital, were reclassified in the consolidated statement of cash flows to
financing activities from operating activities.
The following table summarizes information about non-vested stock option awards for the year ended May 31, 2007:

Number
of
Stock Options
(in thousands)
2,886
799
(825)
(299)
2,561

Non-vested, beginning of year
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested, end of year
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Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value
Per Share
$
3.61
5.25
3.26
4.32
$
4.08
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At May 31, 2007, total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested non-qualified stock option awards and performance shares was $7,425,000,
which will be expensed over the next five fiscal years.
Note G – Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
We are defendants in certain legal actions. In the opinion of management, the outcome of these actions, which is not clearly determinable at the present
time, would not significantly affect our consolidated financial position or future results of operations. We believe that environmental issues will not have a
material effect on our capital expenditures, consolidated financial position or future results of operations.
To secure access to a facility used to regenerate acid used in certain steel processing locations, we have entered into unconditional purchase obligations
with a third party under which three of our steel processing facilities deliver their spent acid for processing annually through fiscal 2019. In addition, we are
required to pay for freight and utilities used in regenerating the spent acid. Total net payments to this third party were $5,048,000, $5,391,000, and $4,913,000
for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, respectively. The aggregate amount of required future payments at May 31, 2007, is as follows (in thousands):

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter
Total

$ 2,367
2,367
2,367
2,367
2,367
16,569
$ 28,404

We may terminate the unconditional purchase obligations by purchasing this facility. At May 31, 2007, the cost of this purchase option is not expected to
exceed certain debt of the supplier related to the facility, which was approximately $10,600,000.
At the closing of the sale of our Decatur, Alabama facility on August 1, 2004, the unconditional purchase obligation associated with Decatur was
eliminated. The estimated termination cost was recorded in first quarter of fiscal 2005. See “Note N – Impairment Charges and Restructuring Expense” for more
information.
Note H – Segment Data
Our operations include three reportable segments: Steel Processing, Metal Framing and Pressure Cylinders. Factors used to identify these segments include
the products and services provided by each segment as well as the management reporting structure used. A discussion of each segment is outlined below.
Steel Processing: The Steel Processing reportable segment consists of the Worthington Steel business unit, which includes Precision Specialty Metals,
Inc. (“PSM”). Worthington Steel is an intermediate processor of flat-rolled steel. This segment’s processing capabilities include pickling, slitting, cold reduction,
hot-dipped galvanizing, hydrogen annealing, cutting-to-length, tension leveling, edging, non-metallic coating, including dry lubrication, acrylic and paint,
configured blanking and stamping. Worthington Steel sells to customers principally in the automotive, construction, lawn and garden, hardware, furniture, office
equipment, electrical control, tubing, leisure and recreation, appliance, agricultural, HVAC, container, and aerospace markets.
Metal Framing: The Metal Framing reportable segment consists of the Dietrich Metal Framing business unit, which designs and manufactures metal
framing components and systems and related accessories for the commercial and residential construction markets within the United States and Canada. Dietrich’s
customers
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primarily consist of wholesale distributors, commercial and residential building contractors, and mass merchandisers.
Pressure Cylinders: The Pressure Cylinders reportable segment consists of the Worthington Cylinders business unit. Worthington Cylinders produces a
diversified line of pressure cylinders, including low-pressure liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”) cylinders, refrigerant gas cylinders and high-pressure and
industrial/specialty gas cylinders. The LPG cylinders are used to hold fuel for gas barbecue grills, recreational vehicle equipment, residential heating systems,
industrial forklifts, hand held torches, propane-fueled camping equipment and commercial/residential cooking (the latter, generally outside North America).
Refrigerant gas cylinders hold refrigerant gases for commercial and residential air conditioning and refrigeration systems and for automotive air conditioning
systems. High-pressure and industrial/specialty gas cylinders are containers for gases used in the following: cutting and welding metals; breathing (medical,
diving and firefighting); semiconductor production; beverage delivery; and compressed natural gas systems. Worthington
Cylinders also produces recovery tanks
®
for refrigerant gases, air reservoirs for truck and trailer manufacturers, and non-refillable cylinders for “Balloon Time ” helium kits.
Other: Included in Other are operating segments that do not fit into the reportable segments, and are immaterial for purposes of separate disclosure, and
other corporate related entities. These operating segments are: Automotive Body Panels, Construction Services and Steel Packaging. Each of these segments is
explained in more detail below.
Automotive Body Panels:This operating segment consists of the Gerstenslager business unit and provides services including stamping, blanking,
assembly, painting, packaging, die management, warehousing, distribution management and other services to customers, primarily in the automotive
industry.
Construction Services: This operating segment consists of Worthington Integrated Building Systems, LLC, and includes Worthington Mid-Rise
Construction, Inc. (formerly known as Dietrich Building Systems, Inc.), which designs and builds mid-rise light-gauge steel framed commercial structures
and multi-family housing units; Worthington Military Construction, LLC (formerly known as Dietrich Residential Construction), which is involved in the
supply and construction of metal framing products for, and in the framing of, single family housing, with a focus on military; and a mid-rise light-gauge
steel framed construction project in China entered into primarily for research and development purposes.
Steel Packaging: This operating segment consists of Worthington Steelpac Systems, LLC (“Steelpac”) and designs and manufactures reusable custom
platforms, racks, and pallets made of steel for supporting, protecting and handling products throughout the shipping process for industries such as
automotive, lawn and garden and recreational vehicles.
The accounting policies of the operating segments are described in “Note A – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” We evaluate segment
performance based on operating income. Inter-segment sales are not material.
60

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

Table of Contents
Summarized financial information for our reportable segments as of, and for the indicated years ended, May 31, is shown in the following table.

In thousands
Net sales
Steel Processing
Metal Framing
Pressure Cylinders
Other
Total
Operating income (loss)
Steel Processing
Metal Framing
Pressure Cylinders
Other
Total
Depreciation and amortization
Steel Processing
Metal Framing
Pressure Cylinders
Other
Total
Total assets
Steel Processing
Metal Framing
Pressure Cylinders
Other
Total
Capital expenditures
Steel Processing
Metal Framing
Pressure Cylinders
Other
Total

2007

2006

2005

$1,460,665
771,406
544,826
194,911
$2,971,808

$1,486,165
796,272
461,875
152,867
$2,897,179

$1,719,312
843,866
408,271
107,435
$3,078,884

$

55,382
(9,159)
84,649
(1,727)
$ 129,145

$

61,765
46,735
49,275
(171)
$ 157,604

$ 127,090
113,747
33,575
(7,062)
$ 267,350

$

$

$

$

25,662
16,628
9,858
9,321
61,469

$

22,898
16,231
10,853
9,134
59,116

$

21,914
14,113
10,929
10,918
57,874

$ 815,070
476,100
357,696
165,316
$1,814,182

$ 812,024
498,409
277,300
312,664
$1,900,397

$ 781,049
496,155
268,862
283,939
$1,830,005

$

$

$

$

14,030
15,657
14,068
13,936
57,691

$

14,303
19,700
7,916
18,209
60,128

$

5,887
20,549
4,925
14,957
46,318

Net sales by geographic region for the years ended May 31 are shown in the following table:

In thousands
United States
Canada
Europe
Total

$

$

2007
2,750,342
29,238
192,228
2,971,808

$

$

2006
2,734,341
24,760
138,078
2,897,179

2005
$ 2,935,879
22,906
120,099
$ 3,078,884

Net fixed assets by geographic region as of May 31 are shown in the following table:

In thousands

2007
$ 535,463
1,713
27,089
$ 564,265

United States
Canada
Europe
Total
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2006
$ 520,410
2,218
24,276
$ 546,904

2005
$ 526,756
2,378
23,822
$ 552,956
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Note I – Related Party Transactions
We purchase from, and sell to, affiliated companies certain raw materials and services at prevailing market prices. Net sales to affiliated companies for
fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 totaled $34,915,000, $30,503,000, and $27,674,000. Purchases from affiliated companies for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and
fiscal 2005 totaled $6,394,000, $9,063,000, and $13,652,000. Accounts receivable from affiliated companies were $2,019,000 and $1,922,000 at May 31, 2007
and 2006. Accounts payable to affiliated companies were $1,349,000 and $1,674,000 at May 31, 2007 and 2006.
Note J – Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates
Our investments in affiliated companies, which are not controlled through majority ownership or otherwise, are accounted for using the equity method. At
May 31, 2007, these equity investments, and the percentage interest owned, consisted of: Worthington Armstrong Venture (50%), TWB Company, LLC (50%),
Worthington Specialty Processing (50%), Aegis Metal Framing, LLC (60%), Viking & Worthington Steel Enterprise, LLC (“VWS”) (49%) and Accelerated
Building Technologies, LLC (50%).
On July 20, 2006, Dietrich announced that it had formed a joint venture with NOVA Chemicals Corporation (Accelerated Building Technologies, LLC,
formerly Dietrich/NOVA, LLC) to develop and manufacture durable, energy-saving composite construction products and systems. The joint venture’s focus is on
developing and manufacturing cost-effective insulated metal framing panels intended to facilitate the use of steel framing products for exterior walls in
geographic regions where interior/exterior temperature variations may cause condensation.
On April 25, 2006, Worthington Steel sold its 50% equity interest in Acerex, S.A. de C.V., a joint venture operating a steel processing facility in
Monterrey, Mexico, to its partner Ternium, S.A. for $44,604,000 cash, resulting in a pre-tax gain of $26,609,000. As a result of the sale, a foreign currency
translation loss of $5,875,000 was reclassified from cumulative other comprehensive income.
On October 17, 2005, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest of Dietrich Residential Construction, LLC (“DRC”) from Pacific Steel
Construction Inc. (“Pacific”) for $3,773,000 cash and debt assumption of $4,153,000. The results of DRC, which were previously reported as equity in net
income of an unconsolidated affiliate, have been included in the consolidated results since the date of acquisition.
We received distributions from unconsolidated affiliates totaling $131,723,000, $57,040,000 and $28,520,000 in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005,
respectively.
Financial information for affiliated companies accounted for using the equity method as of, and for the years ended, May 31, was as follows:

In thousands

2007
$ 64,190
154,797
102,261

2006
$ 93,877
163,718
109,841

2005
$111,070
204,238
142,065

Current maturities of long-term debt
Other current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other noncurrent liabilities

$

$

3,158
81,176
37,813
6,049

$ 56,000
99,894
33,362
3,061

Net sales
Gross margin
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Income tax expense
Net earnings

$652,178
183,603
14,164
3,701
6,674
124,456

$810,271
188,109
18,479
3,346
18,318
108,672

$767,041
163,947
20,234
3,421
4,168
100,307

Cash
Other current assets
Noncurrent assets

Our share of undistributed earnings of unconsolidated affiliates was $1,818,000 at May 31, 2007.
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Note K – Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended May 31:

In thousands, except per share
Numerator (basic & diluted):
Net earnings – income available to common shareholders
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share –weighted average shares
Effect of dilutive securities
Denominator for diluted earnings per share –adjusted weighted average shares
Earnings per share – basic
Earnings per share – diluted

2007

2006

2005

$ 113,905

$ 145,990

$ 179,412

86,351
651
87,002
1.32
1.31

88,288
688
88,976
1.65
1.64

87,646
857
88,503
$
2.05
2.03

$

$

Stock options covering 1,818,813, 2,137,798, and 2,319,218 common shares for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 have been excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect would have been anti-dilutive for those periods.
Note L – Operating Leases
We lease certain property and equipment from third parties under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Rent expense under operating leases was
$13,359,000, $12,637,000 and $10,328,000 in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005. Future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable operating leases
having an initial or remaining term in excess of one year at May 31, 2007, are as follows:

In thousands
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter
Total

$ 11,793
11,140
10,216
9,185
7,319
19,988
$ 69,641

We invested $16,400,000 in a new aircraft, which represented progress payments on an estimated purchase price of $19,500,000. This investment was
recorded in assets held for sale at May 31, 2006, pending the sale and subsequent leaseback of the aircraft during fiscal 2007.
Note M – Sale of Accounts Receivable
We maintain a $100,000,000 revolving trade accounts receivable securitization facility. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, certain of our subsidiaries sell
their accounts receivable, on a revolving basis, to Worthington Receivables Corporation (“WRC”), a wholly-owned, consolidated, bankruptcy-remote subsidiary.
In turn, WRC may sell, on a revolving basis, up to $100,000,000 of undivided ownership interests in this pool of accounts receivable to independent third parties.
We retain an undivided interest in this pool and are subject to risk of loss based on the collectibility of the receivables from this retained interest. Because the
amount eligible
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to be sold excludes receivables more than 90 days past due, receivables offset by an allowance for doubtful accounts because of bankruptcy or other cause,
receivables from foreign customers, concentrations over limits with specific customers and certain reserve amounts, we believe additional risk of loss is minimal.
Facility fees of $580,000, $103,000, and $887,000 were incurred during fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, and were recorded as miscellaneous expense.
The book value of the retained portion of the pool of accounts receivable approximates fair value. We continue to service the accounts receivable. No servicing
asset or liability has been recognized, as our cost to service the accounts receivable is expected to approximate the servicing income.
As of May 31, 2007 and 2006, no undivided interest in this pool of accounts receivable had been sold. If sold, the proceeds from the sale would be
reflected as a reduction of accounts receivable on the consolidated balance sheets and as operating cash flows in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
Note N – Impairment Charges and Restructuring Expense
Effective August 1, 2004, we closed the sale of our Decatur, Alabama, steel-processing facility and its cold-rolling assets to Nucor Corporation (“Nucor”)
for $80,392,000 cash. However, as a result of a sale agreement entered into on May 26, 2004, we recorded a $67,400,000 pre-tax charge during our fourth quarter
ended May 31, 2004. The charge included $66,642,000 for the impairment of assets at the Decatur facility and $758,000 for severance and employee related
costs. The severance and employee related costs were due to the elimination of 40 administrative, production and other employee positions. The after-tax impact
of this charge was $41,788,000 or $0.48 per diluted share. An additional pre-tax charge of $5,608,000, mainly relating to contract termination costs, was
recognized during the first quarter of fiscal 2005. As of May 31, 2005, 35 employees had been terminated, and we paid severance and other employee related
costs of $471,000. The sale excluded the slitting and cut-to-length assets and net working capital associated with this facility. We remain in a portion of the
Decatur facility under a long-term lease with Nucor and continue to serve customers requiring steel processing services in our core business of slitting and
cutting-to-length.
Note O – Goodwill and Other Intangibles
We use the purchase method of accounting for any business combinations initiated after June 30, 2002, and recognize amortizable intangible assets
separately from goodwill. Under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are no longer amortized
but are reviewed for impairment. The annual impairment test was performed during the fourth quarters of fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, and no goodwill was
written off as a result. We have no intangibles with indefinite lives other than goodwill.
Goodwill by segment is summarized as follows at May 31:

In thousands

2007
$ 97,176
75,564
6,701
$ 179,441

Metal Framing
Pressure Cylinders
Other
Total
The change in goodwill is primarily due to foreign currency translation adjustments.
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$ 97,010
74,357
6,404
$ 177,771
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Other amortizable intangible assets are summarized as follows at May 31:

In thousands

Cost
$11,518
11,738
1,520
$24,776

Patents and trademarks
Customer relationships
Non compete agreement
Total

2007
Accumulated
Amortization
$
5,218
3,810
301
$
9,329

Cost
$10,618
7,238
$17,856

2006
Accumulated
Amortization
$
4,126
3,211
$
7,337

The increase in other intangibles is due to the PSM acquisition. Amortization expense was $1,991,000, $2,348,000, and $2,465,000 for fiscal 2007, fiscal
2006 and fiscal 2005. These intangible assets are amortized on the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 2 to 15 years.
Estimated amortization expense for these intangibles for the next five fiscal years is as follows:

In thousands
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

$ 2,209
2,209
1,972
1,608
1,511

Note P – Guarantees and Warranties
As of May 31, 2007, we had guarantees totaling $27,154,000 related to residual value guarantees for certain aircraft leases and for purchases by one of our
unconsolidated joint ventures and a subsidiary.
We have established reserves for anticipated sales returns and allowances including limited warranties on certain products. The liability for sales returns
and allowances is primarily based on historical experience and current information. The liability amounts related to warranties were immaterial at May 31, 2007
and 2006.
Note Q – Acquisitions
On August 16, 2006, we purchased 100% of the capital stock of PSM for $31,727,000, net of cash acquired. PSM is a specialty stainless steel processor
located in Los Angeles, California and is included in our Steel Processing reporting segment. The purchase price is subject to change due to certain targeted
earn-outs of up to $8,500,000 through August 2009. The purchase price was allocated to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities based on their estimated fair
values at the date of acquisition, and included the accrual of $4,784,000 of the earn-out as it was deemed to be probable of payment and the fair value of the
identifiable net assets exceeded the purchase price. The allocation was as follows:

(in thousands)
Current assets
Intangibles
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total assets
Current liabilities
Identifiable net assets
Earnout liability
Total purchase price
Less: cash acquired
Purchase price, net of cash

$15,732
6,920
20,400
43,052
3,968
39,084
4,784
34,300
(2,573)
$31,727
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On November 30, 2005, we acquired the remaining 40% interest in Dietrich Metal Framing Canada, Inc. (“DMF Canada”) from the minority shareholder,
Encore Coils Holdings Ltd., for $3,003,000 cash. The acquisition was recorded using the purchase accounting method, and 100% of the results of DMF Canada,
which were previously reduced by the minority interest, have been included in the consolidated results of the Metal Framing segment since the date of
acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the historical book value of $1,649,000 was allocated to goodwill. On November 5, 2004, we had formed a
60%-owned consolidated Canadian metal framing joint venture with Encore, operating under the name Dietrich Metal Framing Canada, Inc. At the time, we
contributed an aggregate of $1,700,000 to the joint venture.
On October 17, 2005, we acquired the remaining 50% interest in DRC from its partner, Pacific, for $3,773,000 cash and debt assumption of $4,153,000.
The acquisition was recorded using the purchase accounting method, and the results of DRC, which were previously reported as equity in net income of an
unconsolidated affiliate, have been included in the consolidated results of the “Other” category since the date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price
over the historical book value of $6,404,000 was allocated to goodwill.
Pro forma results, including the acquired businesses described above since the beginning of the fiscal year of their respective acquisition, would not be
materially different than actual results.
Note R – Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations for fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006:

In thousands, except per share
Fiscal 2007
Net sales
Gross margin
Net earnings
Earnings per share - basic
Earnings per share - diluted
Fiscal 2006
Net sales
Gross margin
Net earnings
Earnings per share - basic
Earnings per share - diluted

August 31
$778,720
121,351
43,227

Three Months Ended
November 30
February 28
$
729,262
$
677,250
84,098
56,319
26,945
5,510

May 31
$786,576
99,864
38,223

$

$

$

0.49
0.48

0.31
0.31

$

0.07
0.06

0.45
0.45

August
31
$694,147
75,352
28,407

November 30
$
699,516
103,408
39,028

February 28
$
681,548
78,902
19,157

May 31
$821,968
113,972
59,398

$

$

$

$

0.32
0.32

0.44
0.44

0.22
0.21

0.67
0.67

The sum of the quarterly earnings per share data presented in the table may not equal the annual results due to rounding and the impact of dilutive
securities on the annual versus the quarterly earnings per share calculations.
Results for the first quarter of fiscal 2006 (ended August 31, 2005), were positively impacted by a $5,251,000 reduction in taxes, or $0.06 per diluted
share, related to the modification of corporate tax laws in the state of Ohio enacted June 30, 2005.
Results for the second quarter of fiscal 2006 (ended November 30, 2005), were positively impacted by a $5,300,000 reduction in insurance reserves, or
$0.04 per diluted share. These reserves are supported by a third party actuarial analysis of loss history. Due to facility consolidations, a focus on and investment
in safety initiatives, and an emphasis on property loss prevention and product quality, loss history had improved significantly. This improvement was reflected in
the actuarial analysis of loss history and resulted in this favorable reduction to reserves.
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Results for the third quarter of fiscal 2006 (ended February 28, 2006), included three corrections related to prior periods, which negatively impacted net
earnings and diluted earnings per share by $3,200,000, and $0.04, respectively. A description of the issues and the impact of the corrections are as follows:

•

Under-accrual of income taxes over the prior five years at the Acerex, S.A. de C.V. (“Acerex”) joint venture in Mexico resulted in a $6,062,000
decrease in equity in net income of unconsolidated affiliates.

•

Under-accrual of consulting expenses during the previous five quarters resulted in a $3,985,000 increase to selling, general and administrative
(“SG&A”) expense.

•

Over-accrual in the consolidated income tax provision over the prior nine years relating to the foreign earnings of our Worthington Armstrong
Venture (“WAVE”) joint venture resulted in a $3,200,000 reduction to income tax expense.

The net impact of these corrections was not material to earnings for any previously reported fiscal year or to the trend of earnings.
Results for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 (ended May 31, 2006), were positively impacted by a $26,604,000 pre-tax gain, or $0.14 per diluted share,
from the sale of a 50% interest in Acerex.
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SCHEDULE II – VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

COL. A.
Description

COL. B.
Balance at
Beginning of
Period

COL. C.
Additions
Charged to
Charged to
Costs and
Other Accounts
Expenses
– Describe

COL. D.

COL. E.

Deductions –
Describe

Balance at End
of Period

Year Ended May 31, 2007:
Deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for possible losses on trade
accounts receivable

$4,964,000

399,000

1,000 (A)

1,723,000 (B)

$3,641,000

$11,225,000

830,000

193,000 (A)

7,284,000 (B)

$4,964,000

$6,870,000

5,583,000

104,000 (A)

1,332,000 (B)

$11,225,000

Year Ended May 31, 2006:
Deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for possible losses on trade
accounts receivable
Year Ended May 31, 2005:
Deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for possible losses on trade
accounts receivable

Note A – Miscellaneous amounts.
Note B – Uncollectible accounts charged to the allowance and a favorable bankruptcy settlement of $5,515,000 during the year ended May 31, 2006.
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Item 9. – Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
Item 9A. – Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures [as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)] that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms,
and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007). Based
on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer have concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective
as of the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In March of 2007, we implemented new internal corporate tax processes and systems due to the termination of the tax out-sourcing relationship with a
third-party. We believe that the new corporate tax processes and systems will enhance existing internal controls over financial reporting by providing
management with greater visibility and involvement over control operations. Additionally, we implemented a new computer system to enhance automation of
manufacturing processes within two of our Steel Processing plants as the first phase of our plan to upgrade all Steel Processing locations. We believe the new
computer system will enhance existing internal controls over financial reporting by automating certain control functions related to key manufacturing processes,
such as inventory management.
There were no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the last fiscal quarter (the fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2007)
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Annual Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of Worthington Industries, Inc. and our consolidated subsidiaries;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, and that receipts and expenditures of Worthington Industries, Inc. and our consolidated subsidiaries are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of Worthington Industries, Inc. and our consolidated subsidiaries, as appropriate; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
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acquisition, use or disposition of the assets of Worthington Industries, Inc. and our consolidated subsidiaries that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
Management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of May 31, 2007, the end of our fiscal year. Management based its assessment on criteria established Internal
in
Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management’s assessment included evaluation of such
elements as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies and our overall control
environment. This assessment is supported by testing and monitoring performed under the direction of management.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Accordingly, even an effective system of internal control over financial reporting will provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation.
During fiscal 2007, we acquired Precision Specialty Metals, Inc (“PSM”). As permitted by the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, management excluded PSM from management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2007.
PSM constituted 2.5% of consolidated net assets as of May 31, 2007, and 1.6% of consolidated net sales for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007. PSM will be
included in management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting for Worthington Industries, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries as of May 31, 2008.
Based on the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of May 31, 2007. The results of management’s assessment were reviewed with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Worthington
Industries, Inc.
Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm
Our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has audited management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of May 31, 2007 and independently assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. KPMG LLP issued the
following attestation report concurring with management’s assessment:
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Worthington Industries, Inc.:
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Annual Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,
that Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2007, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Worthington
Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
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assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial reporting
as of May 31, 2007, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries acquired Precision Specialty Metals, Inc. (“PSM”) during fiscal 2007. Management excluded from its
assessment of the effectiveness of Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2007, PSM’s internal
control over financial reporting. PSM constituted 2.5% of consolidated net assets as of May 31, 2007, and 1.6% of consolidated net sales for the year then ended.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over
financial reporting of PSM.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance
sheets of Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of May 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended May 31, 2007, and our report dated July 30, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

/s/

KPMG LLP

Columbus, Ohio
July 30, 2007
Item 9B. – Other Information
Not applicable.
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PART III
Item 10. – Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Directors, Executive Officers and Persons Nominated or Chosen to Become Directors or Executive Officers
The information required by Item 401 of SEC Regulation S-K concerning the directors of Worthington Industries, Inc. (“Worthington Industries” or the
“Registrant”) and the nominees for re-election as directors of Worthington Industries at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on September 26, 2007
(the “2007 Annual Meeting”) is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the captions “SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF
CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT” and “PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS” in Worthington Industries’ definitive Proxy
Statement relating to the 2007 Annual Meeting (“Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy Statement”), which will be filed pursuant to SEC Regulation
14A not later than 120 days after the end of Worthington Industries’ fiscal 2007 (the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007).
The information required by Item 401 of SEC Regulation S-K concerning the executive officers of Worthington Industries is incorporated herein by
reference from the disclosure included under the caption “Supplemental Item – Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part I of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act
The information required by Item 405 of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the caption
“SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT – Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in
Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.
Procedures for Recommending Director Nominees
The information required by Item 407(c)(3) of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the
captions “PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS – Committees of the Board – Nominating and Governance Committee” and “CORPORATE
GOVERNENCE – Nominating Procedures” in Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.
Audit Committee
The information required by Items 407(d)(4) and 407(d)(5) of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included
under the caption “PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS – Committees of the Board – Audit Committee” in Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007
Proxy Statement.
Code of Conduct; Committee Charters; Corporate Governance Guidelines
Worthington Industries’ Board of Directors has adopted Charters for each of the Audit Committee, the Compensation and Stock Option Committee, the
Executive Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee as well as Corporate Governance Guidelines as contemplated by the applicable sections of
the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.
In accordance with the requirements of Section 303A.10 of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual, the Board of Directors of
Worthington Industries has adopted a Code of Conduct covering the directors, officers and employees of Worthington Industries and its subsidiaries, including
Worthington Industries’ Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (the principal executive officer), Worthington Industries’
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President and Chief Financial Officer (the principal financial officer) and Worthington Industries’ Controller (the principal accounting officer). The Registrant
will disclose the following events, if they occur, in a current report on Form 8-K to be filed with the SEC within the required four business days following their
occurrence: (A) the date and nature of any amendment to a provision of Worthington Industries’ Code of Conduct that (i) applies to Worthington Industries’
principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions, (ii) relates to any
element of the “code of ethics” definition enumerated in Item 406(b) of SEC Regulation S-K, and (iii) is not a technical, administrative or other non-substantive
amendment; and (B) a description of any waiver (including the nature of the waiver, the name of the person to whom the waiver was granted and the date of the
waiver), including an implicit waiver, from a provision of the Code of Conduct granted to Worthington Industries’ principal executive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions, that relates to one or more of the elements of the code of ethics
definition set forth in Item 406(b) of SEC Regulation S-K. In addition, Worthington Industries will disclose any waivers from the provisions of the Code of
Conduct granted to a director or executive officer of Worthington Industries in a current report on Form 8-K to be filed with the SEC within the required four
business days following their occurrence.
The text of each of the Charter of the Audit Committee, the Charter of the Compensation and Stock Option Committee, the Charter of the Executive
Committee, the Charter of the Nominating and Governance Committee, the Corporate Governance Guidelines and the Code of Conduct is posted on the
“Corporate Governance” page of the “Investor Relations” section of Worthington Industries’ web site located at www.worthingtonindustries.com. Interested
persons may also obtain copies of each of these documents, without charge, by writing to the Investor Relations Department of Worthington Industries at
Worthington Industries, Inc., 200 Old Wilson Bridge Road, Columbus, Ohio 43085, Attention: Allison M. Sanders. In addition, a copy of the Code of Conduct is
filed as Exhibit 14 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K as noted in the “Index to Exhibits.”
Item 11. – Executive Compensation
The information required by Item 402 of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the captions
“EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION” and “COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS” in Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.
The information required by Item 407(e)(4) of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the
caption “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE — Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy
Statement.
The information required by Item 407(e)(5) of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the
caption “EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION — Compensation Committee Report” in Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.
Item 12. – Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Ownership of Common Shares of Worthington Industries
The information required by Item 403 of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the caption
“SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT” in Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The information required by Item 201(d) of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the caption
“EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION” in Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.
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Item 13. – Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions
The information required by Item 404 of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure in respect of John H. McConnell and
John P. McConnell to be included under the caption “SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT” and from
the disclosure to be included under the caption “TRANSACTIONS WITH CERTAIN RELATED PERSONS” in Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy
Statement.
Director Independence
The information required by Item 407(a) of SEC Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the caption
“CORPORATE GOVERNANCE – Director Independence” in Worthington Industries’ Definitive 2007 Proxy Statement.
Item 14. – Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference from the disclosure to be included under the captions “AUDIT COMMITTEE
MATTERS – Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees” and “AUDIT COMMITTEE MATTERS – Pre-Approval of Services Performed by the
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.”
PART IV
Item 15. – Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a)

The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
(1)

Consolidated Financial Statements:
The consolidated financial statements (and report thereon) listed below are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP)
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2007 and 2006
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2007, 2006 and
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – fiscal years ended May 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

(2)

2005

Financial Statement Schedule:
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
All other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information has been presented in the
aforementioned consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(3)

Listing of Exhibits:
The exhibits listed on the “Index to Exhibits” beginning on page E-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are filed with this Annual Report on Form
10-K or incorporated herein by reference as noted in the “Index to Exhibits.” The “Index to Exhibits” specifically identifies each management
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contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated herein by
reference.

(b)

Exhibits: The exhibits listed on the “Index to Exhibits” beginning on page E-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are filed with this Annual Report on
Form 10-K or incorporated herein by reference as noted in the “Index to Exhibits.”

(c)

Financial Statement Schedule: The financial statement schedule listed in Item 15(a)(2) is filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.
Date:

July 30, 2007

/s/ John P. McConnell

By:

John P. McConnell
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

SIGNATURE

DATE

TITLE

/s/ John P. McConnell
John P. McConnell

July 30, 2007

Director, Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ John S. Christie
John S. Christie

July 30, 2007

Director, President and
Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Richard G. Welch
Richard G. Welch

July 30, 2007

Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

*

*

Director

*

*

Director

*

*

Director

*

*

Director

*

*

Director

*

*

Director

*

*

Director

*

*

Director

John B. Blystone

William S. Dietrich, II

Michael J. Endres

Peter Karmanos, Jr.

John R. Kasich

Carl A. Nelson, Jr.

Sidney A. Ribeau

Mary Schiavo
* The undersigned, by signing his name hereto, does hereby sign this report on behalf of each of the above-identified directors of the Registrant pursuant to
powers of attorney executed by such directors and filed with this report.
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*By:

/s/ John P. McConnell

Date:

John P. McConnell
Attorney-In-Fact
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Description

Location

3.1

Amended Articles of Incorporation of Worthington Industries, Inc., as Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3(a) to the Quarterly
filed with Ohio Secretary of State on October 13, 1998
Report on Form 10-Q of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio
corporation (the “Registrant”), for the quarterly period ended
August 31, 1998 (SEC File No. 0-4016)

3.2

Code of Regulations of Worthington Industries, Inc., as amended Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3(b) to the Registrant’s
through September 28, 2000 [for SEC reporting compliance purposes Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
only]
August 31, 2000 (SEC File No. 1-8399)

4.1

Form of Indenture, dated as of May 15, 1996, between Worthington
Industries, Inc. and Bank of New York, as successor Trustee [Bank of
New York succeeded J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association
as successor Trustee; which was successor Trustee to Chase Manhattan
Trust Company, National Association; which in turn was successor
Trustee to PNC Bank, National Association, formerly known as PNC
Bank, Ohio, National Association], relating to up to $450,000,000 of
debt securities

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(a) to the Annual Report
on Form 10-K of Worthington Industries, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Worthington Delaware”), for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1997
(SEC File No. 0-4016)

4.2

Form of 6.7% Note due December 1, 2009

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(f) to the Annual Report
on Form 10-K of Worthington Delaware for the fiscal year ended
May 31, 1998 (SEC File No. 0-4016)

4.3

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 12, 1997, Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(g) to the Annual Report
between Worthington Industries, Inc. and Bank of New York, as on Form 10-K of Worthington Delaware for the fiscal year ended
successor Trustee [Bank of New York succeeded J.P. Morgan Trust May 31, 1998 (SEC File No. 0-4016)
Company, National Association, as successor Trustee; which was
successor Trustee to Chase Manhattan Trust Company, National
Association; which in turn was successor Trustee to PNC Bank,
National Association, formerly known as PNC Bank, Ohio, National
Association]

4.4

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 13, 1998, among Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(h) to the Registrant’s
Worthington Industries, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Worthington Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1999
Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, and Bank of New York, as (SEC File No. 0-4016)
successor Trustee [Bank of New York succeeded
E-1
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J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, as successor
Trustee; which was successor Trustee to Chase Manhattan Trust
Company, National Association; which in turn was successor Trustee to
PNC Bank, National Association, formerly known as PNC Bank, Ohio,
National Association]
4.5

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 10, 2002, between Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(h) to the Registrant’s Annual
Worthington Industries, Inc. and Bank of New York, as successor Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2002 (SEC
Trustee [Bank of New York succeeded J.P. Morgan Trust Company, File No. 1-8399)
National Association, as successor Trustee; which was successor
Trustee to Chase Manhattan Trust Company, National Association;
which in turn was successor Trustee to PNC Bank, National
Association, formerly known as PNC Bank, Ohio, National Association]

4.6

Tri-Party Agreement, dated as of October 30, 2006, among The Bank of Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
New York Trust Company, N.A., U. S. Bank National Association and Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 2, 2006 and filed with
Worthington Industries, Inc.
the SEC on the same date (SEC File No. 1-8399)

4.7

$435,000,000 Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s
Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2005, among Worthington Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 30, 2005 and filed with
Industries, Inc., as Borrower; the Lenders party thereto; PNC Bank, the SEC on the same date (SEC File No. 1-8399)
National Association, as Issuing Lender, Swingline Lender and
Administrative Agent; and The Bank of Nova Scotia, as Syndication
Agent and Sole Bookrunner; with The Bank of Nova Scotia and PNC
Capital Markets, Inc. serving as Joint Lead Arrangers, and U.S. Bank
National Association, Wachovia Bank, National Association and
Comerica Bank serving as Co-Documentation Agents

4.8

Note Purchase Agreement, dated December 17, 2004, between Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s
Worthington Industries, Inc. and Allstate Life Insurance Company, Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 20, 2004 and filed with
Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, United of Omaha Life the SEC on December 21, 2004 (SEC File No. 1-8399)
Insurance Company and Principal Life Insurance Company

4.9

Form of Floating Rate Senior Note due December 17, 2014

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 20, 2004 and filed with
the SEC on December 21, 2004 (SEC File No. 1-8399)
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4.10

First Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of December Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s
19, 2006, between Worthington Industries, Inc. and the purchasers Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
named therein regarding the Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2006 (SEC File No. 1-8399)
December 17, 2004, and the $100,000,000 Floating Rate Senior Notes
due December 17, 2014

4.11

Agreement to furnish instruments and agreements defining rights of Filed herewith
holders of long-term debt

10.1

Worthington Industries, Inc. Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Plan effective March 1, 2000*
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005
(SEC File No. 1-8399)

10.2

Worthington Industries,
Compensation Plan*

10.3

Amendment No. 1 to the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2005 Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan, executed as of November Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 17, 2005 and filed with
17, 2005 and effective as of January 1, 2005*
the SEC on November 18, 2005 (SEC File No. 1-8399)

10.4

Worthington Industries, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors, Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to the Registrant’s
as Amended and Restated, effective June 1, 2000*
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2000
(SEC File No. 1-8399)

10.5

Worthington Industries, Inc. 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan for Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Directors*
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
November 30, 2004 (SEC File No. 1-8399)

10.6

Worthington Industries, Inc. 1990 Stock Option Plan, as amended*

10.7

Worthington Industries, Inc. 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan (material Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(e) to Worthington
terms of performance goals most recently approved by shareholders on Delaware’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
May 31, 1997 (SEC File No. 0-4016)
September 25, 2003)*

10.8

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for non-qualified stock Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
options granted under the Worthington Industries, Inc. 1997 Long-Term Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
August 31, 2004 (SEC File No. 1-8399)
Incentive Plan*

Inc.

2005

Non-Qualified

Deferred Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
November 30, 2004 (SEC File No. 1-8399)
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10.9

Worthington Industries, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Directors (reflects amendments through September 25, 2003) from and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
after September 25, 2003*
August 31, 2003 (SEC File No. 1-8399)

10.10

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for non-qualified stock Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
options granted under the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2000 Stock Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors from and after September 25, August 31, 2004 (SEC File No. 1-8399)
2003*

10.11

Worthington Industries, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Plan (as approved by Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
shareholders on September 25, 2003)*
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended August
31, 2003 (SEC File No. 1-8399)

10.12

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for non-qualified stock Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s
options granted under the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2003 Stock Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended August
Option Plan*
31, 2004 (SEC File No. 1-8399)

10.13

Worthington Industries, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan for Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed September 27, 2006 (SEC
Non-Employee Directors*
Registration No. 333-137614)

10.14

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Worthington Industries, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan for Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 2, 2006 and filed with the
Non-Employee Directors entered into by Worthington Industries, Inc. in SEC on the same date (SEC File No. 1-8399)
order to evidence the grant of nonqualified stock options to
non-employee directors of Worthington Industries, Inc. on September
27, 2006 and to be entered into by Worthington Industries, Inc. in order
to evidence future grants of nonqualified stock options to non-employee
directors of Worthington Industries, Inc.*

10.15

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Worthington Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s
Industries, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 2, 2006 and filed with the
entered into by Worthington Industries, Inc. in order to evidence the SEC on the same date (SEC File No. 1-8399)
grant of restricted stock on September 27, 2006 to non-employee
directors of Worthington Industries, Inc. and to be entered into by
Worthington Industries, Inc. in order to evidence future grants of
restricted stock to non-employee directors of Worthington Industries,
Inc.*
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10.16

Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2000, Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(h)(i) to the Registrant’s
among Worthington Receivables Corporation, as Seller, Worthington Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2001
Industries, Inc., as Servicer, members of various purchaser groups from (SEC File No. 1-8399)
time to time party thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as
Administrator

10.17

Amendment No. 1 to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(h)(ii) to the
May 18, 2001, among Worthington Receivables Corporation, as Seller, Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
Worthington Industries, Inc., as Servicer, members of various purchaser May 31, 2001 (SEC File No. 1-8399)
groups from time to time party thereto and PNC Bank, National
Association, as Administrator

10.18

Amendment No. 2 to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(g)(x) to the Registrant’s
May 31, 2004, among Worthington Receivables Corporation, as Seller, Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2004
Worthington Industries, Inc., as Servicer, members of various purchaser (File No. 1-8399)
groups from time to time party thereto and PNC Bank, National
Association, as Administrator

10.19

Amendment No. 3 to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s
January 27, 2005, among Worthington Receivables Corporation, as Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005
Seller, Worthington Industries, Inc., as Servicer, the members of the (SEC File No. 1-8399)
various purchaser groups from time to time party thereto and PNC
Bank, National Association, as Administrator

10.20

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2000, between Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(h)(iii) to the
the various originators listed therein and Worthington Receivables Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
May 31, 2001 (SEC File No. 1-8399)
Corporation

10.21

Amendment No. 1, dated as of May 18, 2001, to Purchase and Sale Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(h)(iv) to the
Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2000, between the various Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
May 31, 2001 (File No. 1-8399)
originators listed therein and Worthington Receivables Corporation

10.22

Amendment No. 2, dated as of August 25, 2006, to Purchase and Sale Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s
Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2000, between the various Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended August
31, 2006 (SEC File No. 1-8399)
originators listed therein and Worthington Receivables Corporation
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10.23

Description of the Worthington Industries, Inc. Executive Bonus Plan*

10.24

Summary of Cash Compensation for Directors of Worthington Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant’s
Industries, Inc., effective June 1, 2006*
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006
(SEC File No. 1-8399)

10.25

Form of Letter Evidencing Cash Performance Awards Granted under the Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant’s
Worthington Industries, Inc. 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan*
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005
(SEC File No. 1-8399)

10.26

Form of Letter Evidencing Cash Performance Awards and Performance Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Share Awards Granted under the Worthington Industries, Inc. 1997 Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 25, 2006 and filed with the
Long-Term Incentive Plan – Targets for 3-Year Period Ending May 31, SEC on the same date (SEC File No. 1-8399)
2009*

10.27

Form of Letter Evidencing Cash Performance Awards and Performance Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Share Awards Granted under the Worthington Industries, Inc. 1997 Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 27, 2007 and filed with the
Long-Term Incentive Plan – Targets for 3-Year Period Ending May 31, SEC on the same date (SEC File No. 1-8399)
2010*

10.28

Settlement and Release Agreement between Edmund L. Ponko, Jr. Filed herewith
(executed on June 19, 2007) and Dietrich Industries, Inc. (executed on
June 18, 2007)

14

Worthington Industries, Inc. Code of Conduct

Filed herewith

21

Subsidiaries of Worthington Industries, Inc.

Filed herewith

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG Filed herewith
LLP)

23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG Filed herewith
LLP) with respect to consolidated financial statements of Worthington
Armstrong Venture

24

Powers of Attorney of Directors and Executive Officers of Worthington Filed herewith
Industries, Inc.

31.1

Rule 13a - 14(a) / 15d - 14(a) Certification (Principal Executive Officer) Filed herewith

31.2

Rule 13a - 14(a) / 15d - 14(a) Certification (Principal Financial Officer)
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Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005
(SEC File No. 1-8399)
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32.1

Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer

Filed herewith

32.2

Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer

Filed herewith

99.1

Worthington Armstrong Venture consolidated financial statements as of Filed herewith
December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004
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Exhibit 4.11
July 30, 2007
Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, NE
Washington, D.C. 20549

Re:

Worthington Industries, Inc. – Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
May 31, 2007 — SEC File No. 1-8399

Ladies and Gentlemen:
Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, is today filing its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 (the
“Form 10-K”).
None of (i) Worthington Industries, Inc., (ii) any of the consolidated subsidiaries of Worthington Industries, Inc. or (iii) Worthington Armstrong
Venture, a 50%-owned unconsolidated joint venture (in the form of a general partnership between Armstrong Ventures, Inc., a subsidiary of Armstrong World
Industries, Inc., and The Worthington Steel Company (Delaware), a subsidiary of Worthington Industries, Inc.), for which financial statements are required to be
filed with the Form 10-K, has outstanding any instrument or agreement with respect to its long-term debt, other than those filed or incorporated by reference as
exhibits to the Form 10-K, under which the total amount of long-term debt authorized exceeds 10% of the total assets of Worthington Industries, Inc. and its
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. In accordance with the provisions of Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of SEC Regulation S-K, Worthington Industries, Inc. hereby agrees
to furnish to the SEC, upon request, a copy of each such instrument or agreement defining (i) the rights of holders of the long-term debt of Worthington
Industries, Inc. or (ii) the rights of holders of the long-term debt of a consolidated subsidiary of Worthington Industries, Inc. or (iii) the rights of holders of the
long-term debt of Worthington Armstrong Venture, in each case which is not being filed or incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Form 10-K.

Very truly yours,
WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.
/s/ John S. Christie
John S. Christie
President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.28
Settlement and Release Agreement – Edmund L. Ponko, Jr.
This Settlement and Release Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered between Edmund L. Ponko, Jr. (“Employee”) and Dietrich Industries, Inc.
(“Company”). The effective date of Employee’s termination, and the last day of work, was June 5, 2007. In connection with this employment termination and in
consideration of the release of claims and other obligations undertaken by the Employee as outlined herein, the following payments will be provided:

1.

Cash Payments:
(a) Salary Continuation Payments. The Company shall pay to the Employee an amount equal to $ 74,311.77 per month (the “Monthly Amount”) will
be paid on the normal semi-monthly payroll schedule through March 5, 2008 (The “Payment Period”), for a total aggregate payment of equal to
$668,806.00. These payments will be subject to all applicable taxes, including federal, state, city, social security and Medicare. This cash payment will be
in lieu of all other forms of compensation (including, without limitation, any claim for severance payments), except that unused 2007 vacation will be paid
in a lump sum included in the last check of the current calendar year in an amount equal to $ 21,083.
(b) Quarterly Bonus Payment. The Company will pay to the Employee his full bonus for the quarter ending May 31, 2007; which shall be
determined and paid in the normal manner, will not be less than $ 70,000 and be paid no later than July 15, 2007.
(c) LTIP Payment. The management of the Company will recommend to the Compensation Committee of Worthington Industries, Inc.
(“Worthington”) to pay to the Employee a cash payment for his cash performance award under the Worthington Industries Long-Term Incentive Plan
(“LTIP”) for the three-year period ended May 31, 2007, such payment to be calculated and paid in accordance with the terms of the award and the LTIP.
Worthington has received a commitment from the Chairman of such Committee to recommend such payment. Action on such award is expected in June
2007 with payment, assuming its approval, within a reasonable time thereafter at a time consistent with the payment of awards of others, but in any event
no later than March 15, 2008.

2.

Health Care Coverage: Until the earlier of (i) the Payment Period and for the one calendar month immediately following the Payment Period, or (ii) such
time as the Employee is eligible to receive health care coverage from a new employer, the Company will waive the cost to the Employee (except currently
applicable employee co-pay) for health care coverage for the Employee and his eligible dependents whether Employee elects to receive such coverage
under the Company’s health coverage pursuant to COBRA and/or the Company’s retiree health care coverage. Employee is eligible to purchase retiree
health care coverage, so long as the appropriate election forms are completed and submitted within 30 days of the effective date of termination. Questions
regarding this option should be directed to Wayne Dias (614-840-3639).

3.

Deferred Profit Sharing Plan: Employee’s Deferred Profit Sharing Plan account is 100% vested. Employee is eligible for a regular company contribution
through the effective date of termination, and no further contributions will be made thereafter. Employee’s eligibility to make voluntary employee
contributions will terminate on the effective date of Employee’s termination. Any existing Wellness or Plan Credits designated as a DPSP contribution will
default to taxable cash through the end of the severance period or the end of the current calendar year should the severance period extend beyond the
current calendar year. Distribution of DPSP account values will be made in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. Questions regarding Deferred
Profit Sharing should be directed to Sheryl Marshall at 614 840-3227. Additionally, you may contact Sheryl Marshall to discuss the distribution of your
Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan (NQ Plan) account. Distribution of your NQ Plan account
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will be made in accordance with such plans and applicable regulations, including, without limitation, Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and
regulations issued thereunder.

4.

Other Benefit Plans: The Employee Assistance Program discontinues at the end of the month of Employee’s termination. Participation in the
following voluntary, employee-paid plans – dental, supplemental life, child life, flexible spending accounts – will continue until December 31,
2007. Benefits under all other plans, including life insurance, supplemental life, and short/long term disability, will terminate on the effective date
of Employee’s termination.

5.

Stock Options: Any stock options which are currently vested may be exercised in accordance with the plan’s provisions for retirement. Questions
regarding stock options should be directed to Barb Watson at 614-840-3003.

6.

Outplacement Services: The Company, at its expense, will pay the fee for the approved outplacement services. (Right Management’s 6 month Executive
Services).

7.

Miscellaneous Company Property: All Company items, including keys, credit cards, parking stickers, laptops, cell phone, etc. must be returned upon
request of the Company.

8.

Confidentiality/Non-Competition Agreement: The provisions of the Employee’s existing confidentiality and non-competition agreement dated 1/17/99 are
reconfirmed, except that section 2 thereof is amended to read as follows:
Employee agrees that during his employment with the Company and for a period of one year after he leaves the Company, he will not directly, or
indirectly, without specific written consent of the Company: (i) compete with the Company in the Restricted Area, or act as an employee, agent,
consultant, representative, officer or significant investor with or of, or receive any remuneration from, any entity which competes with the Company in the
Restricted Area; (ii) attempt to take away or divert from the Company any business of any of the Company’s customers; (iii) interfere with the relationship
between the Company and any of its customers or suppliers; or (iv) induce or attempt to induce any employee of the Company to leave the employ of the
Company or in any way interfere with the relationship between the Company and any of its employees. The “Restricted Area” is any area in the
continental United States where the Company promotes, sells, manufactures, or provides any product, process or service.
For purposes of this Section 2, the term “Company” shall mean Dietrich Industries, Inc. For purposes of Clause (i), competing with the Company shall
include the manufacture of metal framing products or accessories, and or the selling, directly or indirectly, of metal framing products or accessories, but
shall not include the distribution of metal framing products or accessories except in instances in which Dietrich Industries is precluded by contract or other
exclusive arrangement from participating in the business of the distributor. For purposes of clarity, Nucon is considered a competitor of the Company.
It is agreed that any non-competition provisions entered into in connection with or related to any employee stock options exercised by the Employee shall
have an applicable term of one year, consistent with the provisions in this Section 2.
Should any provision be deemed to exceed the time, geographic or other limitations permitted by applicable law, then such provision shall be deemed
reformed to the maximum time, geographic or other limitations permitted by such applicable law.

9.

Release of Claims: Employee, on behalf of himself, his heirs, executors, assigns and representatives, hereby releases the Company and its affiliates, and
their respective officers, directors, shareholders, employees and agents, from any and all claims, demands, suits, or causes of action, known or unknown,
arising out of his employment with the Company or his termination from employment with the Company. This Release specifically includes claims under
Title VII, Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, Family Medical Leave Act, Fair Labor Standards Act and
any
2
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other state or federal employment-related laws or regulations, and any wrongful discharge, discrimination or other employment-related claims, including
claims based in tort and express or implied contract. Employee acknowledges 1) he has been furnished time to consider whether or not to sign this Release,
2) this Release is written in plain language understood by Employee, 3) Employee has been, and hereby is, encouraged to consult with an attorney prior to
signing this document, 4) the payment received in exchange for this Release is sufficient additional consideration for the Release and 5) this Release only
applies to claims or occurrences which exist on or prior to the Employee’s signature hereon. Employee is not waiving any rights (1) that cannot be waived
by law but does forever waive his right to recover any damages should any local, state, or federal agency ever pursue a claim on his behalf against the
released parties relating to any matter concerning his employment or separation from employment with the Company, (2) that apply to any claim
Employee may make for expense reimbursement, workers compensation, under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985
(“COBRA”) (3) that relate to any claim for indemnification by the Employee under the Company’s by-laws or any insurance policy covering officers,
employees and/or directors of the Company and/or (4) to enforce the provisions of this Agreement.

10.

Notice of Concerns and Assistance: Employee represents that he has disclosed to appropriate officers of the Company any information or concerns he has
concerning potential liabilities or contingencies with respect to the Company and which are not reflected in its financial books and records. Employee
agrees to provide reasonable assistance to the Company and its affiliates in any litigation related to matters in which the Employee has knowledge or was
involved during his employment with the Company.

11.

Governing Law: This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio.

12.

Effective Date: Employee acknowledges that he has been offered a period of at least twenty one (21) days during which to review and consider this
Agreement and shall have seven (7) days after the date hereof within which to revoke this Agreement by notice to the Company (“Revocation Period”),
with this Agreement not becoming effective until the Revocation Period has expired. If Employee chooses to sign this Agreement in advance of the
expiration of 21 days, Employee voluntarily waives the balance of that period. Employee understands that the Company’s offer is only valid for and must
be accepted within twenty-one (21) days from the date of delivery of this Agreement to Employee. Employee understands that revocation of this
Agreement must be in writing to Dale T. Brinkman, Secretary, Worthington Industries, Inc., 200 Old Wilson Bridge Road, Columbus, Ohio 43085, fax
number 614-840-3706.

/s/ Edmund L. Ponko, Jr.

Dietrich Industries, Inc.

Employee Signature
Edmund L. Ponko, Jr.

By:

/s/

George P. Stoe

Employee Name - Printed
Date: June 19, 2007

Date: June 18, 2007
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Exhibit 14

WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.
CODE OF CONDUCT
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Code of Conduct
Guided by the Worthington Industries Philosophy, Worthington Industries has built a strong and valuable reputation. Preserving and building upon this
reputation and maintaining the trust and confidence of those with whom we deal is vitally important to the Company and a responsibility all employees share.
The Worthington Industries Philosophy has long provided employees with guidance for the conduct of business operations. This Code of Conduct is a further
guide to the legal and ethical standards the Company expects of all employees and to their relationship with the Company, fellow employees, customers,
suppliers and other parties. This Code has the full support and commitment of the Company’s Board of Directors and Management and is applicable to all
Worthington employees unless otherwise provided by local laws.
This Code is neither a contract nor a comprehensive manual that covers every situation that might develop. It is a guide that identifies key issues, policies and
resources to help employees reach appropriate decisions.
Commitment to Legal and Ethical Behavior
Worthington is committed to conducting its business in accordance with the core values reflected in the Worthington Philosophy, which is rooted in the Golden
Rule of treating others as we would like to be treated. This commitment includes conducting its business in accordance with high standards of ethical behavior
and in compliance with applicable laws. Worthington views this commitment seriously and expects all of its employees to ensure this commitment is met. All
employees must be aware of the laws that affect their job and must carry out their responsibilities in compliance with the law. Employees must adhere to the
standards of conduct outlined in this Code and act in a professional, legal and ethical manner at all times. Any questions or concerns about illegal or unethical
acts should be raised with management or the Ethics Officer, or reported on the EthicsLine. Failure to abide by this Code and applicable laws can lead to
disciplinary measures appropriate to the violation, up to and including termination.
Work Environment
Respect. Worthington employees will treat each other with dignity and respect at all times.
Equal Opportunity. Worthington Industries is an equal opportunity employer. It is Worthington’s goal to ensure that hiring, transfer, promotion, compensation,
and discipline decisions are based on the job-related qualifications, abilities and performance of employees and applicants. The Company does not discriminate
against any employee or applicant on the basis of sex, race, color, religion, age, national origin, citizenship, disability or veteran status, or any other reason
prohibited by federal, state or local law.
Non-Harassment/Non-Discrimination. It is Worthington’s policy and each employee’s responsibility to provide a workplace that is free of unlawful and
inappropriate harassment or discrimination by supervisors, other employees, or other parties conducting business with Worthington. Worthington prohibits all
forms of unlawful harassment or discrimination based upon sex, race, color, religion, age, national origin, citizenship, disability, veteran status or any other
reason prohibited by applicable federal, state or local law. Worthington will not tolerate sexual advances, actions, comments or other conduct that creates an
intimidating, offensive or hostile environment. Religious or ethnic slurs, jokes or other demeaning conduct which would be considered unwanted by a reasonable
person are not permitted. Anyone who has been found, after investigation by Worthington, to have violated this policy will be subject to appropriate discipline,
up to and including termination. The Company’s complete policy against harassment is contained in the Company’s Employee Handbook, which includes the
complaint procedure to be used by persons who believe they have been subjected to such discrimination or harassment or who believe they have observed
another person being subjected to such discrimination or harassment. Every employee should speak out whenever another’s conduct makes them uncomfortable
and report any harassment they experience or observe.
Safety and Health. The overall safety and well being of all Worthington employees is of the utmost importance and is a responsibility the Company and all
employees share. Employees must comply with safety rules and procedures required by law and
1
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established by the Company with respect to each of its locations. Failure to follow safety laws and rules will subject the employee to disciplinary action up to and
including termination. Worthington is committed to providing a safe work environment and to maintaining all equipment and machinery in proper working
condition, with all safety apparatus in place and functioning. Assuring this is a fundamental responsibility of each employee. If at any time an employee believes
an unsafe condition does exist, or an unsafe act is occurring, they should report it promptly to their supervisor, manager or other designated person.
Prevention of Violence in the Workplace
. The best deterrent to employee violence is open communication between the employee and management.
Worthington recognizes this and will continue to maintain its Open Door Policy for constructive and interactive problem solving. However, any act of violence
or threat of violence, serious or not, direct or indirect, against a co-worker, customer, visitor or other individual by a Worthington employee will not be tolerated
and is prohibited. Any employee engaging in such act will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. It is every employee’s obligation to
immediately report to their supervisor any such act or threat of violence made by a Worthington co-worker, customer, supplier, visitor or other individual that
may affect the safety or security of the workplace. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. While Worthington will
attempt to maintain confidentiality as appropriate for any reported act or threat of violence, the prevention of any potential serious harm to an individual will take
precedence over confidentiality.
Loyalty To Worthington
Conflicts of Interest. Business decisions and actions must be based on the best interests of Worthington and must not be motivated or influenced by personal
considerations or relationships.
All employees must avoid conflicts of interest. A conflict of interest exists when an employee’s personal or family relationships, their financial affairs, or an
outside business involvement may adversely influence the judgment or loyalty required for performance of their duties to Worthington. If an employee suspects
even the appearance of a conflict of interest or is in doubt about a particular situation, the employee should promptly notify their supervisor or the Ethics Officer.
The supervisor will then consult with the management or the Ethics Officer as appropriate.
Employees should also avoid conduct that may create an appearance of impropriety, i.e., conduct that would lead a reasonable observer to objectively conclude
that the employee is acting in a manner that is dishonest, unethical, illegal or otherwise in violation of these guidelines.
It is not possible to identify every instance that results in a conflict of interest or in the appearance of impropriety. However, the following guidelines identify
common instances in which they occur.
Business Opportunities. If an employee becomes aware of a possible business opportunity which Worthington may be interested in pursuing, they should
consider such opportunity strictly for Worthington’s benefit. It is improper for an employee to exploit such opportunities for personal benefit or become involved
in a manner which would divide their loyalty between Worthington and a party that may do business with Worthington.
Investments. Employees may not allow their investments to influence, or appear to influence, their independent judgment on behalf of Worthington. This could
happen in many ways, but it is most likely to arise if an employee has an investment or other interest in a contractor, competitor, supplier, or customer and their
decisions may have a business impact on this outside party. If there is any doubt about how an investment might be perceived, the employee should disclose it to
their supervisor or the Ethics Officer.
Family Members. Employees may not use undue personal influence to get or to do business with an entity in which family members or friends have an interest.
These decisions must be made on the basis of what is best for Worthington. In some instances, it may be a conflict of interest if a member of an employee’s
immediate family is employed by a supplier, contractor, customer, or competitor of the Company. The employee’s supervisor should be notified if these
situations occur. The supervisor will then consult with management or the Ethics Officer as appropriate.
Consultants and Representatives. When it is necessary to engage the services of an individual or firm to consult for or otherwise represent the Company,
special consideration must be given to avoid any conflicts of interest between the Company and the person or
2
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entity so employed. Consultants and representatives of the Company must act on the Company’s behalf in a manner consistent with the Company’s philosophy,
this Code of Conduct and applicable laws and regulations.
Bribes, Kickbacks and Other Improper Payments. Bribes, kickbacks, payoffs and other improper payments are unethical and illegal, and no employee may
make, offer or authorize any such payment. Also, employees are not permitted to solicit or accept any offer, payment, or gift that is intended or appears to
influence their conduct or decisions or that is otherwise unlawful.
Fraud, Misappropriation, Theft, Embezzlement. Employees shall not commit, aid or assist in any fraud, misappropriation, theft, embezzlement, bribery or any
similar activities. Prohibited acts include, but are not limited to: forgery or alteration of checks, securities or other negotiable instruments; misappropriation of
funds, securities or other assets; improper handling or reporting of money or financial transactions; improper handling of corporate property, assets or
information or their use for personal gain; unauthorized use or disclosure of corporate business plans, intellectual property, trade secrets or financial information;
destruction or unauthorized removal of records, furniture, fixtures or equipment; violating federal, state or foreign tax laws; and submitting false expense reports
or other false personal information.
Employees who suspect or have information concerning any such wrongdoing involving Worthington, its employees or any Worthington agent or customer
(including customer employees, or anyone doing business with Worthington) must promptly notify their supervisor, a member of management or the Ethics
Officer.
Gifts, Meals and Entertainment. By receiving meals, gifts or entertainment, an employee may create the impression that they favor an entity for reasons of
personal advantage rather than price, quality, service or other factors beneficial to the Company. Employees involved in purchasing, negotiating or contracting
with vendors and customers must use special care to avoid the existence, or even the appearance of impropriety.
In general, the Company allows the receipt of business gifts, meals and entertainment that are not extravagant, are consistent with the Company’s and the
community’s ethical norms, and are consistent with the employee’s position and the business purpose served by having the employee participate. In the case of a
gift, it must be sufficiently limited in value and form such that it would not be construed as a bribe or a payoff (the acceptance of money in any form is never
appropriate), or an attempt to influence the employee’s decision making. In the case of meals and entertainment, their value must be appropriate to the
employee’s position and the business purpose served. Employees may accept transportation and lodging provided by a supplier, customer or other third party, if
the trip is for business and is approved in advance by the employee’s supervisor. As a general rule, if the disclosure of the gift, meal, entertainment or travel to
fellow employees or others would embarrass the employee or the Company, it should not be accepted. All such gifts, meals, entertainment and travel should be
disclosed to the employee’s supervisor who will consult with management or the Ethics Officer, as appropriate.
Similar good judgment must be applied in giving gifts, meals, entertainment and travel to current or prospective customers and vendors.
Personal Behavior
Employees are expected to conduct their private affairs and actions in a manner that will not cause embarrassment to or bring discredit upon the Company.
Electronic Media
Policy on Electronic Media. The Company provides many of its employees access to one or more forms of electronic media and services, including computers,
e-mails, telephones, voice mail, fax machines, external electronic bulletin boards, wire services, on-line services, the internet and the worldwide web. The
Company encourages the use of these media and associated services because they can enhance communication and are valuable sources of information.
However, all employees should remember that these
3
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electronic media and services provided by Worthington are Worthington’s property and their purpose is to facilitate and support Worthington’s business.
Worthington’s policy concerning electronic media and services is contained in a separate document and any employee using electronic media and services should
obtain a copy of that policy. However, a few important points from that policy are as follows:

•

Electronic media must be used responsibly and cannot be used for transmitting, retrieving or storing any inappropriate communication or
information.

•

Worthington provides electronic media and services for the employee to use for Worthington business. Limited, occasional, or incidental use of
these media and services for personal, non-business purposes is understandable but employees must do so responsibly and not abuse this privilege.

•

Worthington reserves the right to review an employee’s electronic files and messages, including e-mail and voice mail. Thus, employees should not
assume electronic communications are private.

•

Employees who abuse the privilege of Company provided access to electronic media or services are subject to disciplinary action up to and
including termination.

Chat Rooms/Message Boards. Employees should not participate in or provide information about the Company to chat rooms, message boards or similar forums.
These forums are not sponsored by, or endorsed by Worthington. When employees participate in such forums they often provide information which may be
confidential, inappropriate or detrimental to Worthington and its interests, which could potentially expose them to personal liability.
Employees who do provide confidential, inappropriate, derogatory or damaging information about Worthington are subject to disciplinary action, up to and
including termination. The best way to avoid any problems is not to participate.
Using and Supplying Company Information
Insider Stock Trading. Stock transactions are regulated by numerous and complex laws. Civil and criminal penalties can be imposed on individuals in
corporations convicted of violations of the securities laws.
An employee who knows of any “material” information about the Company that has not yet been disclosed to the public may not buy or sell Worthington stock
until 24 hours after the information has been made public. “Material” information means any fact that would likely influence a reasonable investor’s decision to
buy, sell, or hold the stock. Examples may include, but are not limited to, knowledge of new contracts, products or discoveries, unpublished financial information
such as sales or earnings, acquisition or merger proposals, major litigation, changes in management, strategic plans or any other favorable or adverse business
information. In addition, employees can be legally liable if someone outside the Company trades in Worthington stock based upon inside information given by an
employee.
Company policy forbids any employee to give any confidential Company information to anyone without adequate legal safeguards.
Information of Other Companies. Insider trading laws also apply to the receipt of material nonpublic information concerning other organizations. If an
employee receives material nonpublic information about a Worthington customer, supplier, acquisition candidate or other party in confidence, they should
neither disclose that information to anyone else nor trade in that organization’s securities until the information is released to the public. Employees should not
trade in any other company’s securities if they believe Worthington’s plans or activities will affect their value.
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Communication with Analysts and Investors. Insider trading laws also apply to communications by Worthington employees with the financial media, other
media representatives, investment analysts or others in the investment or financial community. Therefore, it is required that all communications with, and
inquiries from, such persons be handled solely through Worthington’s Investor Relations Department.
Investor Relations Information. Requests for information regarding Worthington from shareholders, their representatives or any other member of the
investment or financial community, including your personal financial advisor, should be referred to Worthington’s Investor Relations Department. Employees
should not handle these requests themselves.
Media Relations. Employees may not discuss or otherwise release information about Worthington, about events involving or affecting the Company, or about
Worthington employees to the news media. All such information must be released solely by, or upon approval of, Worthington’s Corporate Communications
Department.
All requests from the news media for information or interviews should be referred to the Corporate Communications Department. Employees should not handle
these requests themselves.
Employees may not make public appearances, speeches or statements, in person or through broadcast, electronic or printed media, or the internet relating to
Worthington or its business without obtaining prior approval from the Corporate Communications Department, and disclosing the content if requested. This
would include any personal communications that might be attributed to the Company due to the employee’s position with the Company.
Record Keeping
Accuracy of Records. Records relating to Worthington’s business transactions and other activities must be prepared accurately and truthfully. All Company
payments and other transactions must be properly authorized and be accurately and completely recorded in accordance with Worthington’s accounting policies.
No false, incomplete or misleading entries or records shall be created.
Worthington has established a system of internal controls that must be strictly followed so as to provide reasonable assurances that all financial transactions are
executed in accordance with management authorization and are recorded in a proper manner. No undisclosed or unrecorded corporate funds or accounts shall be
established for any purpose.
Complete and accurate records or information must be made available to internal auditors and to external auditors as requested. No employee may interfere with
or seek to improperly influence an authorized audit of the Company’s financial records.
Business documents should be retained and disposed of in accordance with all regulatory requirements and Company policies concerning record retention.
Business records and communications can often become public. Avoid exaggeration, colorful language, guesswork, legal conclusions, and derogatory remarks or
characterizations of people and companies. This applies to communications of all kinds, including e-mail and “informal” notes or memos.
Employees must also maintain accurate records of expenditures of corporate funds for travel and other reimbursable expenses, and accurate records
demonstrating their eligibility for benefits including sick leave, disability payments and education.
Falsification of business or employee records is prohibited. Any employee who falsifies records is subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.
Financial Reporting Compliance. The Company is required to issue reports in compliance with rules and regulations of the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange, and to issue financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and
those rules. All employees of the Company must keep accurate and complete books,
5
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records, and accounts to enable the Company to meet these reporting obligations. It is expected that any employee involved in preparing the Company’s
disclosures will adhere to such principles.
Reporting of Concerns. Any employee who, in good faith, believes that the Company’s method of accounting is inappropriate or not in compliance with
generally accepted accounting principals, that records are not being appropriately maintained, that business transactions are not being properly reported, or that
internal controls are not being followed should report this to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, the Company’s General Counsel, or the Ethics Officer,
either directly or through the EthicsLine. If the employee is unsatisfied with the response, they should report the matter to the Audit Committee of the Company,
either directly or through the EthicsLine.
Worthington’s Proprietary Information. “Proprietary Information” means any private or otherwise nonpublic business, technological, financial, strategic,
personnel or other information, plans, data or material of the Company that employees have learned, generated, had access to or acquired while working at
Worthington. Proprietary Information may be oral or written. Worthington’s Proprietary Information is a valuable corporate asset. Employees may not access or
use such information unless they have proper authorization and the information is relevant to the performance of their jobs. The content of all Worthington files,
records, strategies and other information is strictly confidential. Employees may not disclose such information to any outside parties without management’s prior
authorization. If management permits disclosure, it shall first determine whether to require the outside party to sign a confidentiality agreement.
Proprietary Information includes Worthington’s trade secrets. A trade secret is any information or knowledge that has not been made public and which could give
Worthington a competitive advantage. Examples include, but are not limited to, customer lists, technology, computer programs and market information.
The general rule is: If you are not sure if an item of information is proprietary, treat it as such. Should a breach of confidentiality occur for any reason, any
employee who becomes aware of the breach should notify their supervisor as soon as possible.
Follow these procedures for storing proprietary information:
•

Label it “Proprietary and Confidential.”

•

Store it so that unauthorized persons do not have access to it.

•

Give it to other Worthington employees only if they need it to carry out their business responsibilities.

•

If someone other than a Worthington employee asks for such information, refer the request to your supervisor or the Legal Department.

Each employee has a continuing obligation after separating from the Company for any reason not to make use of or disclose any Worthington proprietary or
confidential information. Employees terminating their service with Worthington must leave all documents and other materials containing proprietary or
confidential information with the Company.
Certifications and Disclosures. Employees are routinely required to certify that to their knowledge, the Company is in compliance with the law. Some common
certificates include: certificates of environmental, safety and health, and certifications to the federal government concerning business information. Employees
must be aware of the requirements applicable to their jobs and be sure that all certifications are completed and filed in a timely and accurate manner.
Competitive Intelligence. To be successful, a business must understand its competitors. In collecting data about its competitors, the Company uses all legitimate
sources, but avoids any actions that are illegal, unethical or could cause embarrassment or liability to the Company. The Economic Espionage Act of 1996, for
example, imposes criminal penalties on individual corporations and entities that steal or attempt to steal trade secrets or knowingly receive or possess stolen trade
secrets of others. A trade secret is confidential information that a company has sought to protect, because it provides a business advantage over those who do not
know or use it. If a Worthington employee or representative receives or is offered information which they believe was obtained in an inappropriate manner, do
not use or distribute the information until it has been reviewed by the Legal Department.
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Compliance with Laws
Antitrust Laws. Worthington is committed to compliance with federal and state antitrust laws of the countries in which it does business. Violations of antitrust
laws can result in severe criminal penalties and civil liability for Worthington, and liability, fines and imprisonment for offending employees.
The following material only summarizes common problem areas. Review it carefully. If you have a concern regarding the legality of any activity – even a
seemingly unimportant activity – promptly contact the Company’s Legal Department.
A. Relationship With Competitors. It is illegal to reach any agreement or understanding – express or implied, written or oral – with a competitor
regarding price, terms of sales (e.g., discounts), production levels, division of markets, territories or customers, refusal to deal with third parties, or level of
product quality. The law makes these activities automatically illegal. There is no need to prove an anti-competitive effect – this is presumed.
Remember, no formal agreement need be proved. Oral discussions and informal arrangements followed by common action may be an “agreement” which can be
a violation. Accordingly, employees should never discuss any of the following topics with competitors.

•

price or any aspect whatsoever of pricing policy;

•

billing and credit practices;

•

profits and profit margins;

•

suppliers’ terms and conditions;

•

distribution or marketing plans or practices;

•

bidding plans or practices;

•

dividing up customers, products, sales territories or business markets;

•

making false comments about a competitor’s products and making false or misleading advertising claims;

•

new products; and/or

•

refusals to deal with customers or suppliers.

If a competitor begins to discuss any of these subjects, terminate the conversation immediately, and report it to the Company’s Legal Department.
B. Customer Relations. Certain types of contractual relationships with customers can also raise antitrust concerns by unreasonably hampering
competition. Typically, these arrangements are not automatically illegal, but require a showing of harm to competition. If you have a concern that a business
arrangement you are thinking of entering on Worthington’s behalf might be viewed as an unreasonable restraint on competition, do not act without the prior
review and approval of the Company’s Legal Department.
Foreign Business. Employees are expected to obey the laws and respect the customs of countries in which Worthington transacts business. If these laws or
customs are not addressed or appear to be in conflict with these guidelines, contact the Company’s Legal Department to get a resolution of the issues.
Employees must follow the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”). The FCPA prohibits Worthington and its employees from making or offering to make
payments of money, products or services to any foreign governmental official or governmental employee, to any foreign political party, or to any official or
candidate of a foreign political party if the purpose of the payment is to help Worthington obtain or retain business, or to help Worthington direct business to any
person. The FCPA also bars the making or offering of such payments through third party intermediaries. If you have any concern that a payment that you are
thinking of making, offering or authorizing will violate the FCPA, do not act without prior review and approval of the Company’s Legal Department. If you
violate the FCPA, you can subject the Company and yourself to severe civil and criminal penalties.
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Worthington employees must obey American and foreign laws relating to gifts and entertainment for public employees and not engage in any illegal activity to
obtain or retain business.
Environmental Practices. Worthington is committed to conducting its business activities in a manner that protects and preserves the environment. Worthington
will comply with all environmental laws and operate its facilities with necessary permits, approvals and controls. In addition to knowing and complying with
applicable environmental laws and regulations, each employee has a personal responsibility to report to management any spills, discharge or releases into the
environment of any material and to assure that appropriate remedial action is taken. Employees may also report any known environmental violations or releases
to the Corporate Environmental Director or any member of the Company’s Legal Department.
Political Contributions and Activity
Corporate Contributions. Federal law and the laws of many states generally prohibit companies from making contributions of money, goods or services to
political parties or candidates. Employees may not make any contribution on behalf of Worthington or use Worthington’s name, funds, facilities, properties or
services for the support of any political party or candidate, unless the contribution or activity is permitted by law and authorized in advance by management.
Employees may voluntarily participate in the Worthington Industries Political Action Committee, an independent, not-for-profit association established under
federal law to solicit individual contributions to support candidates for political office whose ideals are consistent with the Company’s best interest.
Employee Political Participation. Worthington encourages employees to participate in the political process by voting and otherwise being involved in political
activity. However, employees should never create the impression that they are speaking or acting on behalf of Worthington when engaging in political activity or
expressing a political opinion.
Additional Provisions Applicable to Officers and Directors
The Audit Committee of the Company shall investigate any alleged violation of the Code of Conduct by any of the Company’s Officers or Directors. In the event
the Audit Committee determines that a violation of the Code of Conduct has occurred, the Audit Committee shall be authorized to take any action it deems
appropriate. If the Audit Committee determines that a violation by an Executive Officer or Director has occurred, but elects not to take any remedial or other
action against such Officer or Director, the Company shall disclose the facts and circumstances of its election to waive the Code of Conduct as required under
applicable law or the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange.
Any action or transaction in which the personal interest of an Officer or a Director may be in conflict with those of the Company, must be reported to the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee shall have the right to determine in advance whether any such action or transaction would constitute
a conflict of interest in violation of this Code of Conduct.
Resolving and Reporting Issues
Do The Right Thing. Most situations can be handled by following a basic rule – Do the right thing. At times, however, the right thing to do is not always
perfectly clear. If you find yourself in a situation where the “right thing” is unclear, read the Worthington Philosophy. If you need support, talk to your
supervisor, a member of management or the Ethics Officer.
How To Get Help. If you have questions about the Code of Conduct, the first place to turn is your supervisor or manager. If you are uncomfortable discussing
the issue with your supervisor, please talk to any member of management, Human Resources, the Legal Department or the Ethics Officer. Our Open Door Policy
allows you the freedom to approach any level of management with your concerns.
Reporting Violations. The Company expects full compliance with this Code of Conduct.
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Any employee who is found to have violated the Code of Conduct may be subject to discipline up to and including termination. Employees are encouraged to
report any violation of the Code of Conduct to their supervisor, any member of management, Human Resources, the Legal Department, or the Ethics Officer. The
Company will not permit any retaliation against an employee who appropriately reports a matter they believe in good faith is a violation of this Code of Conduct.
However, employees who make knowingly false accusations in bad faith may be subject to discipline up to and including termination.
EthicsLine
Although we hope you will feel comfortable discussing with your supervisor or some member of management, any issues you have concerning compliance with
the Code of Conduct or any concerns you have that a violation of the Code of Conduct has occurred, we have established the Worthington Industries EthicsLine
as an alternative to report or raise any such items. The EthicsLine offers employees a 24/7 hotline service by which they can make confidential reports to a third
party provider. This service is provided through The Network, which has been in business for over 24 years and offers services to over 1,000 companies,
including many in the Fortune 500.
Calls to the EthicsLine may be made anonymously. Anonymous callers will be advised if additional information is required before an effective investigation can
take place. Callers who wish, will be assigned a confidential identification number, so they can follow the status of their calls. It is the intent of The Network and
the Company to maintain the anonymity and confidentially for all people who request it.
In the U.S. and Canada, the EthicsLine may be reached at 877-263-9893. If calling from other countries, call 770-613-6395. No method of identifying a caller is
used.
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Contact Information

Ethics Officer:
Dale T. Brinkman

(Name)

Corporate Communications:
Cathy M. Lyttle

200 Old Wilson Bridge Road

(Address)

200 Old Wilson Bridge Road

(Address)

Columbus, Ohio 43085

(Address)

Columbus, Ohio 43085

(Address)

614-438-3001

(Phone)

614-438-3077

(Phone)

614-840-3706

(Fax)

614-840-4150

(Fax)

dbrinkman@worthingtonindustries.com

(E-mail)

cmlyttle@worthingtonindustries.com

(E-mail)

Legal Department:
200 Old Wilson Bridge Road

(Address)

Investor Relations:
Allison M. Sanders

(Name)

Columbus, Ohio 43085

(Address)

200 Old Wilson Bridge Road

(Address)

614-840-3001

(Phone)

Columbus, Ohio 43085

(Address)

614-840-3706

(Fax)

614-840-3133

(Phone)

(E-mail)

614-840-4150

(Fax)
(E-mail)

dbrinkman@worthingtonindustries.com

asanders@worthingtonindustries.com
EthicsLine:
877-263-9893

(Phone – Inside the U.S.)

770-613-6395

(Phone – Outside the U.S.)
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(Name)

Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF WORTHINGTON INDUSTRIES, INC.,
The following is a list of the subsidiaries, direct and indirect, of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, together with their respective jurisdictions of
incorporation or organization as of May 31, 2007. The names of indirectly owned subsidiaries are indented under the names of their respective immediate parent
corporations:

Worthington Industries Incorporated
Worthington Industries Medical Center, Inc.
Worthington Industries Leasing, LLC
Enterprise Protection Insurance Company
Worthington Steel of Michigan, Inc. (d/b/a The Worthington Steel Company)
Dietrich Industries, Inc. (a/k/a Dietrich Metal Framing)
Dietrich Ventures, LLC
Dietrich Design Group, Inc.
Vinyl Corp.
WD Ventures, Inc.
Worthington Integrated Building Systems, LLC
Worthington Mid-Rise Construction, Inc.
Di Tai Light Steel Building Systems Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
Worthington Military Construction, LLC
Worthington Military Construction, Inc.
DII NLC Acquisition Corp.
DII NLC Wood Company
The Gerstenslager Company
Gerstenslager Co.
Production Fit of America, LLC
Worthington-Buckeye, Inc.
Buckeye Energy Company, Inc.
Buckeye International Development, Inc.
WI Products, Inc.
Worthington Cylinder Corporation
Worthington Cylinders Wisconsin, LLC
Worthington Industries of Canada, Inc.
Dietrich Metal Framing Canada, Inc.
Worthington Cylinders of Canada Corp.
Worthington Cylinders GmbH
Worthington Cylinders, a.s.
Worthington Cylinders-Embalagens Industriais de Gas, S.A.
Worthington Taylor, Inc.
The Worthington Steel Company (formerly Worthington Ventures, Inc.)
Worthington Steelpac Systems, LLC
Worthington Techs II, Inc.
The Worthington Steel Company
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Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Vermont
Michigan
Pennsylvania
Delaware
Pennsylvania
Florida
Delaware
Ohio
Ohio
China
Delaware
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Michigan
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Canada
Canada
Canada
Austria
Czech Republic
Portugal
Michigan
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
North Carolina

The Worthington Steel Company
Worthington Receivables Corporation
Worthington Steel Company of Kentucky, LLC
VCS/WOR, Inc.
B. Alloy Corporation
Worthington Precision Steel, Inc.
Precision Specialty Metals, Inc.
Worthington Steel Company of Decatur, L.L.C.
Worthington OEG Company
Worthington Steel Company of Alabama, Inc. & Co. OEG
The Worthington Steel Company of Decatur, Inc.
Joint Ventures
Aegis Metal Framing, LLC (1)
Accelerated Building Technologies, LLC (2)
Spartan Steel Coating, LLC (3)
TWB Company, LLC (4)
TWB of Ohio, Inc.
TWB Industries, S.A. de C.V.
TWB de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
TWB of Indiana, Inc.
Viking & Worthington Steel Enterprise, LLC (5)
Worthington Armstrong Venture (WAVE) (6)
Worthington Specialty Processing (WSP) (7)

Ohio
Delaware
Kentucky
Ohio
Delaware
Ohio
Delaware
Alabama
Michigan
Austria
Michigan
Delaware
Delaware
Michigan
Michigan
Ohio
Mexico
Mexico
Indiana
Ohio
Delaware
Michigan

(1)

Unconsolidated joint venture with 60% owned by WD Ventures, Inc. and 40% owned by MiTek Industries, Inc.

(2)

Unconsolidated joint venture with 50% owned by Dietrich Ventures, LLC and 50% owned by NOVA Chemicals Corporation.

(3)

Consolidated joint venture with 52% owned by Worthington Steel of Michigan, Inc. and 48% owned by Severstal North America, Inc.

(4)

Unconsolidated joint venture with 50% owned by Worthington Steel of Michigan, Inc. and 50% owned by ThyssenKrupp Steel North America, Inc.

(5)

Unconsolidated joint venture with 49% owned by VCS/WOR, Inc. (Ohio) and 51% owned by Bainbridge Steel, LLC.

(6)

Unconsolidated joint venture, operating as a general partnership, with 50% owned by The Worthington Steel Company (Delaware) and 50% owned by
Armstrong Ventures, Inc., a subsidiary of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

(7)

Unconsolidated general partnership owned 50% by Worthington Steel of Michigan, Inc. and 50% by United States Steel Corporation.
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Worthington Industries, Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (Form S-8 No. 033-57981) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. Deferred
Profit Sharing Plan; (Form S-3 No. 033-46470 and Form S-3 No. 333-48627) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. Dividend Reinvestment and Stock
Purchase Plan; (Form S-8 No. 033-38486) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. 1990 Stock Option Plan; (Form S-8 No. 333-42849) pertaining to the
Worthington Industries, Inc. 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan; (Form S-8 No. 333-52628) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan
for Non-Employee Directors; (Form S-8 No. 333-109619) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Plan; (Form S-8 No. 333-137614)
pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors; (Form S-8 No. 333-126175) pertaining to the Dietrich
Industries, Inc. Hourly 401(k) Plan; (Form S-8 No. 333-126177) pertaining to the Dietrich Industries, Inc. Salaried Employees’ Profit Sharing Plan; (Form S-8
No. 333-126179) pertaining to the Gerstenslager Deferred Profit Sharing Plan; and (Form S-8 No. 333-126183) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc.
Retirement Savings Plan for Collectively Bargained Employees, of our reports dated July 30, 2007, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of
Worthington Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of May 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended May 31, 2007, and the related financial statement schedule, management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2007 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2007,
which reports appear in the May 31, 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K of Worthington Industries, Inc.
Our report with respect to the financial statements contains an explanatory paragraph that states effective June 1, 2006, Worthington Industries, Inc. and
subsidiaries adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Columbus, Ohio
July 30, 2007

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

Exhibit 23.2
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in registration statement (Form S-8 No. 033-57981) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. Deferred Profit
Sharing Plan; (Form S-3 No. 033-46470 and Form S-3 No. 333-48627) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase
Plan; (Form S-8 No. 033-38486) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. 1990 Stock Option Plan; (Form S-8 No. 333-42849) pertaining to the Worthington
Industries, Inc. 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan; (Form S-8 No. 333-52628) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan for
Non-Employee Directors; (Form S-8 No. 333-109619) pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Plan; (Form S-8 No. 333-137614)
pertaining to the Worthington Industries, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors; (Form S-8 No. 333-126175) pertaining to the Dietrich
Industries, Inc. Hourly 401(k) Plan; (Form S-8 No. 333-126177) pertaining to the Dietrich Industries, Inc. Salaried Employees’ Profit Sharing Plan; (Form S-8
No. 333-126179) pertaining to the Gerstenslager Deferred Profit Sharing Plan; and (Form S-8 No. 333-126183) pertaining to Worthington Industries, Inc.
Retirement Savings Plan for Collectively Bargained Employees, of our report dated March 19, 2007, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of
Worthington Armstrong Venture as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of income, partners’ equity, and cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, which report appears as Exhibit 99.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Worthington
Industries, Inc. for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
July 30, 2007
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Exhibit 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS,that the undersigned officer and director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which
anticipates filing its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the other, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ John P. McConnell
John P. McConnell
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS,that the undersigned officer and director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which
anticipates filing its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell and Dale T. Brinkman,
each with full power to act without the other, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ John S. Christie
John S. Christie
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned officer of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which anticipates filing
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell, John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the others, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ Richard G. Welch
Richard G. Welch
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which anticipates filing
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell, John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the others, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ John B. Blystone
John B. Blystone
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which anticipates filing
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell, John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the others, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ William S. Dietrich, II
William S. Dietrich, II
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which anticipates filing
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell, John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the others, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ Michael J. Endres
Michael J. Endres
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which anticipates filing
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell, John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the others, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ Peter Karmanos, Jr.
Peter Karmanos, Jr.
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which anticipates filing
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell, John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the others, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ John R. Kasich
John R. Kasich
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which anticipates filing
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell, John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the others, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ Carl A. Nelson, Jr.
Carl A. Nelson, Jr.
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which anticipates filing
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell, John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the others, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ Sidney A. Ribeau
Sidney A. Ribeau

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned director of Worthington Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation, which anticipates filing
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby makes, constitutes and appoints John P. McConnell, John S. Christie and Dale T. Brinkman, each
with full power to act without the others, her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for her and in her
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign such Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments to such Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules related thereto, and any and all applications or other documents pertaining to such
Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do if personally present. The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that each said attorney-in-fact and agent, or her substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set her hand this 22nd day of June, 2007.

/s/ Mary Schiavo
Mary Schiavo
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Exhibit 31.1
RULE 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a)
CERTIFICATION (PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER)
I, John P. McConnell, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 of Worthington Industries, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: July 30, 2007

Source: WORTHINGTON INDUSTRI, 10-K, July 30, 2007

By: /s/ John P. McConnell
John P. McConnell,
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
RULE 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a)
CERTIFICATION (PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER)
I, John S. Christie, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 of Worthington Industries, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
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(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: July 30, 2007

By: /s/ John S. Christie
John S. Christie,
President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER*
In connection with the Annual Report of Worthington Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John P. McConnell, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries.

/s/ John P. McConnell
Printed Name: John P. McConnell
Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Date: July 30, 2007

* This certification is being furnished as required by Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or
otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section. This certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that Worthington Industries, Inc. specifically incorporates this certification by reference.
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Exhibit 32.2

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER*
In connection with the Annual Report of Worthington Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John S. Christie, President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the
best of my knowledge:

(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries.

/s/ John S. Christie
Printed Name: John S. Christie
Title: President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: July 30, 2007

* This certification is being furnished as required by Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or
otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section. This certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that Worthington Industries, Inc. specifically incorporates this certification by reference.
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Exhibit 99.1
WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon)
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors
Worthington Armstrong Venture:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Worthington Armstrong Venture (a general partnership) (the Company) as of December 31,
2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, partners’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Worthington Armstrong
Venture as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 19, 2007
1
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2006 and 2005
(In thousands)

2006

2005

$ 72,025
45,658
38,979
1,067
157,729
25,725
2,133
288
$185,875

58,690
36,314
29,447
1,090
125,541
26,701
1,963
1,674
155,879

$ 20,434
6,521
1,897
28,852

12,746
5,846
510
19,102

457
3,616
4,073
32,925

496
5,329
5,825
24,927

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory, net
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant, and equipment, net
Goodwill and other intangibles, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Partners’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Partners’ equity:
Contributed capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total partners’ equity
Total liabilities and partners’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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22,638
127,757
2,555
152,950
$185,875

22,638
108,871
(557)
130,952
155,879

WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Statements of Income
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
(In thousands)

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Selling, general, and administrative expenses
Other income, net
Interest income (expense), net
Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2006

2005

2004

$ 348,811
(224,735)
124,076
(19,038)
105,038
100
3,502
108,640
(3,754)
$ 104,886

307,740
(208,628)
99,112
(18,829)
80,283
123
533
80,939
(2,299)
78,640

278,637
(192,304)
86,333
(20,505)
65,828
96
(444)
65,480
(2,329)
63,151

WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Statements of Partners’ Equity
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
(In thousands)

Contributed capital
Armstrong
Worthington
Ventures
Ventures
Inc.
Inc.

Balance, January 1, 2004
Net income
Distributions
Additional minimum pension liability
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, December 31, 2004
Net income
Distributions
Additional minimum pension liability
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, December 31, 2005
Net income
Distributions
Reduction in minimum pension liability
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, December 31, 2006

$12,925
—
—
—
—
12,925
—
—
—
—
12,925
—
—
—
—
$12,925

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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9,713
—
—
—
—
9,713
—
—
—
—
9,713
—
—
—
—
9,713

Retained
earnings

33,080
63,151
(20,000)
—
—
76,231
78,640
(46,000)
—
—
108,871
104,886
(86,000)
—
—
127,757

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income/(loss)

1,578
—
—
(564)
2,559
3,573
—
—
(153)
(3,977)
(557)
—
—
40
3,072
2,555

Total
partners’
equity

57,296
63,151
(20,000)
(564)
2,559
102,442
78,640
(46,000)
(153)
(3,977)
130,952
104,886
(86,000)
40
3,072
152,950

Comprehensive
income

44,513
63,151
—
(564)
2,559
65,146
78,640
—
(153)
(3,977)
74,510
104,886
—
40
3,072
107,998

WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Change in accounts receivable
Change in inventory
Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment
Sale of property, plant, and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Reduction of long-term debt
Distributions paid
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental disclosures:
Cash and cash equivalents paid for interest
Cash and cash equivalents paid for income taxes
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2006

2005

2004

$104,886

78,640

63,151

4,367
11
(7,768)
(8,660)
7,258
803
100,897
(2,556)
13
(2,543)

5,087
5,177
(433)
(171)
(1,457) (7,466)
10,549 (15,317)
(570)
5,841
(1,054)
3,811
90,762 55,026
(2,993)
44
(2,949)

(8,663)
23
(8,640)

—
(50,000)
—
(86,000) (46,000) (20,000)
(86,000) (96,000) (20,000)
981
(807)
1,061
13,335
(8,994) 27,447
58,690 67,684 40,237
$ 72,025 58,690 67,684
$

102
2,221

1,067
2,295

1,088
2,124

WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

(1)

Description of Business

Worthington Armstrong Venture (the Company) is a general partnership, formed in June 1992, between Armstrong Ventures, Inc. (Armstrong), a subsidiary of
Armstrong World Industries Inc., and Worthington Ventures, Inc. (Worthington), a subsidiary of Worthington Industries, Inc. Its business is to manufacture and
market suspension systems for commercial and residential ceiling markets throughout the world. The Company has manufacturing plants located in the United
States, France, Spain, the United Kingdom, and the Peoples Republic of China.

(2)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a)

Use of Estimates

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include management
estimates and judgments, where appropriate. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the carrying amount of property, plant, and
equipment and goodwill; valuation allowances for receivables and inventories; and assets and obligations related to employee benefits. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

(b)

Consolidation Policy

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Worthington Armstrong Venture and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions
have been eliminated.

(c)

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of products and the related accounts receivable when title transfers, generally on the date of shipment. At the
time of shipment the provision is made for estimated applicable discounts and losses and reduces revenue. Sales with independent U.S. distributors of certain
products to major home center retailers are recorded when the products are shipped from the distributor’s locations to these retailers.

(d)

Advertising Costs

The Company recognizes advertising expenses as they are incurred. Advertising expense was $849,000, $812,000, and $837,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

(e)

Research and Development Expenditures

The Company recognizes research and development expense as expenditures are incurred. Total research and development expense was $1,833,000, $1,683,000,
and $1,459,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

(f)

Taxes

The Company is a general partnership in the United States, and accordingly, all U.S. federal and state income taxes are the responsibility of the two general
partners. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for foreign subsidiaries for taxes estimated to be payable in future years based upon differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities.
(Continued)
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined using enacted rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years the temporary differences are expected to
be recovered or settled.

(g)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Short-term cash investments that have maturities of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents.

(h)

Trade Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for
estimated losses inherent in its accounts receivable portfolio. In establishing the required allowance, management considers historical losses, current receivables
aging, and existing industry and national economic data. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been
exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company does not have any off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to its customers.

(i)

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

(j)

Long-Lived Assets

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost, with accumulated depreciation and amortization deducted to arrive at net book value. Depreciation charges are
determined generally on the straight-line basis using the half-year convention method over the useful lives as follows: buildings
, 30 years; machinery and
equipment, 5 to 15 years; and leasehold improvements over the shorter of 10 years or the life of the lease. Impairment losses are recorded when indicators of
impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets’ carrying amount. If an indicator of
impairment is present the asset is reduced to fair value.

(k)

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to
their residual values and reviewed for impairment. The impairment tests performed in 2006, 2005, and 2004 did not result in an impairment of the Company’s
goodwill.

(l)

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

For subsidiaries with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar, income statement items are translated into dollars at average exchange rates throughout the
year and balance sheet items are translated at year-end exchange rates. Gains or losses on foreign currency transactions are recognized in other income, net in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.
(Continued)
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

(m)

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to 2006 presentation.

(3)

Accounts Receivable

The Company sells its products to select, preapproved customers whose businesses are directly affected by changes in economic and market conditions. The
Company considers these factors and the financial condition of each customer when establishing its allowance for losses from doubtful accounts. The allowance
for doubtful accounts was $346,000 and $685,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(4)

Inventory

2006
2005
(In thousands)

Finished goods
Goods in process
Raw materials
Supplies
Total inventories

(5)

$ 15,853
53
19,773
3,300
$ 38,979

13,085
127
13,207
3,028
29,447

Property, Plant, and Equipment

2006
2005
(In thousands)

Land
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Construction in process

$ 1,334
13,425
62,796
1,372
78,927
(53,202)
$ 25,725

Accumulated depreciation
Total property, plant, and equipment, net

1,273
12,843
59,103
945
74,164
(47,463)
26,701

Depreciation expense was $4,324,000, $5,017,000, and $5,115,000 in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

(6)

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill increased or (decreased) by $189,000, $(257,000), and $167,000 during 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively, due to foreign currency translation.

(7)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and
accounts payable approximate their fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.
(Continued)
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

(8)

Debt

There was no outstanding debt at December 31, 2006 and 2005. In September 2005, the Company paid off its $50 million Term Loan and established a
$50 million Revolving Line of Credit with PNC Bank. The length of the credit agreement is five years ending in September 2010. The Company had pledged a
security interest in its assets as collateral for the credit line. The security interest was terminated on November 16, 2006. The credit agreement contains restrictive
financial covenants regarding interest coverage, leverage ratios, and dividend restrictions. The Company was in compliance with the covenants as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were no advances against the credit line or liabilities recorded on the Company’s books.

(9)

Pension Benefit Programs

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan for eligible hourly employees in its former manufacturing plant located in Malvern, Pennsylvania. This plan
was curtailed in January 2004 due to the consolidation of the Company’s East coast operations, which eliminated the expected future years of service for
participants in the plan (note 15). The curtailment event resulted in additional expense recognition of the remaining unrecognized prior service cost of $937,000
in 2004. The Company also contributes to the Worthington defined contribution pension plan for all other eligible U.S. employees. Cost for this plan was
$836,000, $658,000, and $630,000 for 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The Company also contributes to government-related pension programs in a number
of foreign countries. The cost for these plans amounted to $184,000, $155,000, and $154,000 for 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
Effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 158,
Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. SFAS No. 158 requires companies to recognize the funded status of defined
benefit pension and other postretirement plans as a net asset or liability on its balance sheet.
The following table sets forth the plan’s benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets, and funded status at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006
2005
(In thousands)

Benefit obligation at December 31
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31
Funded status at end of year
Amounts recognized in the balance sheets consist of:
Noncurrent assets
Noncurrent liabilities
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net amount recognized

$ 8,999
7,784
$(1,215)

8,762
7,637
(1,125)

$ —
(1,215)
2,408
$ 1,193

1,323
(2,448)
2,448
1,323

(Continued)
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of:

2006
2005
(In thousands)

Minimum pension liability
Net actuarial loss

$

—
(2,408)
$(2,408)

(2,448)
—
(2,448)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plan was $8,999,000 and $8,762,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Net periodic benefit cost
(benefit) recognized in 2006 and 2005 was $130,000 and $(22,000), respectively.
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income in 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

2006
2005
(In thousands)

Adjustment to minimum liability
Net actuarial loss
Elimination of minimum liability
Total recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and accumulated other comprehensive income

$

(40)
(2,408)
2,408
$ (40)
$
90

153
—
—
153
131

The net loss for the defined benefit pension plan that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next
fiscal year is $140,000.
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations for the years ended and as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

Weighted average assumptions for year ended December 31:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
Weighted average assumptions as of December 31:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

2006

2005

5.25%
N/A
8.00%

5.75%
N/A
8.00%

5.75%
N/A

5.50%
N/A

The Company’s overall expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is 8%. In developing the 8% expected long-term rate of return assumption, the Company
considered its historical compounded return and reviewed asset class return expectations and long-term inflation assumptions.
(Continued)
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
The primary investment objective of the defined benefit pension plan is to achieve long-term growth of capital in excess of 8% annually, exclusive of
contributions or withdrawals. This objective is to be achieved through a balanced portfolio comprised of equities, fixed income, and cash investments.
Each asset class utilized by the defined benefit pension plan has a targeted percentage. The following table shows the asset allocation target and the
December 31, 2006 and 2005 position:

Target weight

Equity securities
Fixed income securities
Cash and equivalents

65%
35
—

Position at December 31
2006
2005

69%
28
3

71%
26
3

The Company made no contributions to the U.S. defined benefit pension plan in 2006 and does not expect to contribute to the plan in 2007.
The benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five years and in the aggregate for the five years thereafter are shown in the following table (in thousands):

Expected future payments for period ending December 31:
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012-2016

$ 563
554
545
558
567
2,852

The expected benefits are based on the same assumptions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation at December 31, 2006.

(10) Income Taxes
The Company is a general partnership in the United States, and accordingly, all U.S. federal and state income taxes are the responsibility of the two general
partners. Therefore, no income tax provision has been recorded on U.S. income. There are no significant differences between the statutory income tax rates in
foreign countries where the Company operates and the income tax provision recorded in the income statements. No deferred taxes, including withholding taxes,
have been provided on the unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries as the Company’s intention is to invest these earnings permanently.
Deferred tax balances recorded on the balance sheets relate primarily to depreciation and accrued expenses. In 2006, the provision for income tax expense
(benefit) was $3,754,000 comprising $3,856,000 current and $(102,000) deferred. In 2005, the provision for income tax expense (benefit) was $2,299,000
comprising $2,338,000 current and $(39,000) deferred. In 2004, the provision for income tax expense (benefit) was $2,329,000 comprising $2,437,000 current
and $(108,000) deferred.
(Continued)
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

(11) Leases
The Company rents certain real estate and equipment. Several leases include options for renewal or purchase and contain clauses for payment of real estate taxes
and insurance. In most cases, management expects that in the normal course of business, leases will be renewed or replaced by other leases. Rent expense during
2006, 2005, and 2004 amounted to $2,337,000, $2,869,000, and $2,756,000, respectively. Future minimum payments by year and in the aggregate for operating
leases having noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows (in thousands):

Year:
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
Thereafter
Total

$ 2,465
2,438
2,231
2,128
2,014
6,703
$17,979

(12) Comprehensive Income
The accumulated balances for other comprehensive income are as follows:

2006
2005
(In thousands)

Foreign currency items
Minimum pension liability
Pension plan
Total accumulated comprehensive income

$ 4,963
—
(2,408)
$ 2,555

1,891
(2,448)
—
(557)

(13) Related Parties
Armstrong provides certain selling, promotional, and administrative processing services to the Company for which it receives reimbursement. In 2006, 2005, and
2004, the Company paid $13,706,000, $13,027,000, and $11,765,000 for these services, respectively. No amounts were owed to Armstrong as of December 31,
2006, 2005, or 2004. Armstrong owed the Company $4,742,000, $4,437,000, and $3,952,000 for product purchases for the same periods, respectively.
Armstrong purchases grid products from the Company, which are then resold along with Armstrong inventory to the customer. The total amount of sales to
Armstrong was approximately $75,854,000, $67,860,000, and $59,952,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
Worthington provides certain administrative processing services and insurance-related coverages to the Company for which it receives reimbursement. In 2006,
2005, and 2004, the Company paid $1,079,000, $555,000, and $1,163,000 for these services, respectively. The Company purchased $3,646,000, $5,039,000, and
$11,102,000 of raw materials from Worthington and related companies in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The Company owed $636,000, $590,000, and
$2,022,000 to Worthington as of December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
(Continued)
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On December 6, 2000, Armstrong filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in order to use
the court-supervised reorganization process to achieve a resolution of its asbestos liability. The Company was not part of this filing. Armstrong emerged from
Chapter 11 on October 2, 2006. This event had no significant effect on the Company’s consolidated financial condition, liquidity, or results of operations.

(14) Legal Proceedings
The Company is involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

(15) Plant Consolidation
In 2004, the Company consolidated its East coast manufacturing operations from facilities located in Malvern, Pennsylvania, and Sparrow’s Point, Maryland,
into one facility located in Aberdeen, Maryland. In connection with this, approximately 127 employees were provided severance benefits. The total expense
recorded as a result of the consolidation was $4.3 million. These costs included severance, employee and equipment relocation, pension curtailment, and other
miscellaneous expense. All costs have been expensed in 2004 in cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

(16) Subsequent Events
On February 27, 2007, the Company borrowed $50 million on its Revolving Line of Credit with PNC Bank. The Company issued a $100 million dividend the
same day, with $50 million being distributed to each of the general partners.
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